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Richly Field China Development Limited

Property Portfolio

IESE IS

Annual Report 2016

DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

ERERREVF-HEEYX

Gross
Floor Area
Attributable  Site Area (included  Expected
Number  [tem Name Location Type of Property  Portion Interest (Total Site Area) underground)  Completion Date Lease Term
(sq.m)
HEEE BEER it
F¥  EEER HENE nEER 2B EfEESE (BE%ER) (B#T) RHREH HEHR
(FAx)
1 Changsha Outlets Changsha, Wangcheng Commercial Commercial Portion 100% 483.65 mu 386,923 Medium-term
RORFE District, Tengfei Village, ~ %% BER (322,435.9 5q. m) i
Magiaohe Village,
Dongma 483,658
ROSHERRR (322,435.9F %)
EETH RELE
1.1 Commercial North Portion 84,782 Main part completed
BEE FETRRT
1.2 Commercial South Portion 302,141 March 2017
EEME —3-+t%=§
2 Changsha Outlets Changsha, Wangcheng Residential, Residential Portion 100% 1,104.18 mu 1,031,625 N/A
RORHE District, Tengfei Village, Commercial fZE (736,117.1 sq. m) TEA
Magjiaohe Village, 2 HE
Dongma 1,104.188;
RYEHERRH (736,1171F 5 %)
21 Residential Phase 1 100,161 Majority of the main
FE—H part completed
ABHEETIRET
2.2 Residential Phase 2 385,425  March 2017
GE-H “Tt5=R
2.3 Residential Phase 3 302,316 March 2018
28 ZZ-\¥=R
24 Residential Phase 4 108,960  September 2018
TEmE ZZ-\FNA
2.5 Residential Phase 5 134,763 September 2019
TERH ZZ-hFNA
3 Huailai Wineries Zhangjiakuo,Huailai County,  Industrial Whole Portion 50% 156.06 mu 104,038 April 2017 Medium-term
BERER Sangyuan Town, (small private B8 (104,038 sq. m) —E-tEmA i
Zhangguanying Village, wine estate) 156.068
Xinxiang Ling I#(MERAER) (104,038F 753%)
Village Northwest
RRATERERER
REENTAANEL
4 Qinhuangdao Qinhuangdao Municipality, ~ Residential, Whole Portion 100% 1,077 mu 500,899  December 2018 Medium-term
ZEBER Beidaihe New District, Commercial 2R (717,955 sq. m) “E-NE+ZR  w#
Changli County, T H% 1,0778
Central Golden Coast (717,955% 75 K)

ZERTARINESRY
EeRTH
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EME51sm 5k

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Richly Field China
Development Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to present the audited
consolidated results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2016 (the “Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in outlets commercial operation and
development and operation of featured commercial properties (such
as tourism property, senior care property and wine chateaus) and
development of high-end residential properties.

During the Year, the Group recorded revenue from sales of properties
of HK$73,138,000, mainly attrioutable to delivery of part of the shops
and Phase 1 of residential property and the gross rental income of
HK$16,346,000, of its Factory Outlet Center and Outlets Town located in
Changsha, Hunan Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
(the “Changsha Outlets Project”).

As for financing aspect, Richly Field (Beijing) Investment Consulting
Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, entered into a revolving
loan facility agreement with JeShing Real Estate Group Company Limited,
a related company of the Group, in April 2014 in relation to a loan
facility in the total principal amount of RMB300,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$360,030,000) for a term of three years at an interest
rate of 5% per annum (the “Other Loan 1”). During the Year, Qinhuangdao
Outlets Real Estate Co., Limited (the “Qinhuangdao Outlets”), a subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a loan agreement with related parties,
JeShing Real Estate Group Company Limited, IR & —EZL Ti2EE
ERRARF] and JTERE A M A B R A F in relation to a loan facility in the
total principal amount of RMB230,646,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$276,799,000) for a term of one year at an interest rate of 6.6%
per annum which was secured by the pledge of certain of the Group’s
assets (the “Other Loan 2”). These helped the Group to replenish cash
flow as well as to reduce overall finance cost. In September 2013, the
Group entered into a banking facility of RMB300,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$360,030,000) (the “Bank Loan”). As at 31 March
2016, RMB223,906,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$268,710,000)
of the Other Loan 1, RMB230,646,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$256,799,000) of Other Loan 2 and RMB131,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$157,213,000) of the Bank Loan were utilized and the
remaining facilities may be successively withdrawn in the future within the
loan term depending on the cash flow conditions of the Group.

HWETPERERERAR([ARF])ES
(22 e (B2 ) MAREZARA
FEWBAR (GE[AEE]BE_-F
—RNEZA=T-BLFE(IXFE])Z

EH O

AEETERFRERITBXEERSE
BEMENHEESE (NREHE BXit
E BERREF)LSWmESHERME-

REAFERN AEBEHEWMEHE WA
73,138,000 L T EXREREE TE 2
URPEARELMBE([AE])BFEEER
DIHBERTED AR KRR/ |NEEAR
([RYPBREHRBEER ) EENEEmE
— BN REE KA LEEE16,346,000
BT e

BMEFE OR_Z—WNFMA  AQ A MH
BrawHEER (7)) REBEMBRR
REALEEEABARSREERNEELE
ERAGRERREFTELASCBTARKE
300,000,0007T (48 & M #360,030,000
BIL) BEISF  FHESNMBRERBE
E(TEHEEZT1]) - RAFER AR
AMNBARFEERBRHEBEFRAA
([FEEBRFERE]) BEEHFSRBER
BEEERAR HMRAEFBREEIREEH
ERABIRIHEMMEER AR RER
BMEFXEEAGHEE ARK230,646,0007T
(HBEMNLH276,799,0008 7T ) & HA1E -
FHEROUMWERME L THAEE
ETEETHUER(EMER2])-EA
AEEHARSRZH BRIET BELR
ARMERA-R_T—=ZFNLA A&EH
R ITREE AR #300,000,0007T (HEE
R #1360,030,000% ) ([SRITEH]) -
HE-_ZTZ—XNE=ZA=+—H 2HHE
HhE F1ARK223,906,0007T (HE R
#7268,710,000%% ) - EME R 2 A R
230,646,0007T (4B & M #256,799,000
BIL)MIBITERAR®E131,000,0007T
(HBERH157,213,00058 7T) © Flp E X
HEEARERPRERARBEAEER ¢
IR EE B
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The Changsha Outlets Project is a commercial and residential property
project developed by Hunan Richly Field Outlets Real Estate Limited
(the “Hunan Richly Field”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
During the Year, the project was improved and well-developed. In addition
to successive delivery of the street-side shops of Residential Phase
1 and Residential Phase 1, the bungalow and small high-rise building
of Residential Phase 2 had been topped out, and the sales permit of
which was granted in November 2014 and the official sale of which was
therefore kicked off. In addition, the project’s block-type commercial
complex, with an area of approximately 90,000 square meters, has
fully started official operation during the National Day Golden Week in
2014, and attracted hundreds of thousands of visitors during the seven-
day holiday. During this Year, the Group put its focus on promotion and
marketing of a series of activities, including thematic concert, model
competition, Russian Circus and 72 hours high altitude survival, to
improve the brand and awareness of Richly Field Globe Outlets and
Outlets Town, in which the frequency and scope of advertising also
significantly increased. As at the reporting date, more than 160 stores
are opened, involving international luxury brands, middle- and high-end
fashion wears, sports and leisure products, leather products and catering
stores. It is also well-equipped with IMAX cinema, children’s playground,
supermarkets, outdoor exploration zone and bus stations, which in
aggregate makes it the biggest shopping, leisure and entertainment
center in the local area. This will also give a strong boost to the residential
sales in the future and further replenish cash flow of the Group.

In September 2014, the Group completed acquisition of the remaining
60% issued share capital of King Future Limited which was originally a
40%-owned associated company of the Company, which indirectly owns
100% equity interests in Qinhuangdao Outlets, thus making Qinhuangdao
Outlets its indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary and gaining 100% control
over it. Located at Golden Coast, Changli County, Qinhuangdao City,
Hebei Province, and adjacent to northern China’s tourism resort, the
Beidaihe Beach Resort, Qinhuangdao Outlets project (the “Qinhuangdao
Outlets Project”) is planned to cover approximately 1,800 mu, and
Phase | of which, covering 1,077 mu, has been granted the state-
owned construction land use rights. Based on its geographical and
environmental advantages, Qinhuangdao Outlets Project plans to build
into a large coastal complex property featuring functions of shopping,
tourism, leisure, vacation and accommodation. So far, construction works
for fences, earthwork backfilling, electricity installation have been partially
completed, and design of the display center has been finished. Currently,
it is in the process of planning and design and the construction will begin
upon obtaining the permit.

EVRBRHBERARAZENE QA
HEMARSRTERZRARAF ([HEH
HI)DRZENREREEMHEER -KNAF
ER - ZAEEABRAMTES  REE—H
HEEBNEE -—PEERIMN FE=
BEER I RECKHE R_F—HF
T—ABRBTHEFAE EAELHEE-
AN ZIEE TEBEAIEF I KNEHRERN
BEDCBHER T NEEEESLA
FXAzERAEX BE2ALRXBHAREZ
BB - AFEEEEERNEBNEHES
B HEEREESZEE RELE BE
HEEE S22\ BEFSEHRAR
FE 3R BR B2 45 2 2T A0 B2 210 /)N B B AR D

B BERBARMGETBEE M - BE
HEH AHAZXEREZRES SPH@E

R -EHURHE KARERE BT
M EBZW RELEM BRTSH P
SRR REARBUHE-EERE2 —&8
RAEMRABY RKBRESLZ
LA REETRFEETRKREAELE &
—FRHAAEERER -

RZZE—WFNA AEEEZKTHES
BRAR (AAXRERITEIONE I K 5B
BRR THERBEZREERFHRE
100% P51 ) M8k T60% B BT A 2
BEXABAEBZ2EWNB AT WHtmE
B100%MIEHIE - Z 2B RSHIIAE
([REBRFHRIEE HUMNTLEERR
EMERGEELEE WA TR
BN ERE-IHB B HRE 41,8008
BRIEE]E —81,077ME B EZR L H(E
AER - BEAMEBENREED FE5E
FHRTEBFTEER —BEEY  IR%E K
BER BEER—BNKREEEEYIKIE
EREAEME - ZHES KT HER -
THEE -BEAHEZXENBEIALE RS
DERRETTE- BRI EEETHEIRS
WMEFAEENRIER-
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During the Year, progress was made in respect of projects under the
associated company of the Company.

The master plan, display area design plan, chateaus single plan and
environmental impact assessment of Hebei Huailai special villa residential
properties and winery project developed by Huailai Dayi Wineries
Company Limited, a 50%-owned associate of the Company, has been
completed. Infrastructure for utility services is in place for the display area
and works have been partially completed regarding landscaping, planting
and slope repairs. Preparation regarding listing for sale of approximately
480 mu of construction land is also in progress.

Globe Outlet Town (Jilin) Limited, a 42%-owned associated company
of the Company, will develop a comprehensive project in Shuangyang
District, Changchun City, Jilin Province. With outlet mall being the key
feature, the project combines theme parks and resort hotels for tourists
(the “Jilin Outlets Project”). Market positioning, design plan and market
research and assessment works for the project have been completed
during the Year. The Group has obtained 462 mu of state-owned land
use right for the Jinlin Outlets Project.

The prospering online shopping trend in China has, to a certain extent,
affected the performance of some traditional commerce and trade
distribution companies. In response, the Group has adopted a forward
looking move in its business planning by shifting the focus from fashion
retail to leisure, entertainment and catering-related customer experience
activities in its Factory Outlet Center. Leisure or other service zones, such
as high-end IMAX cinema, wholesale-store style KTV, entertainment-
related interaction with children, Chinese and western style catering,
outdoor health experiences, waterside leisure bars as well as financial
self-service areas can be found in the Group’s Factory Outlet Center,
which have accounted for nearly half of the overall business areas
and have brought more customers to visit for fun or other purposes.
Meanwhile, the Group plans to set itself as an example of a business
model combining online and physical store interactive operations through
the launch of online Factory Outlet Center and online reservation for
consumption at physical stores. The successful opening of the Factory
Outlet Center in Changsha has helped the Group gather a large clientele
of business owners, and accumulate valuable experiences for follow-
up development and development of other projects, including the
Qinhuangdao Outlets Project.

ZE-AEFHR BAFEBRAR28 07
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Year, the Group recorded a total revenue of HK$95,867,000
as compared to HK$54,096,000 for the year ended 31 March 2015 (the
“Corresponding Year”). As set out in the financial statements, the revenue
of the Year was mainly attributable to the sales of the properties of the
Changsha Outlets Project in the amount of HK$73,138,000 compared to
HK$38,696,000 for the Corresponding Year. Sales of fashion wears and
accessories also recorded revenue in the amount of HK$3,750,000 for
the Year compared to HK$1,895,000 for the Corresponding Year. Gross
rental income of approximately HK$16,346,000 for the Year compared
to HK$13,505,000 for the Corresponding Year, from the leasing of the
outlet plaza of the Changsha Outlets Project. Management fee income
received of approximately HK$2,633,000 for the Year compared to nil for
the Corresponding Year.

The loss attributable to equity holders amounted to HK$340,209,000 as
compared to HK$207,565,000 in the Corresponding Year. The loss per
share for the Year was HK$3.05 cents as compared to HK$2.13 cents
(Restated) for the Corresponding Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not have any significant investments during the Year.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and associated companies during the Year.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On 13 November 2015, the Company completed the subscription of the
convertible notes in the principal amount of HK$130,000,000.

B %5 [0 R
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During the Year, pursuant to the open offer the Company allotted and
issued 2,971,654,767 offer shares at HK$0.083 each and thus the issued
share capital of the Company enlarged from 8,914,964,303 ordinary
shares to 11,886,619,070 ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2016, the audited net assets attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to HK$24,913,000 (31 March 2015:
HK$128,200,000), representing a decrease of 81% as compared with
the same as of 31 March 2015. With the total number of 11,886,619,070
ordinary shares in issue as of 31 March 2016, the audited net assets
value per share was HK$0.21 cents (31 March 2015: HK$1.44 cents).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group mainly finances its business operations with its internal
resources and loan facilities from banks and financial institutions.

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had cash and bank balances of
HK$42,016,000 (2015: HK$45,180,000). The Group’s current ratio
(measured as total current assets to total current liabilities) was 0.48
times (2015: 0.67 times). The decrease in the current ratio was mainly
due to the increase in due to related parties, interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings and convertible notes payable in current portion.

As at 31 March 2016, the secured and unsecured interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings and convertible notes payable of the Group
amounted to HK$1,297,330,000 (2015: HK$1,617,263,000) and
HK$24,962,000 (2015: HK$204,743,000) and HK$132,710,000 (2015:
Nil), respectively. The gearing ratio, which is calculated as a percentage of
net debt to total equity, was 5.840% (2015: 1.421%). The increase in the
gearing ratio was main due to the significant increase in convertible notes
payable.

—E-AEFH BAFEBRAR28 09
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2016, property interest held by the Group with net
carrying amount of HK$1,151,988,000 (2015: HK$545,335,000) were
pledged to PRC banks for the Group’s borrowings. In addition, as at
31 March 2016, a bank loan was secured by the Group’s entire equity
interest in Hunan Richly Field.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURES

As the Group’s bank and other borrowings, bank and cash balances,
trade receivables, trade payables, accruals, other payables and amounts
due to related parties were mainly denominated in RMB, the Group had
not experienced significant exposure to foreign currency fluctuation.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had capital commitments contracted,
but not provided for and authorised, but not contracted for in respect
of property development expenditures of HK$482,925,000 (2015:
HK$498,250,000) and HK$1,634,065,000 (2015: HK$2,007,146,000),
respectively.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has entered into two State-owned Construction Land Use
Rights Sale Contracts (the “Land Use Rights Sale Contracts”) with the
Wangcheng Land Bureau in relation to the acquisitions of the land with
site areas of 406,887 square metres and 651,666 square meters (the
“Land”) on 28 October 2009 and 19 January 2010, respectively.

Pursuant to the Land Use Rights Sale Contracts, the construction works
for the Land of the Changsha Outlets Projects shall be completed on or
before 20 August 2012 and 31 December 2012, respectively and subject
to a daily penalty of 0.1%, payable to the Wangcheng Land Bureau,
calculated based on the purchase consideration of the Land in respect of
delay in completion of the construction.

EEEH
73_/\_7 /\f:'E A= + H- Z’XE.?rﬁ
BRE % {E1,151,988,0008 L (& — 1

F 1 545, 335,000/%75)2%%%3155¢7£
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On 15 March 2014, the Company agreed with the Hunan Wangcheng
Economic Development Zone Management Committee (j# i 22 5 &5
ERE®EZ € ) and the Changsha Municipal Land and Resources
Economic Development Zone of Wangcheng Bureau Land and
Resources Centre (£ E 3 @ B + &R B4 H & B + & JRF O
FiT) (collectively referred to the “relevant PRC authorities”), which are
responsible for the supervision of the Changsha Outlets Projects and
supervision of the Land, respectively, that if the occupancy rate of Phase
| of Changsha Outlets Projects reached 75% by the end of June 2014
and the construction of Phase Il of Changsha Outlets Projects has
commenced by the end of December 2014, the relevant PRC authorities
shall not request the Company to pay the Penalty.

As at 31 March 2015, as the aforesaid conditions were met, there will be
no penalty payable to local government.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2016, the Group employed a total of 206 employees
(excluding Directors), as compared to 213 employees (excluding
Directors) as at 31 March 2015. The Group remunerates its employees
based on their performance, working experience and prevailing market
parameters. Employee benefits include medical insurance coverage,
provident fund and share options.

PROSPECT AND OUTLOOK

After the policy adjustment for the real estate industry in 2014, the
PRC Government implemented various policies in a decisive manner
to encourage property consumption, including multiple cuts of interest
rate and reserve requirement ratio, easing of down payment ratio,
substantial relaxation of property-purchasing limitations and adjustment of
transaction taxes.

There is still strong demand for property in first— and second-tier cities,
and the real estate industry will remain a pillar industry in the coming 15
to 20 years from a long-term prospect. As the growth of the Chinese
economy slows down, it is expected that the PRC Government will
maintain an accommodative monetary policy in 2016. Except targeted
cooldown measures expected for particular first-tier cities with frenzy
property prices, the Government will take a proactive stance in boosting
property consumption and facilitating the destocking of the real estate
industry to ensure stable development of the domestic economy.
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The Group’s principal business features commercial property and
property with characteristics, including Globe Factory Outlet Center and
low-density and high-quality residential property, tourism property, cultural
property, senior care property and wine chateaus, etc.

Globe Factory Outlet Center is a truly international eco-friendly shopping
park that has been designed by absorbing the quintessence of European
and American outlets, providing a good combination of shopping, leisure,
entertainment, tourism and vacation. The Globe Factory Outlet Center of
Changsha commenced operation on 1 October 2014 and its sales and
results continued to trend upward in 2015. As at 31 March 2016, over
130 shops and nearly 200 brands started operation in the Changsha
Project. lts main businesses and categories include world-renowned
discount stores, clothing and ornaments for men and women from
China’s first-line and second-line brands, cosmetic products, sports and
leisure products, children’s playground, IMAX cinema and characteristic
catering.

The grand openings of the Group’s characteristic Catering and Gourmet
Street Project of approximately 10,000 square meters as well as an
indoor trampoline park of approximately 5,000 square meters directly
imported from Australia, an exclusive in Central China, at the Changsha
Globe Factory Outlet Center are scheduled for the second half of 2016.
The Group firmly believes that these features, to which the Group has
dedicated an enormous amount of efforts and capital, will further enrich
the Changsha Project and lead to huge revenue growth.

During the year, the Changsha Outlets Commercial Phase 2 with a
planned gross floor area of approximately 350,000 square meters
has entered the design and planning stage. The project will begin
construction in 2016, with high-end premium shopping malls, catering
and entertainment facilities and one-stop wedding parks as its principal
commercial offerings. The project will become a business district focused
on shopping experience with a considerable influence in Central China.

With the introduction of the accommodative policies in relation to the
real estate industry along with the supporting financial policies by the
Central Government in the first quarter of 2016, the domestic economic
growth will shift from focusing on growth pace to emphasizing more
on balance and quality. In addition, the purchasing power of the middle
class on the mainland is currently strong. As a result, the domestic real
estate transaction volume has recently increased while the prices and
transaction volume of the real estate markets in first- and second-tier
cities have both recorded a rise. The Group will seize this opportunity to
transform its product mix from rigid demand-based to upgrader demand-
oriented, and the construction of the Changsha Residential Project will
start in 2016 to build semi-detached houses of approximately 30,000
square meters.
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To ensure its competitive edges, the Group acquired the land certificate
for the Changchun Project in April 2016, and the Qinhuangdao
Project has entered the planning and design stage. Both projects will
be developed as mega-sized complex real estate projects based on
the Globe Factory Outlet Center and are scheduled to commence
construction in 2016. The Qinhuangdao Project will be positioned as a
renowned tourism property project in Hebei Province as well as the whole
country with businesses including Globe Factory Outlet Luxury Center,
characteristic catering, tourist souvenir, themed commercial street, hot
spring resort hotel, waterpark and fishery product market.

In addition, the Group is actively keeping a close track of the
development of emerging industries in the mainland market, such as
the senior care, healthcare, sports and fitness, electronic sports, gaming
and animation and virtual reality industries. In the future, the Group may
gradually venture into these industries through merger and acquisition
and joint ventures.

* For identification purpose only
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2016 is
set out in the sections of Management Discussion and Analysis on pages
5 to 7 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 65.

There will not be a payment of a final dividend for the Year (31 March
2015: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company are set
out in note 33 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out on page 68 and page 177 of this annual
report, respectively.

The Company had no distributable reserve as at 31 March 2016 (2015:
Nil).
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during
the Year are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was not more than 9% of the Group’s total revenue for the
Year.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The percentage of purchases cost for the Year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers are as follows:

25%
64%

- the largest supplier
- five largest suppliers combined

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in
the major suppliers or customers noted above.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 180. This summary does
not form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this
report are as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Xin Songtao (Chairman and Chief Executive)
Li Yi Feng

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Ma Jun (re-redesignated on 15 January 2016)
Chen Wei

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Hsu Wai Man Helen
Chau Shing Yim David
Xu Jinghong

Pursuant to Bye-Law 99 of the Bye-Laws of the Company, Mr. Xin
Songtao, Mr. Li Yi Feng and Mr. Xu Jinghong will retire as directors of
the Company by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting (‘“AGM”) of the
Company.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive directors pursuant to the
requirement of Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”). The Company considers all independent non-executive
directors to be independent.
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UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and confirmations from the
Directors, the changes in the information of the Directors required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules subsequent to
the date of the Company’s 2015/2016 interim report are set out below:

Mr. Ma Jun was re-designated as non-executive director of the Company
and resigned as the chairman of the Board and the chief executive of the
Company with effect from 15 January 2016.

Mr. Xin Songtao, the executive Director, was appointed as the chairman
of the Board and the chief executive of the Company with effect from 15
January 2016.

Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, the independent non-executive Director, was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of TCL Display
Technology Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 334) from June 2015 to
present. She has served as an independent non-executive director of
China Forestry Holdings Co. Ltd. (stock code: 930) from July 2011 to
June 2015, and an independent non-executive director of Fujian Nuogi
Co., Ltd (stock code: 1353) from June 2013 to September 2015 and an
independent non-executive director of China Kingstone Mining Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1380) from July 2015 to December 2015, an
independent director of SGOCO Group, Ltd. (stock code: SGOC) from
April 2013 to December 2015 and the director of Titan Petrochemicals
Group, Ltd. (Stock Code: 1192) from December 2015 to May 2016.

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David, the independent non-executive Director,
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Hengten
Networks Group Limited (formerly known as Mascotte Holdings Limited)
on 26 October 2015 (stock code: 136).
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2016, none of the Directors, the chief executive of the
Company and their associates, had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”)) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under
such provisions of the SFO) or, as recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Companies.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2016, the interests and short positions of persons (other
than Directors or chief executive of the Company) in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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LONG POSITIONS

Under otherwise specified, the shareholding percentages disclosed
below are calculated based on the total of 11,886,619,070 shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2016.

Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each of the Company
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Fine Bliss Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 2,340,000,000 19.69%

=RBRAR (M) EnEEA

Complete Power International Limited (Note 1)  Interest of controlled corporation 2,340,000,000 19.69%
2 NEBEAER AR () A E S

Good Moral Enterprises Limited (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 2,340,000,000 19.69%
EEAEARAE (1) EHEE R R

Stimulate High Investment Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 1,777,580,267 14.95%

ReFIRE /R A A (FiFE2) EREAA (Note 4)

(K7E4)

Wang Hua (Note 1 and 3) Interest of controlled corporation 2,340,000,000 19.69%

T (MF1K3) EHDEE R 1,777,580,267 14.95%

Galaxy Sharp Investment Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation 1,300,000,000 10.94%

(Note 4)

BRI EERAR LA (H5E4) THEE R

Sino Dynamics Investments Limited (Note 4) Beneficial owner 1,300,000,000 10.94%

Sino Dynamics Investments Limited (Fi3¥4)  ERmEAB A
Du Wei (Note 4) Interest of controlled corporation 1,300,000,000 10.94%
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Notes:

1) Fine Bliss Limited is the registered holder of 2,340,000,000 shares of the
Company. Mr. Wang Hua owns the entire issued share capital of Complete
Power International Limited, and Complete Power International Limited owns
73.31% of the issued share capital of Good Moral Enterprises Limited, and
Good Moral Enterprises Limited owns the entire issued share capital of Fine
Bliss Limited. Accordingly, each of Mr. Wang Hua, Complete Power International
Limited and Good Moral Enterprises Limited is deemed to be interested in the
2,340,000,000 shares directly held by Fine Bliss Limited under the SFO.

2) Upon completion of the open offer, Stimulate High Investment Limited is deemed
to be interested in 1,777,580,267 shares under the SFO.

3) Upon completion of the open offer, Stimulate High Investment Limited is
whollyowned by Mr. Wang Hua. Accordingly, Mr. Wang Hua is deemed to be
interested in 1,777,580,267 shares under the SFO.

4) Sino Dynamics Investments Limited is the registered holder of 1,300,000,000
shares of the Company. The entire issued share capital of Sino Dynamics
Investments Limited is directly owned by Galaxy Sharp Investment Holdings
Limited. Mr. Du Wei owns the entire issued share capital of Galaxy Sharp
Investment Holdings Limited. Accordingly, each of Galaxy Sharp Investment
Holdings Limited and Mr. Du Wei is deemed to be interested in the
1,300,000,000 shares directly held by Sino Dynamics Investments Limited under
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2016, no person (other than
the directors of the Company) had an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

To the best knowledge of the Board, at no time during the Year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Directors or their respective
spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them, or
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE AND CONNECTED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Having made all reasonable enquiries and based on the available
books and records, the Board is not aware of any material interest in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors, the Shareholders
and their respective associates had any interest in a business which
competes or is likely to compete with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with
the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions during the Year are set out in note
40 to the financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

The Board is not aware of any contract during the Year entered into with
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 2.3 to the
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES

During the Year, the Company and any of its subsidiaries did not
purchase, sell or redeem any of the Company’s listed shares.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the Year
and up to the date of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant events occuring subsequent to 31 March 2016 and up to
the date of this report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young has resigned as auditors of the Company with effect
from 25 September 2015, and Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited was
appointed as auditor of the Company with effect from 25 September
2015 to fill the causal vacancy.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Year have
been audited by Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited, Certified Public
Accountants. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-
appoint Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited as auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Xin Songtao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2016
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in the best interest of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). The Company has been making an effort to enhance the
corporate governance standard of the Company by reference to the code
provisions and recommended best practices set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”). During the
Year, the Company has applied and complied with all the code provisions
set out in the CG Code except for the deviation from code provision
A2.1.

Code provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set out in writing.

During the Year, Mr. Xin Songtao was appointed as the chairman and the
chief executive of the Company on 15 January 2016. The Board believes
that at the Group’s development stage, this structure helps to make
planning and execution more efficient. The Board will review this situation
periodically and will consider steps to separate dual roles of chairman and
chief executive as and when appropriate.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises of seven Directors
including two executive Directors, two non-executive Directors, and three
independent non-executive Directors.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Company’s businesses, investment and strategic
decisions and performance. In addition, the Board has delegated various
responsibilities to the board committees. Further details of these board
committees are set out in this annual report.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which sets
out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board will review
such objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the
progress made towards achieving those objectives. The Company wil
also take into consideration its own specific needs from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.

Executive Directors:

Xin Songtao (Chairman and Chief Executive)
Li Yi Feng

Non-executive Directors:

Ma Jun (re-designated on 15 January 2016)
Chen Wei

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Hsu Wai Man Helen

Chau Shing Yim David
Xu Jinghong

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other. The biographical information of the
Directors is set out on page 51 to page 55 of this annual report.
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The chairman of the Company takes the lead in formulating the overall
strategies and policies of the Company in order to ensure effective
performance by the Board of its functions, including compliance with
good corporate governance practices and encourages and facilitates
active contribution of directors in Board activities. The chairman also
ensures that all directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings and have received adequate, complete and reliable information
in a timely manner with the assistance of the company secretary.

The executive Directors are responsible for running the Company and
executing the strategies adopted by the Board. They lead the Company’s
management team in accordance with the directions set by the Board
and are responsible for ensuring that proper internal control system is
in place and the Company’s business conforms to applicable laws and
regulations.

The non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors serve the important function of ensuring and monitoring an
effective corporate governance framework. Their participation provides
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of the
Company and its Shareholders as a whole. The Board currently consists
of three independent non-executive Directors and two of them have
relevant professional qualification or accounting or relating financial
management expertise. The Company has received annual confirmation
of independence from each of the independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. On this basis, the Board is of
the view that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent
in accordance with the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
Directors will provide independent opinion and share their knowledge and
experience with other members of the Board.
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The non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen Wei, Mr. Ma Jun, was
appointed for a fixed term of three years commencing from 17 December
20183 and was re-designated for a fixed term of three years commencing
from 15 January 2016 respectively. Each of the independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Chau Shing Yim
David and Mr. Xu Jinghong, was appointed for a fixed term of three years
commencing from 21 November 2013, 12 February 2014 and 1 April

2014 respectively.

Board Meetings and General Meetings
During the Year, the Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings and

general meetings is set out as follows:
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Number of meetings attended/held

HEBITEREAE

Board Annual General Special General
Name Meetings* Meetings* Meetings*
®A Esgg® BRRBFERE BRI KRG
Executive Directors:
HITES:
Xin Songtao (Chairman and Chief Executive) 16/21 0/1 1/2
BN (FERITEARE)
Li Yi Feng 18/21 0/1 1/2
£l
Non-executive Directors:
FHTES:
Man Jun (re-designated on 15 January 2016) 20/21 1/1 1/2
HE(RZT—~"F—ATHBEAT)
Chen Wei 8/21 0N 0/2
BeR 121
Independent Non-executive Directors:
BYFHITES:
Hsu Wai Man Helen 17/21 0/1 1/2
REH
Chau Shing Yim David 15/21 1/1 2/2
JB K
Xu Jinghong 11/21 0/1 0/2
RS

*

The denominator represents the number of Board meetings, annual general  *

meeting or, as the case may be, special general meetings, held during the tenure

of each Director in the financial year ended 31 March 2016.
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All minutes of Board meetings and general meetings are kept by the
company secretary and are open for inspection at reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director. Every Director is entitled to have
access to Board papers and related materials and access to the advice
and services of the company secretary. In addition, the Company
enables the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances.

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Every newly appointed Director is provided with induction and information
to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business as well as his/her responsibilities under the
relevant status, laws, rules and regulations.

The continuous professional development is provided to all Directors at
the Company’s expense to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to assist them in discharging their duties. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the Year, a record of the training attended/received by each of the
Directors, is set out as follows:
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Type of training

Name HA EINE R
Executive Directors: HTESE:

Xin Songtao (Chairman and Chief Executive) BNE (FEFETHAEH) A&B
Li Yi Feng EP) 23 A&B
Non-executive Directors: EHITES:

Ma Jun (re-designated on 15 January 2016) BE(R=ZE—X"F—-A+HBEAT) A&B
Chen Wei PR 18T A&B
Independent Non-executive Directors: BIYFHITES:

Hsu Wai Man Helen REH A&B
Chau Shing Yim David IEES A&B
Xu Jinghong TES A&B
Notes: PR -

A attending courses/seminars/conferences

B: reading journals/written training materials/updates
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Listing Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code. The Audit
Committee is mainly responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial
reporting system and risk management and internal control systems;
making recommendations to the Board in the appointment and removal
of the external auditors and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditors, and any questions of resignation or
dismissal of such auditors; and reviewing the interim and annual reports
and accounts of the Company.

During the Year, the Audit Committee of the Company comprised all
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen,
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen
is the chairlady of the Audit Committee.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the six months
ended on 30 September 2015 and the Year have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee, who is of the opinion that such statements comply
with the applicable accounting standards, the Listing Rules and legal
requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been made.

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the Audit
Committee is set out as follows:

EREES

ARAERILBELZZBE ([BREF
g YBTETRAREGEERTAZ
STAEXAEmE A G EREEE - FX
ZESTERAEEBARAIZHMBHARR
FEREREENABEERR  RETER
RR/NEZEE HEZTRBIMNEZEE 2
B B AE B - A Ko B 5% A% BORM B A K AR R
ERzENHBERESSRHEERES
LRENARBDZTFHRFEREMER -

0

A

RAFERN KARAREZZEEHEES
VIFRTESAN RS8R FAXK
RERFEBELE HREFLLIRERZR
BEXRF-

ERZBECENARRBE-_ZFT—1F
NAZ+TALEREARKNFENGE T B
BR UYRASEERRTAER LR
ERRANERRE SO EERIRE -

RAFERN BEREREEXNBEHFLRES
EERMLFERINRIAT

Number of meetings HE BT

of the Audit Committee EREE®

Name attended/held %% gEYE
Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairlady) 4/4  REG(F/E) 4/4
Chau Shing Yim David 4/4  FEERK 4/4
Xu Jinghong 3/4  FER 3/4

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Listing Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code.
The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy
for directors and senior management, and overseeing the remuneration
packages of the executive directors and senior management.
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The Remuneration Committee of the Company comprises one executive
Director, namely Mr. Xin Songtao, and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Chau Shing Yim David
and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen is the chairlady of the
Remuneration Committee.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the Year
includes reviewing the policy for the remuneration of executive Directors,
assessing the performance of executive Directors and approving the
terms of executive Directors’ service contracts.

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the
Remuneration Committee is set out as follows:

Number of meetings
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of the Remuneration HE BT

Committee FMHZES

Name attended/held # & =1 G

Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairiadly) 212 BREH(FE) 2/2

Ma Jun B (RZT—RF

(resigned on 15 January 2016) 1/2 —A+HHEEHT) 1/2
Xin Songtao BB (RZE—RF

(appointed on 15 January 2016) 1/2 —A+HABEZT) 1/2

Chau Shing Yim David 2/2  EEK 2/2

Xu Jinghong 212 FER 2/2

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board, making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become member of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships, assessing the independence of independent non-
executive directors, and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors.
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The Nomination Committee of the Company comprises one executive
Director, namely Mr. Xin Songtao, and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Chau Shing Yim David
and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Mr. Xin Songtao is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the Year
includes reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and
assessing the independence of all independent non-executive Directors,
selecting and recommending the re-designation of Mr. Ma Jun as non-
executive Director during the Year.

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the
Nomination Committee is set out as follows:

Number of meetings
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of the Nomination HE BT

Committee REZEE®

Name attended/held %% =10

Ma Jun BE(RZZE—RF

(resigned on 15 January 2016) 1/2 —A+HHBEIT) 1/2
Xin Songtao (Chairman) BRE(EE) (RZE—KRF

(appointed on 15 January 2016) 1/2 —A+HBEEZT) 1/2

Hsu Wai Man Helen 2/2 1REM 2/2

Chau Shing Yim David 2/2  JEEHK 2/2

Xu Jinhong 2/2 FTER 2/2

REMUNERATION DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Details of the directors’ remuneration and the five highest-paid individuals
in the Group are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the financial statements,
respectively.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit
services provided by the Company’s auditors are set out as follows:
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Services rendered Fee paid/payable RS e/ EBNER

HK$'000 FHET
Audit services 900 ZERHB 900
Non-audit services 80 EZERT 80

The non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditors was
the independent review of the interim results of the Group as at 30
September 2015 during the Year.
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DIRECTOR’S SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all Directors confirmed
that they had complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code throughout the Year.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code including:

° develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the board;

° review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

° review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

° review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the Group’s
financial statements for each financial period and to ensure that the
financial statements are in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards and for such internal control as
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material restatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

The statement of the auditors of the Company regarding their
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditors’ Report on page 61 to page 64 of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems of the Group. The Board is
committed to implementing an effective and sound risk management and
internal control systems to safeguard the interest of the Shareholders and
the Group’s assets. The Board has delegated to the management the
implementation of the systems of risk management and internal control
and review of all relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and
risk management functions within the established framework.

The risk management and internal control report was issued by the
internal audit department of the Company and reviewed by the auditor of
the Company.

During the Year, the Board, through the audit committee of the Company,
has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) is
an employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company’s affairs. During the Year, the Company Secretary has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the Year, the Company has proactively enhanced its corporate
transparency and communications with its Shareholders and the
investment community through its mandatory interim and annual reports
announcements.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The AGM provides a useful forum for the Shareholders to exchange
views with the Board. The chairman as well as chairlady/chairman of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company are pleased to answer the enquires raised by the
Shareholders’ questions. Separate resolutions are proposed at general
meetings on each substantially separate issue, including the election of
individual directors. All the announcements and circulars are published
on the Company’s website (www.richlyfieldchina.com) and on the Stock
Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk).
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes made to the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2016.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Way in Which Shareholders of the Company
Can Convene a Special General Meeting of the
Shareholders (“SGM”)

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws and Bermuda laws, the Directors
shall, on the requisition of Shareholder(s) who, at the date of the deposit
of the requisition, holds not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, proceed duly to convene an SGM of the Company.

The requisition must state the purposes of the SGM and must be signed
by the requisitionists and deposited to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at
Suite 506, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong, and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

The request of intention to propose a resolution will be verified by the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong (the “Branch Share
Registrar”). Upon confirmation from the Branch Share Registrar, the
Company Secretary will present to the Board for their approval on the
inclusion of the proposed resolution in the SGM.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene an SGM, the requisitionists, or any
of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene an SGM themselves, but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the aforesaid
date of the deposit of requisition.

The Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with the detailed contact information of
the requisitionists and deposited to the Board or the Company Secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 5086,
ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong. The Company wil
endeavour to respond to requisitionists’ enquires in a timely manner.
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If a Shareholder wishes to put forward proposals at the AGM/SGM
which is to be held, such Shareholder should submit a written notice of
the proposal with his/her detailed contact information to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Suite 506, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong. The
request of intention to propose a resolution will be verified by the Branch
Share Registrar. Upon confirmation from the Branch Share Registrar, the
Company Secretary will present to the Board for their approval on the
inclusion of the proposed resolution in the AGM/SGM.

The notice period to be given to all Shareholders for consideration of the
proposal raised by the Shareholders concerned at the AGM/SGM varies
according to the nature of the proposal, which is as follows:

° At least 14 clear days’ notice (the notice period must include 10
business days and excludes the date of the notice and the date
of the meeting) in writing if the proposal constitutes an ordinary
resolution of the Company.

° At least 21 clear days’ notice (the notice period must include 20
business days and excludes the date of the notice and the date
of the meeting) in writing if the proposal constitutes a special
resolution of the Company in the SGM or an ordinary resolution of
the Company in the AGM.

Other than a retiring director, any person who is not recommended by
the Board shall not be eligible to be elected as a director at any general
meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person
for election as a director and notice in writing by that person of his/her
willingness to be elected (including that person’s biographical details
as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules) have been lodged to
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Suite 506, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong
Kong at least 7 days before the date of the general meeting. As required
by the provisions of the Company’s Bye-Laws, the period for lodging
notices will commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no
later than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting. If the notice
is received less than 10 clear business days prior to the date of such
general meeting, the Company will need to consider adjourning such
general meeting in order to allow the Shareholders to have 14 days’
notice (the notice period must include 10 clear business days) of the
proposal.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Richly Field China Development Limited (“Richly Field”, together
with its subsidiaries, “the Group”) focuses on its core business in
outlets commercial operation, development and operation of featured
commercial properties and development of high-end residential properties
in Mainland China. Striving to be a diversified property developer shaping
quality of life, the Group is committed to provide high-quality property
management, building construction and maintenance, and various
community facilities that cater for residents.

This is our first Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG”) Report,
covering the reporting period from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016, with
an objective to outline our approaches, commitments and strategies to
the sustainability development of the Group. In preparation of this report,
we have followed the ESG Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 27 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities published by Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (‘HKEX”) to make relevant disclosure
of sustainability performance in material aspects of the guide during the
reporting period. While we continue to work on Huailai Wineries and
Qinhuangdao Projects, they are still at an early stage of development.
As such, this report focuses mainly on our operating Changsha Outlets
Project, comprising both commercial and residential properties and
the most significant environmental and social impacts are from building
construction, outlets commercial operations and residential property
management.

Our corporate culture of “pursuit of quality with versatility” underpins our
dedication to sustainable development of quality properties of the Group.
Being a responsible corporate citizen, we are devoted to be a positive
force to the environment by integrating sustainability considerations into
every aspect of our operations. We welcome any feedback and opinions
with regards to this report and our sustainability performance. Please
send us your comments to esg@richlyfield.com.
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KEY PROJECT OVERVIEW

Located in Changsha, Hunan Province in mainland China, Changsha
QOutlets Project is an integrated commercial and residential property
project consisting of (i) Outlets Town and (ii) Factory Outlet Center.

QOutlets Town is a low density living place built with high-end Spanish-
style bungalows while Factory Outlet Center is a shopping mall with over
160 stores, including international fashion stores, restaurants, five-star
cinema, amusement park and household furniture showroom, making it
the largest diversified shopping center in the local area.

Building for Our Community

We seek to contribute to the development and growth of local economy
through our outlets and residential properties. Factory Outlet Center
centralizes commercial activities which bring citizen convenience
whilst promoting urbanization, consumption growth and employment.
Residential areas in Outlets Town are linked up with Factory Outlet Center,
where street-side shops and entertainment facilities are merely in walking
distance. The ease of accessibility benefits the residents with enjoyment
and comfort. We will continue to develop long-term diversified properties
in the future, offering our investors, stakeholders and communities a
value-added investment opportunity and providing our citizen improved
quality of life at the same time.
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Recognition in 2015

Hunan Richly Field Outlets Real Estate Limited received the “Role Model
of “Commercial + Residential” Property Developer Enterprise Award”
(MR RE %K) and “Commitment to Construction Award”
(BRILALE) in 2015 presented by Communist Party of China (CPC)
Wangcheng Economic Development Zone Work Committee (A 3£ 22 3
KR TR R TEZ 8€ ) and Wangcheng Economic Development
Zone Management Committee (& EFMARREELZE S
for the participation and contribution of urban planning and economic
development. We are pleased with the recognition of our work and will
strive to contribute to the community with high quality properties and
services in future years.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We believe that the support from stakeholders is of paramount
importance when it comes to the sustainable development and long-
term success of the Group. Our key stakeholders are those that are
significantly influenced by, or have the ability to influence our business.
We define our key stakeholders as employees, customers (including
residents and commercial building tenants), shareholders and investors,
business partners, governments, NGOs and community.

Throughout the years, we strive to maintain a good relationship with our
stakeholders through close communication via a wide variety of channels
in our daily operation to identify ESG issues that are of importance and
of concern to our business and to our stakeholders. It is a prerequisite in
the preparation of this report as engaging with stakeholders allows us to
better shape our business strategy to respond to their needs, anticipate
risks and strengthen key relationship.
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WORKPLACE QUALITY

With the deep-seated corporate culture of “people-orientation”, the
Group sees our employees as the most valuable assets. They are who
transform our visions into actions and who hold the key to deliver our
pledge of quality with versatility. It is our aim to be a preferred employer
and to foster a diverse, pleasant, non-discriminating workplace for our
people. In an effort to maintain high standards of integrity and honesty
amongst all levels of our people, our staff handbook has formulated the
standards and guidelines that our employees are expected to follow.
Through formulating transparent and comprehensive human resources
policies, we offer competitive remuneration package, opportunities for
growth and good career prospects for our people. Together, we grow
not only for the benefits of individual employees but for the sustainable
development of the Group as a whole simultaneously.

During the reporting period, our workforce had a total of 206 employees
across mainland China and Hong Kong, including 114 male staff
members and 92 female staff members. All of our staff is employed
on full-time basis. The vast majority of over 96% of total employees
worked in mainland China. Our businesses, building construction and
property management, are people-oriented and thus we are keenly
aware of the significance of human capital at our Group. We have
continuously made effort to attract and retain talents to keep pace with
our business expansion and diversification. For our staff in China, we
strictly comply with the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China
for welfare protection by contributing to five social insurances (Pension,
Medical Insurance, Unemployment Insurance, Maternity Insurance, and
Occupational Injury Insurance) and a housing fund (E & —%) . In
addition, we have established a comprehensive remuneration system
and performance appraisal system for talent retention in the face of the
competitive labor market. Our employee would receive regular review and
appraisal of performance and development.
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Equal Opportunities and Diversity

We treat diversity and inclusion as part of the commitment to sustainable
business growth. Taking into account the local regulations, we have
adopted an effective equal opportunities and diversity policy to treat
all employees fairly regardless of their nationality, sex, marital status,
race, religion or belief, age, disability, background, personality and work
style. By embracing varieties and differences, our Group has grown
from strengthen to strengthen. Furthermore, our Employee Code of
Conduct presents our anti-discrimination practices and ethics to guide
our employees to work effectively with diversity and promote equal
opportunity, resulting in a fair and diversified workplace.

Conformed strictly to Labor Law of China and other applicable legal
requirements, our Group adopted a zero tolerance approach to unethical
labor policy comprising forced labor and child labor.
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DISTRIBUTION OF EMPLOYEE BY AGE GROUP IN 2016
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Health and safety at workplace has always been one of our top priorities.
We are committed to continuously promote physical and mental well-
being of our people by providing a healthy and safe work environment
through the implementation of workplace health and safety measures. We
ensure our Occupational Health and Safety Policy satisfies the multitude
of needs at our business in compliance with relevant regulations.
Furthermore, we have established a comprehensive Occupational Health
Program including identification of occupational health hazards, risk
assessment in work place, implementation of control measures and
provision of seminars and workshops. In an attempt to ensure all workers
strictly follow the measures set out in our Work Safety Guidelines, we
provide regular training to equip them with the essential knowledge and
skills necessary for their operational work. With our concerted efforts in
the promoting occupational health and safety, absence of work-related
accidents and causalities cases has been reported in the past three
years.

We believe employee training and development is a critical key to the
success of the Group by remaining competitive through enhancement
of our employees’ value. We have devised our training and development
strategies based on the principles of “economy, practicality, effectiveness
and diversity” catering to the actual needs of employees of different
departments and different levels. We offer a wide array of internal and
external training programs for our employees including new employee
orientation, technical skills, professional knowledge and management
skills. We have also set up an e-learning online university in 2015
providing more than 2,000 courses with the aim to help staff develop their
full potentials both professionally and personally. Besides, we encourage
and support staff to pursue further degrees and other certificates for
qualification upgrade. To promote continual development and set up role
model for others, we have established a learning credit management
scheme. The best learner awards would be presented to the most
outstanding performers from time to time for the acknowledgement
of their hard work. Through performance appraisal and continuous
evaluation, we ensure the effectiveness and practicality of our training
courses.
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SUSTAINABLE BUILDING AND OPERATION

As a socially responsible property developer, we are concerned about
global climate change and other environmental challenges. The Group
is committed to integrating ESG considerations into every stage of our
property projects, from land acquisition, design and planning, building
construction to operation and management. We are devoted to abate
ecological footprint to our planet through minimizing the environmental
impact and resources consumption. While we bring prominent properties
to the community for propensity and growth, we ensure our constructions
and operations are in compliance with stringent national regulatory
requirements, as well as the requirements described in the approved
Environmental Impact Assessment (“EIA”) report and stipulated in the EIA
approvals so as to mitigate the manmade impact to the environment.

Green Features in Design and Construction

With the aim to enhance building efficiency and sustainability, we are
keenly aware of the building design and the material selection. All of
our buildings are designed with reference to national standard “Design
Standard for Energy Efficiency of Public Buildings” on the ground of
energy preservation. We ensure our buildings are in natural ventilation
for reduction in energy consumption and in appropriate orientation for
good use of daylight. Autoclaved aerated concrete (AAC) for the facade,
environmental-friendy polyphenylene sulfide (PPS) plate exclusive for heat
insulation system of exterior wall and aerated blocks for interior wall are
adopted for energy-efficient building envelop for our property. Besides,
we have incorporated our greening initiatives into our project design
in which greening ratio is expected to exceed 40% after completion,
guaranteeing a harmless and healthy environment to the local community.
Our project does not contain any glazing to avoid serious light pollution.
We have also selected harmless, organic and environmentally-friendly
materials during fitting out so as to reduce carbon emission. Greening
systems have been integrated into different zones of the project to create
a favorable eco-system.
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As land lays the foundation for our property development, site selection
is one of the pivotal issues of our concern at preparatory stage. We
strive to select sites with a minimal impact on natural ecosystems and
biodiversity through careful Environmental Impact Assessment. Changsha
Outlets Project is in stringent compliance with the National Industrial
Policy and the urban planning requirements of the Government, in favor
of enhancing the economic development of the local community and
the quality of life of the local people with a minimized impact on the
surrounding environment. We have maintained rigid control over our
suppliers and contractors to ensure excellence in quality and sustainability
of our project. We actively seek to work with business partners who
incorporate sustainability into their business and operational practices.

The Group fully shoulders the responsibility to mitigate the impact on the
environment and community during the construction of our development
project. We ensure that the community has been thoroughly consulted
through public engagement.

We displayed the information about the project at the construction site
and on the Internet. The public could provide their feedback via various
communication channels including email and hotline to our project team.
The local community representatives were invited for interview and
site visit. We did not receive any negative feedbacks during the public
consultations. Most respondents have expressed concern over noise
pollution and air pollution. More than half of the respondents agreed
that the project would boost the development of the local economy and
create more employment opportunities.

An environmental management system has been established for ensuring
the environmental performances of our construction project are in
compliance with national requirements. We have strictly adopted the
“Three simultaneities” system, according to the Environmental Protection
Law, where the supplementary measures for pollution and other public
nuisances to the construction project must be simultaneous with the
main projects in their design, construction and operation. Prior to actual
operation of the project, we have obtained the approval of the completion
acceptance of environmental protection facilities and pollutant discharge
permits.

Together with public feedback, our project team identified four major
environmental impacts in construction phase: noise pollution, air pollution,
sewage and solid waste. We carried out a series of measures on the
ground of easing the impacts to the environment and to the local
community at large.
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Noise Pollution

Noise is generated from operations of machines and equipment. While
there is no residential area nearby the construction sites, the impact of
noise pollution is minimal. We are obligated to work under the national
permitted working hours. With regular measurement and monitoring of
the noise produced, we are able to control the noise within an acceptable
range of decibel (dB) and hence mitigate the impact to surrounding
citizens.

Air Pollution

Major pollutants are nitrogen dioxide (NO2), total suspended particulates
(TSP) and dust. Through selection of better building materials, sprinkling
in the air, controlling the maximum velocity of the vehicles and cleaning
the wheels of the vehicles entering and leaving the site, the dust and TSP
are reduced to acceptable level under effective management.

Sewage

In our project, the sewage is discharged from cleaning of vehicles and
equipment as well as wastewater from construction procedures. All
sewage is collected and gone through sedimentation treatment before it
is discharged to municipal wastewater pipe network.

Solid Waste

Solid wastes produced during construction include sand, cement, wood
scrape, broken wood, abandoned cement, waste fiber, broken glass,
metal scrape and ceramic tile. We have implemented various measures,
especially a recycling plan which we recycled some useful materials for
backfill and road construction. For non-recyclable materials, we sort
properly and send to specified municipals for further treatment.
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We strive to abate ecological footprint in our day-to-day operation
to fulfil our responsibility in climate change. Our operations are in
strict compliance with applicable legal requirements and standards.
The environmental performances of the operating project are closely
monitored with a data record system to keep track of: (i) information
about the discharge of pollutants; (i) information about the pollutant
treatment facilities, and their use, operation and management; (i) the
pollutant monitoring and analytical methods; and (iv) information about
accidents and related records. A pollution incident reporting system has
been established to thoroughly report the case of environmental hazards
to the ministry of environmental protection to limit the possible damage to
the environment as far as possible and to help identify the source of the
pollution in time for taking appropriate follow up action.

Energy Consumption Management

The Group has been dedicated to energy saving and introduced various
measures for energy consumption reduction. With the energy-saving
guideline in place, we spare no efforts to promote the concept of energy
saving. During the reporting period, we have participated in Earth Hour to
demonstrate our support to a sustain future.

Below are the examples of the energy-saving measures adopted:

° Replace lighting with more efficient tubes

° Install energy-saving chillers in air-conditioning units

° Implement control on the use of lighting and air-conditioning
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Water Consumption Management

As a responsible property developer, the Group is aware of the limited
supply of fresh water on earth. We are committed to promotion of water
conservation within the Group and to the wider community. We introduce
water saving measures among the employees with corresponding
guidelines in place.

Below are the examples of water saving measures implemented:

° Install high efficiency flush fixtures

o Install water sensor water faucets

° Turn off water supply at night and during holiday at office area

Waste Management

We are obligated to ensure waste is handled properly so as to lower the
influence to the environment. We have set up three waste collection areas
where commercial waste and residential waste are collected separately.
Meanwhile, we encourage out tenants, customers and residents to
adopt waste separation practices at source. For food waste, we employ
licensed party to collect regularly for decomposition and reuse.
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OPERATIONAL PRACTICES

To ensure our business expansion and diversification are in line with the
operation strategy, our Group implements comprehensive governance
framework for solid foundation of sound operational and control
practices. We have created a series of policies and internal mechanisms
to guide our employee and ensure them to meet the highest legal and
ethical standards. We believe best practices in operational management
is one of the successful keys to sustainable development and growth.
Our qualities of integrity, honesty and fairness have also been reflected
in our Code of Business Conduct, our Employee Code of Conduct, our
supply chain management, our environmental protection practices and
our product assurance.

During our construction, we involve the participation of contractors.
To prevent, mitigate and reduce the negative social and environmental
effects of our buildings, we are aware of the environmental initiatives,
operational practice, occupational health and safety by selecting the
suppliers that shared the similar ESG initiatives in compliance with our
requirements and standards in the Supplier Code of Conduct.

Through continuous evaluation, we ensure our contractors understand
their duties and responsibilities through sophisticated planning,
management and supervision of all work carried out by their workers.
Appropriate instructions and regular training are provided to the workers
and only qualified, trained, skillful and experienced workers are allowed to
work in the construction sites. With all the measures fully implemented,
we promote a harmless and safe work environment and mitigate the
impacts to the environment.

The Group is committed to uncompromising legal and ethical standards
in the face of the inherent risk of bribery and corruption in the property
industry. We demand all employees to conform with the outline of our
requirements and policies on anti-corruption and bribery in Employee
Code of Conducts and act with integrity on our behalf. No cases of
corruption were recorded during the reporting period. For the long-
term development in the industry, we work against corruption and
bribery seriously through robust anti-corruption measures and practices.
We have zero tolerance to cases of inappropriate engagement and
breaches of business conduct. In event of employees acting against our
principles and policies, we have no hesitation to take action after serious
investigation by the committee. We shoulder the responsibility of serving
our clients with ethics, compliance and integrity by means of better
management and transparent policies.
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With our aim to be a diversified property developer shaping quality of
life, we are committed to provide proper building construction, high-
quality property management and regular maintenance so as to build an
integrated and safe community. As a reliable and conscientious property
developer, we shoulder the responsibility to control and assure our
high level of quality and safety throughout all aspects of our business.
By means of collecting feedbacks and suggestions from tenants and
residents, we incorporate feedbacks into our building quality controls
and assurance procedures. We continue to look for ways to enhance
our products and services in order to create impeccable customer
experiences.

Significant quality control and assurance procedures at all stages of the
project:

1. Design
° Anticipate end-user needs in building design
° Respond to customer comments

2. Construction

° Select quality materials that meet our strict requirements and
standards

o Adopt zero tolerance policy on the use of sub-standard
materials

° Perform regular on-site checking on the process and quality
by a team of representatives from engineering, design and

cost department and other related professionals

° Ensure all progress and collection of data are in good
documentation for record and report

3. Pre-sale

o Examine the buildings by our professionals to ensure they
meet our quality standards

o Perform quality checking until no defect is found
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Handover

° Conduct final checking against the checklist of indicators
performed by our handover team prior to handover

° Disclose accurate and consistent information to customers

After-sale

° Provide questionnaires to our customers to gather feedbacks

o Establish a maintenance schedule on the health and safety
in all buildings which guarantees timely response in case of

malfunction or defect
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OUTLOOK

With the corporate vision of “to be a diversified property developer
shaping quality of life”, the Group, as a responsible property developer,
will continue to provide high-quality building construction as well as
property management in hopes of sustainable development of our
business.

Going beyond, we will continuously seek to enhance our sustainability
performance through ongoing stakeholder engagement. The Group will
strive to explore new investment opportunities, uphold the highest ethical
standards of business integrity, develop talents, minimize environmental
impact of our activities and ensure robust supply chains. We also pay
attention to the feedbacks from different parties and respond to their
concerns through improvement in our business strategy for business
resilience and sustainability.

We would like to take this opportunity to express our sincere gratitude
to our shareholders and stakeholders for their continued support and
confidence that they have placed in us. In an effort to assume our
corporate social responsibility, sustainability continues to be of the utmost
importance to our business strategy. We will continue to embrace the
best practices in the area of environmental, social and governance
and more importantly, to extend its benefits for our stakeholders and
community at large.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Xin Songtao (“Mr. Xin”)

Mr. Xin, aged 46, was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company on 8 July 2014. He was appointed as the chairman of the
Board, chief executive officer, the chairman of the nomination committee
and a member of the remuneration committee of the Board on 15
January 2016. He has extensive experience in construction planning
design, business soliciting, management and real estate development.
Mr. Xin obtained his Bachelor’s degree in Metal Material Engineering from
Southeast University. Mr. Xin joined the Company on 13 January 2014
as an executive vice president. In October 2000, Mr. Xin joined JeShing
Group* (£ B % @) and has since then served as deputy general
manager, general manager, president assistant, group vice president and
the general manager of Nanjing region successively. From July 1996 to
October 2000, Mr. Xin served as the Head of Group office in Nanjing
Twenty First Century Group* (B8 =+ — 42 & @), taking charge
of manpower management, marketing planning and administrative
affairs of the Group. From January 1994 to July 1996, Mr. Xin joined a
Taiwanese-invested company in Shenzhen and served as a salesman,
the Head of Shenzhen Office, the manager of Northwest Branch office
and a sales manager successively, engaging in the sales of timepieces.
From September 1992 to January 1994, Mr. Xin served as a technician
of a machinery plant of Shandong Lai Steel Co., Ltd.* ( 1L 5 %& 8 J& (7
BRZAT]) . Mr. Xin is currently a director of Nanjing Qihao Investment
Management Consulting Co., Ltd* (R ERIEEEEZEANEFRAF])
(“Nanjing Qihao”) and Yangzhou Baolin Furniture and Decoration Port
Co., Ltd.* (HINBEMRRAE B FR A A (“Yangzhou Baolin”). Nanjing
Qihao is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of JeShing Real Estate
Group Company Limited* (£ B ZKESEHGR A A]) of which Mr.
Wang Hua, a substantial shareholder of the Company, is a controlling
shareholder. Yangzhou Baolin is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
Jinsheng International Group (Holdings) Limited of which Mr. Wang Hua
is the sole shareholder. Accordingly, Nanjing Qihao and Yangzhou Baolin
are both associates of Mr. Wang Hua and connected persons of the
Company.
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Mr. Li, aged 583, was appointed as an executive Director of the Company
on 8 July 2014. He has extensive experience in construction planning,
design, real estate and commercial properties. Mr. Li obtained his
Master’s degree in Architecture from Xi'an Institute of Metallurgy
and Construction Engineering (now renamed as Xi'an University of
Architecture and Technology). In addition, Mr. Li obtained his certificate of
completion from Ontario Real Estate College (% A B E & 26t ) in
Canada. Since 1985, Mr. Li has been engaging in architecture teaching,
architecture study and design work. Since 2002, Mr. Li successively
joined Homelife (Canada) and RE/MAX (Canada), offering consultancy
services on residential and commercial property investments. Mr. Li joined
the Company in early 2009 as the chief design officer. Since 2011, Mr.
Li has served as the chairman of Changsha Yutian Outlets Business
Administration Co., Ltd.* (KA A RSH A PEERERAF)and a
director of Richly Field (Beijing) Investment Consulting Co., Ltd* (4 H
By (b)) WEEEAMR AT, both are the wholly owned subsidiaries
of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ma, aged 55, was re-designated as non-executive director of the
Company and resigned as the chairman of the Board, chief executive,
the chairman of the nomination committee and a member of the
remuneration committee of the Board on 15 January 2016. Mr. Ma has
extensive experience in large, diversified enterprises in management,
corporate strategic planning and brand marketing roles. Mr. Ma
graduated from Nanjing University with a bachelor’s degree in law, and
obtained from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business an Executive
Master of Business Administration degree. Mr. Ma has been a director
and the vice president of the JeShing Group* (& & £ ) since October
2000. From January 1980 to October 1984, Mr. Ma served as an
inspector at Jiangsu Import and Export Commodity Inspection Bureau.
Thereafter, until September 2000, Mr. Ma served as a reporter, deputy
director of the editorial office and a deputy director of city channel at
Jiangsu Broad-casting Corporation respectively. Mr. Ma is also a director
of Fine Bliss Limited and Good Moral Enterprises Limited which are the
substantial shareholders of the Company as defined under the Listing
Rules and the persons who have an interest or short position in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr. Chen, aged 44, was appointed as a non-executive Director of
the Company on 17 December 2013. He has extensive experience in
aspects related to project planning and construction management. Mr.
Chen graduated from Jinling Vocational University* (4 % B % K £)
studying in decoration and construction management. Mr. Chen has
been engaging in construction management since 1996 and has been
the chairman of Nanjing First Construction Engineering Group Company
Limited* (A A3 —EETREB AR A F]) since 2008.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Hsu, aged 46, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 21 November 2013 and has been the
chairman of the audit and remuneration committees of the Company
since 28 January 2014. She has over 20 years’ experience in accounting.
Ms. Hsu graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor degree in business administration. Ms. Hsu had been working
with Ernst & Young for 18 years and was a partner of Ernst & Young
before she retired from the firm in February 2011. Ms. Hsu is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms.
Hsu is currently an independent non-executive director of Perfect Shape
(PRC) Holdings Limited (stock code: 1830) and Branding China Group
Limited (stock code: 863) and TCL Display Technology Holdings Limited
(stock code: 334). Ms. Hsu served as an independent non-executive
director of China Forestry Holdings Co. Ltd. (stock code: 930) from
July 2011 to June 2015, and an independent non-executive director of
Fujian Nuogi Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1353) from June 2013 to September
2015, an independent non-executive director of China Kingstone Mining
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1380) from July 2015 to December 2015,
an independent director of SGOCO Group, Ltd. (stock code: SGOC)
from April 2013 to December 2015 and an independent director of Titan
Petrochemicals Group, Ltd. (Stock Code: 1192) from December 2015 to
May 2016. All the aforesaid companies are listed on the Stock Exchange
except that the shares of SGOCO Group, Ltd. (stock code: SGOC)
were listed on the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated
Quotations (“NASDAQ”") Stock Market.
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Mr. Chau, aged 52, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 12 February 2014. He has over 22 years of
experience in corporate finance, working on projects ranging from initial
public offering transactions and restructuring of PRC enterprises to cross-
border and domestic takeover transactions. Mr. Chau was formerly a
partner of one of the big four accounting firms in Hong Kong, holding the
position as their Head of Merger and Acquisition and Corporate Advisory.
He is a member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute, the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales (‘ICAEW”), and was
granted the Corporate Finance Qualification of ICAEW, and Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”), and an ex-committee
member of the Disciplinary Panel of HKICPA. Mr. Chau currently an
Independent Non-executive Director of Man Wah Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1999), Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited (Stock
Code: 2314), Evergrande Real Estate Group Limited (Stock Code: 3333),
Evergrande Health Industry Group Limited on 27 March 2015 (Stock
Code: 708) and Hengten Networks Group Limited (formerly known as
Mascotte Holdings Limited) on 26 October 2015 (Stock Code: 136). All
the aforesaid companies are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Xu, aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 1 April 2014. He graduated from Tianjin
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Tianjin Institute Of Textile
Science and Technology) with a bachelor’s degree in mechanical
manufacturing technology and equipment. In addition, Mr. Xu completed
a course of management science and engineering for postgraduate
research students in Nanjing University. Mr. Xu is currently studying
an Executive Master of Business Administration programme at Fudan
University. Mr. Xu had served as the general manager of Nanjing Yuexing
International Home Square Limited* (R A 2BEBEREESBRAR])
and the general manager of the Furniture Centre at Nanjing Golden Eagle
International Shopping Centre Group Limited* (R R & EREEWEE A
R AFIRIESH L), and the chairman of Nanjing Meitu Furniture Company
Limited* (B R EBREHBBR A F)) . Mr. Xu is currently the vice president
of the association of home decoration of the china federation of industry
and commerce* (2B T B REEEEES ), the vice chairman of
the Market Committee of China Furniture Association* ( Ff Bl 1B &
5 Z8E), the honorary president of Guangdong Furniture Chamber Of
Commerce* (ERERFREBELEEZER), the chairman of Xiamen Meitu
Mei Network Technology Company Limited* (& F9 3 Bl =848 Rl AR
/A& ) and the vice president of the Xiyingmen Group* (EZFI£E® ) .

* For identification purpose only
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SHARE OPTIONS OF THE COMPANY

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 2
November 2009, details of which were disclosed in the Company’s
circular dated 15 October 2009 and are set out in note 34 to the financial
statements. Particulars of the Scheme are set out below:

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to recruit and retain high caliber
Eligible Persons (as defined below) that are valuable to the Group
or any entity in which any member of the Group holds an equity
interest (“Invested Entity” or “Invested Entities”), to recognize the
significant contributions of the Eligible Persons to the growth of the
Group by rewarding them with opportunities to obtain ownership
interest in the Company and to give incentives to the eligible
participants to continue in contributing to the long term success
and prosperity of the Group.

Eligible Persons

Any employee (whether full time or part time), senior executive
or officer, manager, executive director, non-executive director
(including independent non-executive director) of the Group or
any Invested Entity who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has
contributed or will contribute to the growth and development of the
Group or any Invested Entity.

Maximum Number of Shares Available for Issue

The total number of shares in respect of which share options
may be granted under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the total number of shares in issue of the Company as at the date
upon which the Scheme takes effect in accordance with its terms
(“Scheme Mandate”).

The Company may seek approval by the Shareholders in general
meeting for refreshing the Scheme Mandate provided that the
total number of shares in respect of which share options may be
granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company under the Scheme Mandate as refreshed must not
exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue of the Company
as at the date of the Shareholders’ approval.
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The limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding share options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from
time to time. No share options may be granted if such grant will
result in this 30% limit being exceeded.

As at the date of this annual report, no shares of the Company
available for issue under the Scheme.

As at 31 March 2016, no share options were exercisable (2015:
7,550,000).

Maximum Entitlement of Each Eligible Person

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be
issued upon exercise of share options (whether exercised or
outstanding) granted in any 12-month period to:

(i) each Eligible Person must not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue;

(i)  a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive
Director of the Company must not exceed 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue and not exceed HK$5 million in
aggregate value.

Any further grant of share options in excess of the above limit shall
be subject to the Shareholders’ approval.

Period within Which the Shares Must be Taken
up under an Option

An option must be exercised within ten years from the date on
which it is granted or such shorter period as the Board may specify
at the time of grant.
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Minimum Period, if any, for Which an Option
Must be Held
At the time of the grant of an option, the Board must specify the

minimum period(s), if any, for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised.

Period Open for Acceptance of an Option and
Amount Payable Upon Acceptance

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for acceptance
for a period of twenty business days from the date of offer and
consideration of HK$1.0 must be paid upon acceptance.

Basis for Determining the Subscription Price an
Option

The exercise price must be at least the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in daily quotations
sheet on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

(i)  the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days

immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(i) the nominal value of a share.
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Remaining Life/Duration of the Scheme 9. FIRHIRR < ZEtEIZHIR
The Scheme has a life of ten years and will expire on 1 November ZErEABTE UHER=ZT—hF
2019 unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of T+T—A—BIH KRIFEREZTEZ
the Scheme. 16 SR 4% 1E B 5 b o
Number of Share Options
BREHE
Exercise price
Outstanding Outstanding Exercise price  per share after
at 1 April at 31 March pershare  adjustments
2015 2016 before (Note)
R-B-T1F R=B-RE Exercise adjustments BEEZ
Eligible persons A-A Granted Exercised Forfeited lapsed =A=t-H  Dateof grant period BEHz  SROTEER
RERAL HRTE Bt (L3 R FS3:d HRTE RTAH TRER SRITRER (PzE)
Director
iz
LiYi Feng 5,000,000 - - - (5,000,000) - 22 December 2009 Note HK$0.428 HK$0.396
- “EEAFtZAZtZR M 0428 T 0.396% 7T
Employees
(3}
In aggregate 2,560,000 - - - (2,550,000) - 22 December 2009 Note HK$0.428 HK$0.396
&3t “EENETRCtZR M 0428 7T 0.3967% 7
Total
&t 7,550,000 - - - (7,550,000) -
Notes: B 5 -

The share options will be vested and exercisable subject to the attainment of the
Performance Target (as defined below) during the following period in the following
manner:

the first 25% of the share options granted were vested on the date
of results announcement for the year ended 31 March 2011 in which
Performance Target was met and the exercise period for this tranche
is from the date of results announcement for the year ending 31 March
2011 to 21 December 2015;

the second 25% of the share options granted were lapsed on the date
of results announcement for the year ended 31 March 2012 in which
Performance Target was not met;

the third 25% of the share options granted were lapsed on the date
of results announcement for the year ended 31 March 2013 in which
Performance Target was not met;

the final 25% of the share options granted were lapsed on the date
of results announcement for the year ending 31 March 2014 in which
Performance Target was not met; and

upon completion of the open offer, the outstanding share options and the
exercise price was adjusted with effect from 11 August 2015.
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Further details of the Scheme are set out in note 34 to the financial
statements.

The vesting of the share options is subject to the achievement
of the rate of return on equity of the Group of not less than 12%
(“Performance Target”) for each of the financial years ending 31
March 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014 respectively based on the
reported figures as contained in the annual report of the Group
for the relevant financial year. If the Performance Target is met
in a particular financial year, the share options associated with
that financial year will be vested and can be exercised. If the
Performance Target is not met in a particular financial year, the
share options associated with that financial year will be lapsed
automatically.

As at 31 March 2015, the share options outstanding has no
weighted average remaining contractual life (2015: 0.5 years).

The fair value of each share option granted was estimated on
the date of offer using the Binomial model with the following
assumptions:

Date of offer 22 December 2009

Share price at date of offer HK$0.425
Exercise price HK$0.428
Risk-free interest rate 2.017%

Expected dividend : Nil
Expected volatility : 76.46%
Expected life (year) 1.3104.3

Based on the above assumptions, the computed fair value of each
share option was approximately within the range from HK$0.18 to
HK$0.27. The Black-Scholes option pricing model requires input of
highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price
volatility. Any changes in the subjective input assumptions may
materially affect the estimation of the fair value of a share option.
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Crowe Horwath.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

RICHLY FIELD CHINA DEVELOPMENT LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Richly Field
China Development Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries set
out on pages 65 to 179, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2016, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.
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EELE (& SMEBERAR
Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited

Member Crowe Horwath International

&8 e SEET7 =Eh0oE
9/F Leighton Centre,

77 Leighton Road,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified audit opinion.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Included in receipts in advance, other payables and accruals as of 31
March 2016 was a fund of HK$447,281,000 (2015: HK$468,517,000)
received in prior years by Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate Co., Ltd
(“Qinhuangdao Outlets”), a subsidiary of the Group, from Finance
Bureau of Changli County, Qinhuangdao, Hebei Province related to
an infrastructure construction of Qinhuangdao project. The fund was
recorded as other payables in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2016 and a corresponding tax provision of
approximately HK$117,129,000 was recognised on this fund received
during the year ended 31 March 2013.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (continued)

No direct confirmation has been received or sufficient appropriate
evidence is available to verify the nature of such fund received and
classification in the consolidated financial statements. Also, we are not
provided with sufficient audit evidence as to whether this amount has to
be recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and as to when this amount has to be recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, if any. There were no alternative audit procedures that we could
perform to satisfy ourselves as to whether the fund received and the
related tax provision were free from material misstatement.

Our opinion on the current year’s consolidated financial statements is
modified also because of the possible effect of these matters on the
comparability of current year’s figures and corresponding figures.

Had we been able to satisfy ourselves in respect of the matter mentioned
above, adjustments might have been found to be necessary which would
have had a consequential impact on the net assets of the Group as at
31 March 2016 and 2015 and its net loss for the years ended 31 March
2016 and 2015, and the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.

QUALIFIED OPINION

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described
in the basis for qualified opinion paragraph, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Company and its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2016, and of their financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.
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EMPHASIS OF MATTER

Without further qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 2.1(b)
to the consolidated financial statements which indicates that the Group
incurred a net loss of approximately HK$340,209,000 during the year
ended 31 March 2016 and as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HK$1,706,533,000. These conditions,
along with other matters as set forth in note 2.1(b), indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 24 June 2016

Sze Chor Chun, Yvonne
Practising Certificate Number P05049
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

s

Year ended 31 March 2016
HE_Z—XRF-A=+—HLHFE

inolERRHMPENGARE

2016 2015
—NE —T—hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5T FEx FHEIT
REVENUE Uy 2= 5 95,867 54,096
Cost of sales 5 & A AR (125,666) (78,356)
Gross loss Ei8 (29,799) (24,260)
Impairment loss on prepaid land lease FEN T B ER 2 REEE
payments 16 (34,000) -
Impairment loss on investment properties &M 2 /JEJZTEE? # 15 (100,634) =
Impairment losses of amounts due FEYEEE R R IE 2
from associates WEEE - (14,982)
Other revenue and other net income H U A K A Uk 25 5 5 6 1,658 6,466
Selling expenses HERX (12,781) (33,292)
Administrative expenses TTBF X (121,146) (112,071)
Finance costs MEER 7 (42,566) (20,540)
Share of results of associates FEIGEEE R R A (941) (8,886)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BREE AT B 8 (340,209) (207,565)
Income tax expense FEBiAX 11 - =
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREE (340,209) (207,565)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hit2m (5518) =
(LOSS)/INCOME
Other comprehensive (loss)/income RE 1§ HEEHSEE
to be reclassified to profit or loss BEmEMEE
in subsequent periods: (E518) /Wia -
Exchange differences on translation of REBINEBEE 2
foreign operations MEHZ5
(56,397) 1,278
Share of other comprehensive (loss)/ i NC ol
income of associates Hi2m (E5i8) e (3,438) 231
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ FREMZE (BB) Wi
INCOME FOR THE YEAR (59,835) 1,509
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FREEBRESE
FOR THE YEAR (400,044) (206,056)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO AAQFEBEEZFIZAEA HK cents HK cents
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF EBihEREER AL AL
THE COMPANY (Restated)
(re&E5)
Basic AR 12 (3.05) (2.13)
Diluted e 12 (3.05) (2.13)

The notes on pages 71 to 179 form part of these financial statements.
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31 March 2016
—E-RF=ZA=+—H

2016 2015
— R4 —T—hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FBT FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment E B = g 14 37,790 43,674
Investment properties "EE 15 618,107 749,805
Prepaid land lease payments AN LA &K 16 1,161,490 1,283,540
Interests in associates REEERA 2= 17 25,614 26,048
Available-for-sale investment A HERE 18 2,724 =
Goodwill EES 19 120,085 125,786
Total non-current assets EMBEEALTE 1,965,810 2,228,853
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties under development TR 20 939,848 942,889
Completed properties held for sales b f‘E HEZBTYE 21 404,729 310,888
Inventories FE 22 - 4,550
Trade receivables JE W BR 3k 23 13,415 7,554
Prepayments, deposits and other FE R IE jf;z % &
receivables H WE Wk I8 24 150,581 114,550
Cash and cash equivalents HeRELZER 25 42,016 45180
Total current assets ME)EEERE 1,550,589 1,425,611
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables FEATBR IR 26 264,176 336,568
Receipts in advance, other payables TEUGRIE ~ H A RIA K
and accruals JEETE R 27 1,096,182 1,008,491
Due to related parties P B3 5 5B 28 299,550 13,935
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t 2 8817 & H 4th {& 5% 29 1,322,292 646,618
Convertible notes payable FERT AT AR iR 30 132,710 =
Provision B 31 8,886 6,193
Tax payable FES R IE 133,326 129,602
Total current liabilities mEBEEE 3,257,122 2,136,407
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAETFE (1,706,533) (710,796)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BWEERABERE
LIABILITIES 259,277 1,518,057
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Due to related parties FEST R E 5 R 28 225818 205,478
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings .8 5517 R LA 2K 29 - 1,175,388
Deferred tax liability EIERIEE E 32 8,546 8,991
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEEAE 234,364 1,389,857
Net assets BEFE 24,913 128,200
The notes on pages 71 to 179 form part of these financial statements. FME1T9OE T RZEYBHKR A

P #B >
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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—ET-REF=ZA=+—H

2016 2015

—E-NE —E—RE

Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000

B 5 FTERT T

EQUITY %

Issued capital B ITRRAS 33 594,331 445,748
Deficit 518 (569,418) (317,548)
Total equity e A5 24,913 128,200

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 June #=ep N —ZT— NE <A -+ BE# 4

2016. Ko ¥ E F) 2% o

Xin Songtao Li Yi Feng

R =¥

BF o

The notes on pages 71 to 179 form part of these financial statements. FE179BE 2 M AZEMEkx A

R EB o o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Year ended 31 March 2016
HE_Z—XRF-A=+—HLHFE

—E-AEEHR WETERRERAT 69

2016 2015
—E—RE —HhHF
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
Bt FEx T T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHEEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BB AT AR (340,209) (207,565)
Adjustments for: BTy EIEZAE:
Impairment losses of amounts due i NCIE =
from associates B E1E - 14,982
Impairment loss on investment properties & & 2 REE B 5 100,634 =
Impairment loss on prepaid land TEfT i FH & 3
lease payments Z R EEE 16 34,000 =
Bank interest income IRITH B HA 6 (107) (389)
Other interest income H A F S 4 A 6 (111) (4,337)
Finance costs A& B 7 42,566 20,540
Depreciation of property, M BE REREITE
plant and equipment 8 4,241 4,826
Depreciation of investment properties HEMENE 8 29,488 14,380
(Reversal)/Write-down of inventories to ( ﬁé‘ @ )/ WREER
net realisable valve ~ A]® IR )%E 8 (2,530) 17,967
Amortisation of prepaid T8 Hiﬂﬁﬂ &R
land lease payments 8 31,363 12,793
Provision for compensation HEESRE 8 3,225 4,727
Share of results of associates FE(REEE R A A 941 8,886
(96,499) (113,190)
Changes in working capital EEESE
Decrease in inventories FERD 7,080 960
Increase in trade receivables JrE W AR SR AN (5,861) =
Decrease/(increase) in properties under TEMERBEHEZ
development and completed properties % ITERAL, (38)
held for sales 48,588 (169,004)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and AR IR e REAMm
other receivables F& YRR IE 38 A0 (42,925) (55,934)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables FERTBRFR i),/ 38 hn (72,392) 78,599
Increase/(decrease) in receipts in advance, B U FRIAE « H ith B 5 FRIE K2
other payables and accruals FERTE M, () 91,043 (167,081)
Cash used in operations KEMARS (70,966) (425,650)
Interest paid ERFE (213,745) (199,194)
Net cash flows used in operating activites & & EEFTAR SR EF 5 (284,711) (624,844)
The notes on pages 71 to 179 form part of these financial statements. FTIE1TOE T RSB R 2 A
KEB 5D o
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Year ended 31 March 2016
HE-_ZT—XRF-A=-+—HLFE

2016 2015
—E—RE —T—hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
B 5 FET T T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHEEZEERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, NEWME WMERZHEEE
plant and equipment 14 (570) (4,115)
Construction costs for investment properties & & #1528 Ak &K (28,709) (207,879)
Step acquisition from an associate to HEERRENB AR Z
a subsidiary oA WEE 36 - (25,052)
Payment for purchase of available-for-sale B & ] {ft & & & 3%
investment (2,724) =
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from  JEYEE = A RIZIE () SR
associates (396) 109,101
Bank interest received B HBERITH B 107 389
Net cash flows used in investing activites & /EEFTAZIRERE
HEE (32,292) (127,556)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RETHELECEERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from new bank borrowings PR ITERZ S HIE 22,163 158,974
Advance from related parties KEBEBER 28R 287,975 237,253
Proceeds from new other borrowings i E B 5K 2 Fr S sIE - 199,421
Repayment of bank borrowings BEBITERK (246,260) (63,981)
Repayment of other borrowings EEEMER (70,000) =
Proceeds from issue of shares RARBEEREITRMD
upon open offer Fr{S k38 246,647 =
Net cash flows from financing activities REFELECHERE
FEE 240,525 531,667
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRESEERRDBE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (76,478) (220,733)
Cash and cash equivalents FYzRERBASEED
at beginning of year 45,180 270,533
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, HinR 7 S8 2855
net 73,314 (4,620)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRzRERESEER
AT END OF YEAR 42,016 45,180
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRESEER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ZEEER D AT
Cash and bank balances B e MIBTTHER 25 42,016 45,180
Note: B &
During the year, other borrowings of HK$130,000,000 has been settled by way of £ /A » E i {£ 57130,000,000/% 7T B 15 18 7] #8 i Z 4%
convertible notes. wE-

The notes on pages 71 to 179 form part of these financial statements.
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31 March 2016
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Richly Field China Development Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and
continued as an exempted company under the laws of Bermuda
after the change of domicile from the Cayman Islands to Bermuda
effective on 11 February 2004. The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are Canon’s
Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda and Suite 506,
ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong, respectively.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) were involved in the following principal
activities:

(i) outlets commercial operation;

(i)  development and operation of featured commercial properties
- tourism property
- senior care property
- wine chateaus; and

(i)  development of high-end residential properties

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully

1.

ZE-AFER HETEBRERAE 71

AAREEER

WHARERER AR ([RAAF])
ARHEHESEMKAINBR AR
YR -_ZEENFE-_A+—HEHFAS
HERMEZaRER BREAFEEZE
BFEEEARR AR - ANARME
it EEmu R FZEEHWE DB B
Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM12, Bermuda & & i &
IRIEE B3 R B Tk 17 K/E506

il

ot

%

RARFE - ARAREMEB AR (4
MINEE]D)REATETEXRS:

\

I

(i) REFRHMHELE:

(i) HFERXHWENRRLE
- IREME
- BEMWE
- BHEAA R

(i) =imEEE M

RRABMBRABFBET

Percentage of

registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities
AR, ERTRAR
g dfREELH B& /G RA ARRELERER DL TEXH
Directly Indirectly
EE i
Chuang Yu Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 — 100%  Investment holding
(“Chuang Yu") A% 18T REER
ElMERAERRAA ([814])
Globe QOutlets City Holdings Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited (“Globe Outlets’) BB 15T REER
EAEy S uied b

REERDE ([REHE])
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2AREEER #)
(continued)
Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of
registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities
B3 ERTRAR
A8 AR & E i B B/ R B ANREGRER D TEREH
Directly Indirectly
E#% Cik:

Globe Outlets City Limited British Virgin Islands USS$1 100% - Investment holding

B ST R (BVI")/Hong Kong Ev BB
BRAF RBRAES

([RBRExES])/
BB

Hunan Richly Field Outlets The PRC/ HK$596,400,000 - 100%  Property development
Real Estate Limited" Mainland China 596,400,000 7T NEER
(*Hunan Richly Field”) ## HE]/HE A
(note)

HERARERAERER AR
(D#rg#am])

(FsE)

Jiangxi Richly Town The PRC/ HK$10,000,000 100% - Construction and
Construction Projects Mainland China 10,000,000% 7T maintenance
Co., Limited" B/ RE R, RER#E
("Jiangxi Richly Town") #

TEMERRETR
BRAA (DIAEHER]) *

Mile Gain Limited BVI/Hong Kong USS$1 100% - Investment holding

BRERRDA RREUHS /BB (I REER

Million Harmony Holdings Limited ~ Hong Kong HKS$1 = 100%  Dormant

EhERERAE Bk BT R

Million Harmony Limited BVI/Hong Kong USS$1 100% - Investment holding

EHERAR RERUMS /AR 1% REER

Pilot Will Holdings Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 = 100%  Dormant

REZRERRDA B BT TEE

Pilot Will Limited BVI/Hong Kong USS$1 100% - Investment holding

BRERRDA RRRUHS /BB (I REER

Profuse Gain Holdings Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 = 100%  Dormant

ERERERDA BB BT LEER
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AEAIREEER (®)

(continued)
Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of
registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities
S, BRTRAR
A afREE LM B,/ RA ARREERER DL TEER
Directly Indirectly
B &
Profuse Gain Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% - Investment holding
ERARDA ERENRS /R ([ REER
Quality Depot Limited BVI/Hong Kong USS$1 — 100%  Dormant
mEBR AR RBRIBS /AR (E TEXK
Richly Field (Beijing) The PRC/ HK$15,000,000 100% - Property management
Investment Consulting Mainland China 15,000,0007% 7 and investment
Co., Ltd.* B/ B holding
(‘Richly Field Beijing’)* MRERRBEZR
WA ERN (tR)
REBERARLA
([Am=EMmIR]) *
Richly Field Hainan Holdings Hong Kong HKS$1 100% - Dormant
Limited BE 1L TEXHG
HEBEERERAF
IRBAREEER The PRC/ RMB1,000,000 = 100%  Property management
BRAR" Mainland China AR ¥1,000,0007T NEER
B/ B
Changsha Yutian Outlets The PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 = 100%  Property management
Business Administration FE/ B A AR %100,000,0007T and trading of
Co. Limited** fashion wear
ROBHEGRECEER and accessories
BRAAN NEERREERE
R
ROMABRFENE The PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 - 100%  Property management
ERERA R B/ PR R AR #500,0007T NEER
BREREE AT The PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 100%  Property management
BRAR HE/ B AR 20,000,000 NEER
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ARAREEER (&)
(continued)

Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of

registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities

M, ERTRAR
A8 TR EE R B&,/ R ANREGRER D TEEH

Directly Indirectly
B &
Richly Field Kabuskiki Kaisha* Japan JPY3,000,000 - 100%  Sourcing
wAKAgH BA 3,000,000H KB
King Future Holdmgs Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 = 100% Invpstment holding
HEERARD Bk BT REER
King Future Limited BVI US$10 100% - Investment holding
HEBRAA EBRAHS 10%7T REER
Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate ~ The PRC US$10,320,000 - 100%  Property development
Co., Ltd.##* h 10,320,000% 7T NEER
ESERERIFELARA
Hunan Longsheng Decoration The PRC RMB10,000,000 = 100%  Dormant
Engineering Company Limited##* &1 AR #10,000,0007 BEEK

WEERRERHIRARAA"
HEBHEERESBERDA™  The PRC = = 100%  Dormant

H TEE
# Registered as limited liability companies under PRC law f B EEEFMABR AR

o Registered as wholly-owned foreign enterprises under PRC law

##  Registered as a Sino-foreign joint venture under PRC law

For identification purposes only

> Incorporated on 23 April 2014

Newly incorporated on 25 November 2015

Note: At 31 March 2016 and 2015, the Company’s entire equity interest in
Hunan Richly Field is secured for a bank loan of the Group (note 29(b)).

#H

Hith

ke

P et -

REBEPEEEEMAINGBEDLSE

RIBRBEIZEEM AP I EREEE

(EXdl
RZZ—WFNA =+ =HaEMKz
% —AFE+—AZ-t+RBHEmK
v
RZE—ARERZZE—AF=A=1+—

B ARARAERAZZHBRER
A KB 2 RTERMEER (K
29(b)) °
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Notes to Financial Statements
B 53R = M5

31 March 2016
—F-~F=A=+—~

2.1 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASISOF 2.1 8B EHEREE
PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
terms include all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(‘HKASSs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
which are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group and the
Company. Note 2.2 provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected
in these financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2016 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interests
in associates.

It EMBHRRIIRIEE L S5HED
Ag([BAEMAE])RM
ZEERZEREREY B RS
HR([HFEMBRSER]) -
BREMAER R E LT R
SEA -FBEHEA([FE
S ER ) RRE) FEQAR
SRR EE RGP Z B R
MEMMmS - L EMBHHRKR I
RERBBMERSMARIAES
EWRAN B E A E R
AEERNZERGTHREMRE
RT3

BREGHMASERMETRA
SEMARBEMETHEER
A ek AT R AT B 2 BT ET
RETEBHHRELER - M5
22EIRAMARERENEEA
Y O RN E AT KB E SR
MZUEEMBRERAZZFER
MELXZENEABERES 2 E
o

BE-_Z-—R"F=ZA=+—HL
FEZEAMBRREEARR
AREMBAR (RBAIKNE
EDAERREBERBERA 2
e
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2.1 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF

PREPARATION (continued)

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity
in the Group are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). These financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”), rounded to
the nearest thousand except for per share data. Hong
Kong dollar is the Company’s functional and the Group’s
presentation currency.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis, except as
otherwise set out in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other factors
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 3 to the financial statements.

21 EREBHREREE &)

AEEETEERMBRERA
B REREREREEMN
EXIE2RERFEZER ([T
B E-RERBEN I
FHBHRERIIAB T ([ET])
2 - YEemMBmAAEZEREOT
fL-BILRARA ZINEERAE
BZ25E%-

REVBERAAZIAEREER
SRR S X ETBR
SBEHEAERIN -

MENABEVWBREEDZHM
BmKREREEEEL A E &
At R RER - T A RE A B AR
BREFEBRRZIEKAREE
BE WMARRAXZEZHEE-
ZEHA AR BRRERBAE
REMEERBATRAGELZ
ZHEMAREL  EERBX
TEEEBRBEALEMEEER
BRMzBEENRBBREEMEH
B Zf - BERERAERIRN
& Bt e

ZEMRBEBRRERFER
EREERE - M EAFIEE
Rl MBI Re@TEFLEHA
BRIz gt HE B EZHE
MR RAERT B & B K R 2R
S HEABATE ASEEF
AR KRR HAMEER -

EREEMBREERNSEERE
R B B R R at THEE
MZEERBERERTEZH
T A B 75 3R R MY FESR AL
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2.1 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASISOF 21 i BHNRESEE &)
PREPARATION (continued)

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$1,706,533,000 and recorded a consolidated loss
of HK$340,209,000 (2015: HK$207,565,000) for the year
ended 31 March 2016. The directors of the Company have
taken steps to improve the Group’s liquidity and solvency
position. Based on management estimation of the future cash
flows of the Group, after taking into account: (i) a projection of
the future sales of residential properties; and (i) an expected
ability and successfully refinance interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings when falling due, if necessary, the directors
are of the opinion that the Group will be able to generate
sufficient funds to meet its financial obligations when they fall
due in the foreseeable future. Also, some related companies
have agreed to provide adequate funds for the Group to meet
its liabilities when they fall due. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a
going concern basis.

The validity of the going concern assumption on which the
consolidated financial statements are prepared is dependent
on the successful and favourable outcomes of the steps
being taken by the directors as described above.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments may have to be made to reflect the situation
that assets may need to be realised at the amounts other
than which they are currently recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position. In addition, the Group may
have to provide for further liabilities that might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities.

The operating cycle of the Group for the property
development business is the time between the acquisition
of assets for processing and their realisation in cash or cash
equivalents. Due to the nature of such business, the normal
operating cycle is longer than 12 months. The Group’s
current assets include assets (such as properties under
development) which are sold, consumed or realised as part
of the normal operating cycle for the property development
business even when they are not expected to be realised
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

A—_E-—RE=A=+—H
A& EHA ff%ﬁié@aa%ﬁﬁ
1,706,5633,0008 7T YR B =

E &5 EE1E340,209,000/8
T (=ZE—HAF:207,565,000
BIL) cARBEZERNSE
EHEARERASEE 2 RBES X
BERL - BREEEEHAEE
REE & mEN G &5 &)
RREEWHEEE 2 T8A - (i)
FEHERENER T ERKI A E
Bt BRI REMERBRE
EERALEEBEELERHNE
© - NEN R A R A5 R B H 2 B
BEE-WIIN ETEBELAAE
AERHEEZMES TAER U
EREIHBzEE-Alt A&
BN BRRCIRFELSE
EERR-

ERGAMEREZ EREE.

SEEEBR AN R TES
£RER | 48 6.2 B 3 B

T 5 -

MERBLKERRR/TEE 8
AREFRFLAE }iﬂ%ﬁFT
ﬁ%?%%%ﬁziﬁiiﬁﬁ FC B AE 45 B B %
MRAKRNR 2 BEIR - BN
AEBA LR B A EE—HE
EZRABFELHERE RENOE
FRBEEMEARBDEABE/RD
BERRBAE:

AEENERREF 2 EERD
EWBEEFMTEEZR SR
THBRECFEMmZIANER- A
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2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA.

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2010-2012 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2011-2013 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012
Cycle and 2011-2013 Cycle

These two cycles of annual improvements contain amendments to
nine standards with consequential amendments to other standards.
Among them, HKAS 24, Related party disclosures has been
amended to expand the definition of a “related party” to include
a management entity that provides key management personnel
services to the reporting entity, and to require the disclosure of the
amounts incurred for obtaining the key management personnel
services provided by the management entity. These amendments
do not have an impact on the Group’s related party disclosures as
the Group does not obtain key management personnel services
from management entities.

22 BRAFAI REEITEEBYE

EEA([FEMBREE
qll)
REFE FEEEEAUATHES
B A GE MW RGBT ER
B8 R 5 B

BB gt £
F19 2 7]

RIEHEFGT 8 R (0

EEMBRE F-FEESF-F
RRZBY  EEEEABRERNZER
e
BRMERE F--FE-F-=F
RUZBT  EHEBURRERNZEE

2

BRIXAEN RAFERBEE
MBHREEN ZETELEHAEER
FEMBEFE ZHMBRIALMKRR
SRUETHEREME 2 WEE RS
RERNTE-

“E-EEECE-"FENRK
—E-—FE_Z--FENE
M BREER 2 FERE

HRBHFEREIERBENRER 2
AIREHEMEAZBEREERT K
o BRREUNF24RHEAL
KEIS TR FABTBEEA
TIZERERABHEREHIZEE
AERBTHERERBZEEZER X
ERBRBERESERERBRM I EE
EEABREMELENER - ARAK
SEYEESEREREHRZIEE
BABRY REZFEILEHAE
BrEAEATRBEERTE-



Notes to Financial Statements

Hr 55 #R R B 5

31 March 2016
—T-REF=ZA=+—H

2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

The Group early adopted the following amendments in the annual
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2015:

Amendments to HKFRS 2
included in Annual
Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 3
included in Annual
Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 13
included in Annual
Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 1
included in Annual
Improvements to
HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

Definition of Vesting Condition

Accounting for Contingent
Consideration in a Business
Combination

Short-term Receivables and
Payables

Meaning of Effective HKFRSs
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive
rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses.

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over
its management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale). Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted
for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date
fair values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the
cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment
is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s
share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss
relating to the investment (see notes 2.3(c) and (j)). Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any
impairment losses for the year and the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of
the investment under the equity method together with the
Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or vice versa, retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or
loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former investee at the date when significant influence is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in associates are stated at cost less impairment losses.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 Incomes Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be
initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured
at their fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in
another HKFRS.

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and included as part of the consideration transferred in
a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the
corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

23 FESHHERE (&)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement
is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates in accordance with HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, with
the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is remeasured to its acquisition date fair value and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where
such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were
disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that
date.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently whenever
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If some
or all of the goodwill allocated to a cash-generating unit was
acquired in a business combination during the current annual
period, that unit shall be tested for impairment before the
end of the current annual period. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to
the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

The Group’s policies for investments in equity securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries and associates, are as
follows:

Investments in equity securities are initially stated at fair value,
which is their transaction price unless it is determined that
the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction
price and that fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an
active market for an identical asset or liability or based on
a valuation technique that uses only data from observable
markets. Cost includes attributable transaction costs, except
where indicated otherwise below. These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification:

Investments in securities which do not fall into the above
category are classified as available-for-sale securities. At the
end of each reporting period the fair value is remeasured,
with any resultant gain or loss being recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity
in the investment revaluation reserve. As an exception to this,
investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted
price in an active market for an identical instrument and
whose fair value cannot otherwise be reliably measured are
recognised in the statement of financial position at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2.3())(i)).

When the investments are derecognised or impaired, the
cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is reclassified to
profit or loss. Investments are recognised/derecognised on
the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the investments
or they expire.

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses (see note 2.3(j)). The cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended use.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates
them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease
terms and 20% to 25%

Office equipment 15% to 33'/3%
Furniture and fixtures 15% to 20%
Motor vehicles 20%-25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 23 FESTTHERME (&)
POLICIES (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any fii 40 % - BB & &% 1% 15 E BiE
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon NP HERZERMEZT IR EE
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected ok TEHER A 12 {F F 3k Hj E%1E B
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or NEHEREERN 2= - Bl &4 18
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss REMIBEE NZEEKRIER
and other comprehensive income in the year the asset FEERKEMEERRRE
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales AR ZEAEERRERE T
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset. EHAEELEMERIBFHEAER
HEZZER-

Properties, plant and equipment in the course of construction REEE HESITHRRASREZE
for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried B BB MR & K AR
at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes EAEERBAEBEYER- KA
professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs PREEXERA R (REERKE
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. EMs ) BBEASE 2 ST BRK
Such properties, plant and equipment are classified to the BRAEBRACBEKREA-B@Y
appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment ¥ HEMKZHENE T KA
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation EARKSEAYE BEER

of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, HrEERR ZEEELNE
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. EERHEMYEEERR RE

ENERTERAERMABINE -

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings KREWMETDEFERDES BA
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, NS EAREEZ T RIEF
rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or - MIEAEEESHERTR
services or for administrative purposes, or for sale in the KRG ITEHAE  KEBTEE
ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured HREFEHES LEMEND
initially at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment A ARG - R P ERE 1%
properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation BEWE TR AR REHTE R AE
and provision for any impairment in value. Depreciation is R EEEY R - 37 & A RNME &
calculated on the straight-line basis over the expected useful A RAFEHRNNEFETHE - 5t
life. The principal expected useful life for this purpose are as mE EEEFAUEAEHN
follows: N

Building 40 years ’F 404
Improvements 5 years ®1E 5%
Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an REILEREMEZAWER
investment property are recognised in the consolidated B TR MEREEFEZHRE
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in BakEM2EREHREA T

the year of the retirement or disposal. TR o
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset
or assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment
or a series of payments. Such a determination is made based
on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of

a lease.

()  Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets held by the Group under leases which transfer
to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as being held under finance
leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group
are classified as operating leases, with the following
exceptions:

property held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property is classified as an investment property
on a property-by-property basis and, if classified
as investment property, is accounted for as if held
under a finance lease; and

land held for own use under an operating lease,
the fair value of which cannot be measured
separately from the fair value of a building situated
thereon at the inception of the lease, is accounted
for as being held under a finance lease, unless
the building is also clearly held under an operating
lease. For these purposes, the inception of the
lease is the time that the lease was first entered
into by the Group, or taken over from the previous
lessee.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(i)

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged
to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease
incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as
an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged as expenses in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land for own use

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element
as a finance or an operating lease separately based on
the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of each element
have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear
that both elements are operating leases in which case
the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including
any lumpsum upfront payments) are allocated between
the land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the
land element and building element of the lease at the
inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as “prepaid land lease payments” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the
land and building elements, the entire lease is generally
classified as a finance lease and accounted for as
property, plant and equipment.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise construction costs,
borrowing costs, professional fees, payments for land use
rights and other costs directly attributable to such properties
incurred during the development period.

Sales deposits and instalments received in respect of the pre-
sale of properties under development prior to completion of
the development are included in current liabilities.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets as the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete within the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to completed properties held for sales.

Completed properties held for sales are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
by an apportionment of the total land and buildings costs
attributable to unsold properties. Net realisable value is
estimated by the directors based on the prevailing market
prices, on an individual property basis.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables

Investments in equity securities and other current
and non-current receivables that are stated at cost or
amortised cost or are classified as available-for-sale
securities are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to determine whether there is objective evidence
of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable data that comes to the attention
of the Group about one or more of the following loss
events:

= significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

= it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and

= significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (continued)
If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

- For investments in associates accounted for
under the equity method in the consolidated
financial statements (see note 2.3(b)), the
impairment loss is measured by comparing the
recoverable amount of the investment with its
carrying amount in accordance with note 2.3().
The impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount in accordance
with note 2.3(j).

- For unquoted equity securities carried at cost,
the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the financial
asset and the estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the current market rate of return
for a similar financial asset where the effect of
discounting is material. Impairment losses for
equity securities carried at cost are not reversed.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (continued)

For trade receivables and other current
receivables and other financial assets carried at
amortised cost, the impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition of
these assets), where the effect of discounting is
material. This assessment is made collectively
where these financial assets share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due status,
and have not been individually assessed as
impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets
which are assessed for impairment collectively are
based on historical loss experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics similar to the collective

group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be linked
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss
shall not result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (continued)

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade debtors, whose
recovery is considered doubtful but not remote. In
this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts
are recorded using an allowance account. When the
Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount
considered irrecoverable is written off against trade
debtors directly and any amounts held in the allowance
account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to the
allowance account are reversed against the allowance
account. Other changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
directly are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets may be impaired
or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;
- investment properties;

- prepaid land lease payments;
- goodwill; and

- investments in subsidiaries and associates in the
Company’s statement of financial position.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)  Impairment of other assets (continued)
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or group of units) and then, to
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying amount of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i

(i)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

- Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group
is required to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting,
in respect of the first six months of the financial year.
At the end of the interim period, the Group applies
the same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see
notes 2.3())(ijand(ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill, available-for-sale equity securities
and unquoted equity securities carried at cost are
not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case
even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been
recognised had the impairment been assessed only at
the end of the financial year to which the interim period
relates. Consequently, if the fair value of an available-
for-sale equity security increases in the remainder of the
annual period, or in any other period subsequently, the
increase is recognised in other comprehensive income
and not profit or loss.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 23 FESTTHERME (&)
POLICIES (continued)

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 58 DARK AR K A # 3R F E 2 WK
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net BUR AN E SR EEE
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any FoAEIREENBEMGTERE
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal. BAEMTREREERELE ZH
FT R AR o

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those EEHGEER ZEFECERE
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which EREEREBERA ZBHAER
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write- B - 15 S MR E A #35F
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of BENEENMETEBEESEL
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the WWOR K EE 2 BARER R
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any o (E A 17 & MR B Bl & 2 T i
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the RREESERD W EE %
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period FHHEERAERX -

in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair JE M8 AR R B HL At FE M R TR S 4R A
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the FERER  BEEEA B EEG
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment of SR S P SN HNBR R ER R B E 5T
doubtful debts, except where the receivables are interest-free R RN BEELGIAREBRE
loans made to related parties without any fixed repayment EBRHzRBREBEERFHZE
terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In AT 2 R B IEE N BIBR AN o
such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less allowance EZIENT « FEWEIRE AR R
for impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2.3())(i)). IRRER A BR (R FE2.3())))
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair SFEEERVIZAFERELRS
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to AR - RV ZHERE 5 EE
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated ERE AR - MR
at amortised cost with any difference between the amount SHEENEERERNRERNER
initially recognised and redemption value being recognised ZEOE E =58 ERERE
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together RAMERFAZ £ RERREES
with any interest and fees payable, using the effective interest BRo

method.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

()  Contingent liabilities assumed in business

combinations

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination which are present obligations at the
date of acquisition are initially recognised at fair value,
provided the fair value can be reliably measured.
After their initial recognition at fair value, such
contingent liabilities are recognised at the higher of
the amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation where appropriate, and the amount
that would be determined in accordance with note
2.3(p)(ii). Contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination that cannot be reliably fair valued or were
not present obligations at the date of acquisition are
disclosed in accordance with note 2.3(p)(ii).
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i

Other provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has
a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax
are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax loses and
unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal of
existing taxable temporary differences, provided that those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward.
The same criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they
relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities are those temporary differences arising from
goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business combination),
and temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences,
unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 23 FESTTHERME (&)

POLICIES (continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised.
Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net
basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

Government grants are recognised at fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant
relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

U

(i)

(i)

from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains
neither managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold;

from the sale of properties, when the risks and
rewards of the ownership of properties are transferred
to the purchasers, which is when the construction
of the relevant properties has been completed and
the properties have been delivered to the purchasers
pursuant to the sales agreement, and the collectability
of related receivables is reasonably assured;

rental income from properties, in the period in which the
properties are let and on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms;

management fee income, on an accrual basis and
recognised when the services are rendered; and

interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are
given in note 34 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expenses, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 23 FESTTHEME (&)

POLICIES (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the
date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are
treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in central pension
schemes operated by the local municipal governments.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension
schemes. The contributions are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension schemes.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate
ranging between 11.62% and 11.95% has been applied to
the expenditure on the individual assets.

Convertible notes that contain an equity
component

Convertible notes that can be converted to equity share
capital at the option of the holder, where the number
of shares that would be issued on conversion and the
value of the consideration that would be received at
that time do not vary, are accounted for as compound
financial instruments which contain both a liability
component and an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible notes is measured as the present value of
the future interest and principal payments, discounted
at the market rate of interest applicable at the time of
initial recognition to similar liabilities that do not have
a conversion option. Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as the liability component
is recognised as the equity component. Transaction
costs that relate to the issue of a compound financial
instrument are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in
profit or loss on the liability component is calculated
using the effective interest method. The equity
component is recognised in the convertible notes
reserve until either the note is converted or redeemed.

—E-AEEHR WETERREARAT 109

23 FE

L=
= E
&

SHBERE (8)

TABEEARBERES

%é%%*ﬁﬂﬁ%Z%ﬁﬁ

BN F11.62%K11.95% 2 &
ALt R &

BEREHI ZATBRKRE
®
ABMEREBEAZEE AR
BERASEaRAN £8
BESETZIROEE R
HEBRZzZRKEEBETER
o WIERERERD R
oMo cEREMTA
N -

RO BERE Al RRE
BZEBEISDBRNAL EBR
REZREBBEVRER
REA2mHAEE 2
RERF| B kA& 5 E 5T
E-EABEVEEREE
EH D ZBEZ TS HE

CHERABERIED - ﬁ%%
ﬁ%A%@IEZ*%W
NIZFTBRE DR F 5
Méﬁ%&%mﬂn

BER D E KRB HK A
SRR - A EMONEER
ﬁmZﬂ L X 1R B R A
AR %x*‘#TW
s ﬁﬁﬁ$ﬁ
ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%L@i%@ﬁ
ke



110

Richly Field China Development Limited

Annual Report 2016

Notes to Financial Statements
B F5 3R = M5

31 March 2016
—ET-RFE=ZA=+—H

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(i

Convertible notes that contain an equity
component (continued)

If the note is converted, the convertible notes reserve,
together with the carrying amount of the liability
component at the time of conversion, is transferred
to share capital and share premium as consideration
for the shares issued. If the note is redeemed, the
convertible notes reserve is released directly to retained
profits.

Other convertible notes
Convertible notes which do not contain an equity
component are accounted for as follows:

At initial recognition the derivative component of
the convertible notes is measured at fair value and
presented as part of derivative financial instruments
(note 2.3(x)). Any excess of proceeds over the amount
initially recognised as the derivative component is
recognised as the liability component. Transaction
costs that relate to the issue of the convertible note are
allocated to the liability and derivative components in
proportion to the allocation of proceeds. The portion of
the transaction costs relating to the liability component
is recognised initially as part of the liability. The portion
relating to the derivative component is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The derivative component is subsequently remeasured
in accordance with note 2.3(x). The liability component
is subsequently carried at amortised cost. The interest
expense recognised in profit or loss on the liability
component is calculated using the effective interest
method.

If the note is converted, the carrying amounts of the
derivative and liability components are transferred to
share capital and share premium as consideration
for the shares issued. If the note is redeemed, any
difference between the amount paid and the carrying
amounts of both components is recognised in profit or
loss.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 23 FESTTHERME (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair
value. At the end of each reporting period the fair value is
remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, except where the
derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge accounting or hedge
the net investment in a foreign operation, in which case
recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the
nature of the item being hedged.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilites denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
and associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and, their statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
translation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 23 FESTTHEME (&)
POLICIES (continued)

(z) Related parties 2 BES
(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is (@ WM—&ATHFAETI K
related to the Group if that person: Bz AL iR
rEEBE@BEE:
()  has control or joint control over the Group; (i) =k HEIEH AR E
;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAEBEEAFE
VA=

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of (i) AAEERAE

the Group or the Group’s parent. RAIZEEZEERBERK
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) WM—REEAFE FTINER
conditions applies: B AZERBEASES

B

()  The entity and the Group are members of the () ZERBREASEEEFR
same group (which means that each parent, — 5B 2K ERQA
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the (Bs82E - -WBA
others). EIAGEY NG

b2 A B B -

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the i)y —HMEBRS —EB
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a ZHE RN HAEE D
member of a group of which the other entity is a X (HE—EBAEK
member). BRaAl 2 & B ETK

=N IR N i
AENE)-

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third (i) MEEEBHRR—F

party. —HRZAEERE
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

(continued)

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v}  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in ().

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Classification between investment properties and owner
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or leased
out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the
portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately,
the property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an
individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services
are so significant that a property does not qualify as an investment
property.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Operating leases and finance leases — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on
an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that
it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties which are leased out on operating leases. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of
the arrangements, that it transfers substantially all the rewards and
risks incidental to ownership of the properties which are leased out
on finance leases.

Contingent liabilities of the delay in project construction
works

Certain projects’ construction work delayed compared with the
original time schedule agreed with local government due to various
reasons. The Group’s management determines the contingent
liability in relation to the penalty arisen from the delay in completion
of construction. The determination requires significant judgment. In
making this judgement, the management evaluated the possibility
of penalty happened. The management reassesses the contingent
liability at the end of each reporting period and no contingent liability
was considered as at 31 March 2016. For details, please refer to
note 37 to the financial statements.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31
March 2016 was HK$120,085,000 (2015: HK$125,786,000). For
details, please refer to note 19 to the financial statements.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Net realisable value of properties under development and
completed properties held for sales

Properties under development and completed properties held for
sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The
estimated net realisable value is the estimated selling price less
selling expenses and the estimated cost of completion.

The Group’s management reviews the properties under
development and completed properties held for sales periodically
and carries out an impairment review on a project-by-project basis
at each financial year end. The budget cost and development
progress of the project is reviewed by the Group on a regular basis
and adjusted as appropriate. Should the actual cost differs from
the budget cost, such difference will impact the accuracy of cost of
properties held for sales.

Impairment of investment properties and prepaid land
lease payments

The Group adopts the cost model for subsequent measurement
of investment properties and prepaid land lease payments.
Management performs review for impairment of investment
properties and prepaid land lease payments whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of
investment properties and prepaid land lease payments may not be
recoverable. In such case, the recoverable amounts of investment
properties and prepaid land lease payments have been determined
based on the value-in-use method. For the purpose of assessing
impairment, management had grouped investment properties
and prepaid land lease payments at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash-generating units. The value-
in-use calculations require the use of significant estimates and
assumptions on the projections of cash flows from the continuous
use of investment properties.

Impairment loss on other receivables

In determining whether impairment loss on other receivables is
required, the Group takes into consideration the aging status and
the likelihood of collection. Following the identification of doubtful
debts, the Group’s responsible personnel discusses with the
relevant debtors and reports to management on the recoverability.
Impairment loss is only made for receivables that are unlikely to be
collected.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period. Non
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. When value
in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating
unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.

Current tax and deferred tax assets

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of
transactions in accordance with the prevailing tax regulations and
makes tax provision accordingly. However, judgement is required
in determining the Group’s provision for income taxes as there
are many transactions and calculations of which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
on the income tax and deferred tax provision in the periods in
which such determination is made. The carrying amount of income
tax payable, carried as a liability in the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2016 was HK$133,326,000
(2015: HK$129,602,000).

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. There was no deferred tax recognised with respect
to tax losses at 31 March 2016 (2015: Nil). The amount of
unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2016 was HK$327,281,000
(2015: HK$297,043,000). Further details are contained in note 11
to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Useful lives of depreciable assets

The Group’s management exercises its judgement in estimating
the useful lives of the depreciable assets. The estimated useful lives
reflect management’s estimate of the periods the Group intends to
derive future economic benefits from the use of these assets.

The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties in accordance with the accounting policies
stated in note 2.3 to the financial statements. The net carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment and investment
properties are disclosed in notes 14 and 15 to the financial
statements, respectively.

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value
Management reviews the aging analysis of inventories of the
Group at the end of each reporting period, and makes provision
for inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for sale.
The assessment of the provision amount required involves
management judgements and estimates. Where the actual
outcome or expectation in future is different from the original
estimate, such differences will have an impact on the carrying value
of the inventories and provision charge/write-back in the period in
which the estimate has been changed. In addition, physical counts
on all inventories are carried out on a periodical basis in order to
determine whether provision needs to be made in respect of any
obsolete inventories identified. The Group carries out an inventory
review at the end of each reporting period and makes provision
against obsolete and slow-moving items. Management reassesses
the estimation at the end of each reporting period. The directors
of the Company are satisfied that sufficient provision on obsolete
and slow-moving inventories has been made in the consolidated
financial statements.

3.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Over 90% of the Group'’s revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities
are generated from the Group’s property development projects
in Changsha, Hunan Province (the “Changsha Project”) and
Qinhuangdao of Hebei Province (the “Qinhuangdao Project”) in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The chief executive
officer (the chief operating decision maker) makes decisions about
resources allocation and assesses performance of the Group
based on the operating results from and financial position of these
business activities. Accordingly, the chief executive officer is of the
opinion that the Changsha Project and Qinhuangdao Project in the
PRC is a single reportable operating segment of the Group.

An analysis of the Group’s revenues from external customers for
each group of similar products and services is disclosed in note 5
to the financial statements.

The Group’s revenue from external customers is derived solely from
its operations in the PRC, and all non-current assets (other than
financial assets) of the Group are located in the PRC.

During the year, the Group had no transactions with external
customer which individually contributed over 10% to the Group’s
total revenue (2015: Nil).

REVENUE

Revenue represents gross proceeds from the sale of properties,
net of business tax and other sales related taxes from the sale of
properties; the net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances
for returns and trade discounts; gross rental income received and
receivable from investment properties and management fee income
during the year.
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REVENUE (continued)

5. W (®)

AEBKZZ AT

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

2016 2015
—E-REF —ZET—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET

Revenue U 2=
Sales of properties LES TN 73,138 38,696
Sales of fashion wears and accessories BREE M AR A SH & 3,750 1,895
Gross rental income He A8z 16,346 13,505
Management fee income BEEUA 2,633 =
95,867 54,096

OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET INCOME 6. HtW AR EMRFEE

2016 2015
—E-NE —E—RE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B FTERT T
Other revenue Hi A
Interest income on bank deposits RITIF A B YA 107 389
Other interest income E A S A (@) 111 4,337
Total interest income on WL A EF ABE 2
financial assets not at fair value S REE BB
through profit or loss 218 4,726
Net exchange gain b H s 5 R 147 13
Others HAth 1,293 1,727
1,440 1,740
1,658 6,466
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OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET INCOME 6.

(continued)

Note:

(@ During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group has recognised interest
income of HK$4,337,000 in respect of a loan to Qinhuangdao Outlets
Real Estate Co., Limited* (the “Qinhuangdao Outlets”), a former associate
of the Company and became the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
upon completion of the acquisition on 1 September 2014 (see note 36).

Aty W A R B W 25 88 (4)

P &E -

@ BEZZT—AF=A=+—HLEFE"
AEBE B RAD R AT AR R
REZZFE—WMFNA—BEXEBRK A
AEE2EWBE AR (RHF36) 2%
EERBRNBEXERAR([RES
BEHHT ] ) IR B K HERF B WA
4,337,000 7T °

FINANCE COSTS 7. MEEHA
An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: REB s BMEBRSTAT :
2016 2015
—E-RE —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
Interest on bank and other loans RITREMEKFE 233,225 208,437
Interest on convertible notes payable FERT AT R AR AR A S 2,710 =
Total interest expenses on financial liabilities I 3FiR A FEF A 2
not at fair value through profit or loss cRIBECNERAZ R 235,935 208,437
Less: Amount capitalised in the cost of W EREBREENKA
qualifying assets BEXRb &8 (193,369) (187,897)
42,566 20,540

The capitalisation rates used to determine the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation for the years ended 31 March 2016

was 11.95% (2015: 11.62%).

HE-_Z—XR"NF=A=+—HItF
E BRETABENCEERANESE
ZERIE R AB11.95% (—FE—H
F£:11.62%) °



8.

Notes to Financial Statements

Hrk 55 # R B 5

31 March 2016
—F-~F=A=+—~

“E-AEFH BHAFEBRARAFE 123

LOSS BEFORE TAX 8. KRBiIATEE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): AEEBRBEAMBEENR,(GFA)
5% I8 :
2016 2015
—EB-AF —ZET—hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
=g FExT T T
(@)  Staff costs: @@ BIfA:
Contributions to defined FE R FURIAKRET B 5K
contribution retirement plans 2,286 4,777
Salaries, wages and e TERHAMBET
other benefits 19,281 36,570
21,567 41,347
(b)  Other items: (o) EHMIEA:
Cost of goods sold** EHE MR AN 95,817 44,656
Cost of services provided? B 1R AR 75 A A 2,891 1,353
Depreciation of property, Y WE MR EITE
plant and equipment 14 4,241 4,826
Depreciation of BEMETE
investment properties* 15 29,488 14,380
Impairment loss on prepaid land AN LTHEERZ
lease payments BB 16 34,000 -
Impairment loss on investment S E Y 2R EEE
properties 15 100,634 -
Provision for compensation B E o B 31 3,225 4,727
(Reversal)/Write-down of (%@, MWriFE
inventories to net 0] #IRFE
realisable value® 22 (2,530) 17,967
Amortisation of prepaid land TR b & R i
lease payments* 16 31,363 12,793
Auditors’ remuneration =% ERD BN & 1,090 2,049
Minimum lease payments under AT HREFT 2 &EEHE
operating leases in respect of EET 2 &EHEER
land and buildings 1,084 185

This amount is included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Cost of goods sold includes HK$5,574,000 (2015: HK$4,561,000)
relating to amortisation of prepaid land lease payments which amount is
also included in the total amounts disclosed separately above.

ZeREt AGREBERAMEEKER
RZ [HERA] Ao

EHEYRABEEM LB ER
Z #$55,574,0008 t (T —H
44,561,000 70) ' 2 & BN &t
AEXEBWEZHE-
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) and Section 383(1) of the Hong Kong

EERTHRAR M=

BEEEHEIZAMAERAR ([HR
Frl)Es EmaEA ([ EWHEA]) &
EARNAMEH E383(1) &R A A (#
BESENEER) KO E2HHEE

Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of ERTHREARFTFAMS T :
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, are as follows:
2016 2015
—E-NE —E—hE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT TABT
Fees we 3,356 3,092
Other emoluments: He :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e ERREY = 717 540
Pension scheme contributions ROREFET B X 45 48
762 588
4,118 3,680

During prior years, certain directors were granted share options,
in respect of their services to the Group, under the share option
scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out in note
34 to the financial statements. The fair value of these options, which
has been recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the
financial statements for the current year is included in the above
directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration disclosures.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration during the year (2015: Nil).

BEFE BREARRBRESS
ETEZTRAAANKEREHENRS ME
REBERE GRE - PHFBARYH
BERMEM - WBECERBHAER
Bak o EBEREQAFE ERER
FTHERAE HFAARNEFHBEHRR
ZEBRNMEBREENLEZRITRAE
BME 2 WEF -

FA BEEEHEXRBERELM
e (ZF—HF:E)-
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

TE2-REFR METEBRERLA 125

9. EERTTHARZME &

@ BMUFHATES

FARBLFRTESFINZBE

the year are as follows: ONE
2016 2015
—E—XRE —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen REHR L 199 199
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David BEKE A 199 199
Mr. Xu Jinghong SRR A 199 199
597 597

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2015: Nil).

FATEABILIFATEETINHE
e (ZT—HF ) -
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors

Annual Report 2016

9. EERTHHARBZHME &

(b) BITES FHUTESRT

and the chief executive AR
Salaries,
allowances
and Pension
benefits in scheme Total
Fees kind contributions remuneration
£ R 1.1 BHREF
ik REWFIR TR MemE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
2016 NS
Chief executive and THREFHITES:
executive directors:
Mr. Xin Songtao (Re-designated  {5/ERA (RZE—~F
on 15 January 2016) —A+HHAD) 239 - 7 246
Mr. Ma Jun (Re-designated BEEE(RZS—RE
on 15 January 2016) —A+HEHAT) 848 504 14 1,366
Executive directors: WiTES:
Mr. Li Yi Feng LA 720 120 - 840
Mr. Xin Songtao (Re-designated  {5/ERA (RZE—1F
on 15 January 2016) —A+HHAD 760 93 22 875
2,567 7 43 3,327
Non-executive directors: FHITES:
Mr. Ma Jun (Re-designated BSEEE(RZE—RF
on 15 January 2016) —A+HEAT) 24 - 26
Mr. Chen Wei BRELE 168 - 168
2,759 7 45 3,521
2015 I
Chief executive and THBEFHITES:
executive director:
Mr. Ma Jun BELE 1,200 25 17 1,242
Executive directors: HIES:
Mr. Wong Kin Fai HEEALE (RZE—NF 66 - 1 67
(Resigned on 23 April 2014)  MA-+=H&(T
Mr. Li Yi Feng EEAE (RZE—HE 480 240 = 720
(Appointed on 8 July 2014) +ANBEZT)
Mr. Xin Songtao EIERE (RZE—IF 581 275 30 886
(Appointed on 8 July 2014) tANBEZE)
2,327 540 48 2,915
Non-executive director; FHRITEE:
Mr. Chen Wei BRELTE 168 - - 168
2,495 540 48 3,083
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included two
directors and the chief executive (2015: two directors and the chief
executive), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two
(2015: two) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company are as follows:

“E-AEFH BHATFEBRARXFE 127

10.

hERaHHNES
FREARGHMERS BERE
EFR-AZTRAHR(ZFT—AF:
MAEFR—ATHAR) H#M
FHERR EXHEY - F 7 KBTS
SE-RF WA RELAAES
TRIETT B H 2 5 15 % B 1B B 2 % B
HEmT

2016 2015

—E—-RE —E—hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT T T

Salaries and other emoluments e hEMNe 1,360 1,288
Pension scheme contributions RIRE R 2R 18 18
1,378 1,306

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is as
follows:

FE T REZIFES RIFTHAE
BemRHMEE Z ABMT :

No. of individuals

AE
2016 2015
—E—-RE —E—hHF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000 7T 2 2
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11.

For the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC, PRC
enterprise income tax is calculated at the rate of 25% (2015: 25%).

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the
year ended 31 March 2016 as the Group did not generate any
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year (2015: Nil).
Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at
the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the
Group operates.

FrEHp X
B SR B R BT 2 YO )

CHRBESEMESRIDERE25%
(_? HE:26% )T E -
REFAREE(ZE—HE B)ES

76 A A ] R AR B s A B R
RBE_T-—R"F=A=+—HI*F
BzERENEHTIRER LMy
ZERABGEMN 2 RAEYNBRAEEL S
ZER REEBZRITHERGE-

2016 2015
—B-AF —hf
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT TAT

Current tax BN AR5 18

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (‘EIT”)

FRISEMAEN ([REME

)

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss at
applicable tax rates:

BERBREAEZH AR EGE
B2k

2016 2015
—E-XRE —T—AHF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FExT T T

Loss before tax MRELRIEE (340,209) (207,565)
Notional tax on loss before tax, BREATEIB 2 BRI

calculated at the rates applicable to losses & A BMBIR 2 EEERZ

in the countries concerned MEGTHE (64,028) (47,131)
Tax effect of share of results attributable to B & A Bl fE(h ¥ 4E 2 RS 2

associates 155 1,466
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARBBRAZ R GHE (2,759) (3,369)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses N 2 RS 2 36,205 4,374
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMBEEB MG E 30,427 44,660

REFZIBHAX

Income tax expense for the year
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB259,992,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$327,281,000)
(2015: RMB235,282,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$297,043,000)) that will expire in one to five years for offsetting
against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

(@)

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$340,209,000
(2015: HK$207,565,000) and the weighted average number
of 11,140,159,018 ordinary shares (2015: 9,732,493,780
ordinary shares (restated)) in issue during the year, calculated
as follows:

—E-AEFH BAFEBRARXF 129

11.

12.

EHER (&)

ANEBEBE PR HRMEL-FEESIRE
AR #259,0092,0007 (HHER A
327,281,000 L) (Z & — R F:
AR #235,282,0007T (MHERH
297,043,000 ) ) R —Z=2RHF
A JE R DA A 1 4 8H oK 2R R R s A o
HRZEEEHEHRSEERE —REHE
ZHBRARESL WRATKA B

JERR Bl i A AT LK S B A B 48 0
AERZEEEBREEREEE -

ARAEBEEREARGSE
IR & 1R

@ BRELXEE

BRERNEBBDBEARRQAE
A AEEEI1E340,209,00078 7T
(Z=Z—F % :207,565,000/
L) RAFEDETEEAR IR
F 19 E11,140,159,0180% ( =
T — H4:9,732,493,780/% &
B (KEEY) )FTEWDT -

2016 2015
—E-REF —T—AHF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FETT
Loss attributable to owners of ARNRER AEGEE
the Company (340,209) (207,565)
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12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

12. X PR EERBEEARGSE

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE RE#E (#)
COMPANY (continued)
(@) Basic loss per share (continued) () BREFRESE(®)
2016 2015
—E—-RE —E—hF
(Restated)
(F&E7))
Weighted average number of w8 (EA)
ordinary shares (basic) 11,140,159,018 9,732,493,780

The weighted average number of shares used in the
calculation of basic loss per share for the year has
been adjusted for the shares issued under open offer of
2,225,194,715 shares (2015: 817,529,477 shares).

The number of ordinary shares for the year ended 31 March
2015 for the purpose of calculating basic loss per share has
been adjusted for the open offer of one offer share for every
three shares which become effective on 11 August 2015. As
a consequence, the amount of basic loss per share for the
year ended 31 March 2015 has been restated from HK2.33
cents to HK2.13 cents.

Diluted loss per share

For the year ended 31 March 2016, diluted loss per share
do not include the effect of the convertible notes since their
assumed conversion had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic
loss per share.

For the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015, the
computation of diluted loss per share did not assume the
exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options as the
exercise price of these options were higher than the average
market price of shares.

13. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividends in
respect of the year ended 31 March 2016 (2015: Nil).

13.

BRETEFRNSRERNBRZERG
MEFHHE R ARBEEE T
22225194, 7150 (=T — A &F:
817,529,4778% ) 15 1E H #A%&

BRAEEREABEZHE-F
—hEZA=Z+—HULEEZER
BEEERRN —E—HENR+—
ARz & =R (HERE—IRERE
Bz ARBEEELFHE Bt
HEZT-—RF=A=t1+—HIE
B2 EBREAEEESFED B2.33%5
IIEF) A2.13% 1l -

FREFEHER
BE_Z-ARF=ZA=t+—HL
FE ARNEHRAIBEERHE
BREXNEBIRES R#ETUE K
BEREFERYTE A REE
SHTE-

HE_Z— "R —HF=
A=+—HBLFE FETREH
SEEB BT EBRBRITERD A E R
TEcERE RARZEER
BZIEESRRNDFEEME-

iR =

EETEZARBE_T—RF=
S+t BLEFERZBEAMRE (=

A

—hFE)-
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ¥ - BEREX®E

Leasehold Office  Furniture and Motor
Buildings  improvements equipment fixtures vehicles Total
BF HENEEE PR GARBTEE RE g
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
HisE THx TBx FhEL S THx FHx
31 March 2016 —8-xf=f=t+-8
At 1 April 2015: WZE-HEMA-AR:
Cost KA 39,845 935 6,769 1,135 7,258 55,942
Accumulated depreciation 2itE (1,992 (738) (3,842 (416) (5,280) (12,268)
Net carrying amount REFE 37,853 197 2,927 719 1,978 43,674
At 1 April 2015, net of WZE-HEMA-H"
accumulated depreciation MR 2FE 37,853 197 2,921 719 1,978 43,674
Additions RE - - 361 209 - 570
Depreciation provided during the year ~ ERTEEE 8 (1,952) (127) (1,196) (274) (692) (4,241)
Exchange realignment 5 (1,821) Ul (72) (62) (251) 2,213
At 31 March 2016, net of R=E-A~E=Zf=+-H"
accumulated depreciation MR Z5E 34,080 63 2,020 502 1,035 37,790
At 31 March 2016: WZE-REZf=+-H:
Cost KA 37,877 889 6,644 1,285 6,918 53,613
Accumulated depreciation 2ithe (3,797) (826) (4,624) (693) (5,883) (15,823)
Net carrying amount FHFE 34,080 63 2,020 592 1,035 37,790
31 March 2015 —2-Ff=f=1+-H
At 1 April 2014: RZE-MENA-R:
Cost AR - 934 4,438 572 6,033 11,977
Accumulated depreciation 2ithe - (592) 2,325) (225) (4,452) (7,594)
Net carrying amount REFE - 342 2,113 347 1,581 4,383
At 1 April 2014, net of RZE-MENA-R-
accumulated depreciation MR Z5E - 342 2,113 347 1,581 4,383
Additions RE - - 2,310 562 1,259 4131
Step acquisition from an associate o~ KEE A RIZHBEAFZ
a subsidiary AHWE 36 - - 7 - 143 150
Transfer from properties BERNEER
under development 39,820 - - - - 39,820
Disposal HeE - - = = (16) (16)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ FRTERE 8 (1,991) (146) (1,506) (191) (992) (4,826)
Exchange realignment B A% 24 1 3 1 3 32
At 31 March 2015, net of R-E-RE=A=t-H"
accumulated depreciation MR R5E 37,853 197 2,927 719 1,978 43674
At 31 March 2015: W-E-RE=f=1+-H:
Cost KA 39,845 935 6,769 1,135 7,258 55,942
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (1.992) (738) (3,842) 416) (5,280) (12,268)
Net carrying amount REFE 37,853 197 2,927 719 1,978 43,674
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. BEYH*

Under
Completed  construction Totgl
[=5;-324 et
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 3 FTHERT FTET FER
31 March 2016 —E-A¥=A=t+—-H
At 1 April 2015: R-T—AFMA—B:
Cost RA 703,656 66,261 769,917
Accumulated depreciation and R ERRBE
impairment (20,112) - (20,112)
Net carrying amount REFE 683,544 66,261 749,805
At 1 April 2015, net of accumulated X —Z—HEMA—H -
depreciation and impairment R 25T E KRE 683,544 66,261 749,805
Additions 53%% . 27,094 2,623 29,717
Impairment loss BEEE (100,634) - (100,634)
Depreciation provided during FNFTERE
the year 8 (29,488) - (29,488)
Exchange realignment P 5 FAE (31,165) (128) (31,293)
At 31 March 2016 RZZE—RF
—A=+—8H 549,351 68,756 618,107
At 31 March 2016: RZT—RF
=A=t+—8:
Cost x o 730,750 68,756 799,506
Accumulated depreciation and 2 IE REE
impairment (181,399) - (181,399)
Net carrying amount BRHEFE 549,351 68,756 618,107
31 March 2015 —E-R¥=A=t+—H
At 1 April 2014: R-ZE—MEMA—H:
Cost A 119,843 377,412 497,255
Accumulated depreciation and R IE REE
impairment (6,228) - (6,228)
Net carrying amount REFE 113,615 377,412 491,027
At 1 April 2014, net of accumulated 7 —Z—PI%MA—H -
depreciation and impairment Mk 25t E RRE 113,615 377,412 491,027
Additions NE = 268,936 268,936
Transfer s 583,813 (683,813) -
Depreciation provided during FRITERE
the year R 8 (14,380) = (14,380)
Exchange realignment P& 5 496 3,726 4,222
At 31 March 2015 RZZE—40%F
=A=+—H 683,544 66,261 749,805
At 31 March 2015: RZZE—NF
=A=t+—8:
Cost A 703,656 66,261 769,917
Accumulated depreciation and 2T ERRE
impairment (20,112) = (20,112)
Net carrying amount RENFE 683,544 66,261 749,805
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

All of the Group’s investment properties are situated in Mainland
China.

At 31 March 2016, the above investment properties were valued at
RMB517,930,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$618,107,000)
(2015: RMB872,839,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,101,959,000)) by Avista Valuation Advisory Limited,
independent firm of professionally qualified valuers. The investment
properties are leased to third parties under operating leases, further
summary details of which are included in note 38(a) to the financial
statements.

At 31 March 2016, the Group’s investment properties with a net
carrying amount of HK$109,688,000 (2015: HK$115,324,000)
were pledged to secure certain bank loans of the Group (note 29).

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the board of directors
aware that the increase in rental income of the Group was not as
anticipated in 2016, the Group therefore performed an impairment
review of the recoverable amount related to the outlets located
in Changsha City, Hunan Province, the PRC. For the purposes of
impairment testing, investment properties located in Changsha had
been allocated to one cash-generating unit.

The recoverable amount of the relevant cash-generating unit
was determined on the basis of value in use calculations which
was higher than its fair value less costs of disposal. Value in use
calculations was based on the discount rate of approximately
7.5% and cash flow projections prepared from financial forecasts
approved by the management for the next five years. The cash-
generating unit cash flows beyond the 5-year period were
extrapolated using a growth rate of 3%.

—E-AEER WETEARREARAT 133

15. BREWZE (8

AEEZREMEFEHBURATENA
i

RZE—R"F=ZA=+—H L%
EmEHEEARYES517,930,000
7T (HER#H618,107,000% T )
(ZZE—haF: AR¥872,839,000
T (HERNA1,101,959,0008
L)) THBYEXEAERGEBEMY
EHTEBRNABRARET - REYD
(EREKEHERETE=H E—
SHBHESI N EHRERME38(a) °

R-E—RE=Z=A=+—H K&H
BR ™ % {8 5109,688,0008 T (=&
—AF 115,324,000 L) 2 & &
MECERAEEERE TRITER
Z B (H5E29) -

BE_Z-R"F=ZA=Z+—-HIF
B EXCEXZAKEE_T—RF2
He W AEMAEEDTAE it
AEBRURTEABERIT 2R
B el 2 BT W B & R AR OB E R AT e
RREANAME LREDZREY
FeokE—EREELEEFEM-

ERASELABEUZAKEEER
BEREEZFAENEZMETE A5
RERAFEREEXAK -EREET
REBAORT SRR EEE#E
ZARKRAFHBHEUMBHRZIAER
ERAFE - BEHEFHZREES
BUZREREEHINR I B RRE

= o
=
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

In performing the impairment testing, the directors of the
Company had also made reference to a valuation performed by an
independent professional valuer, Avista Valuation Advisory Limited.

Based on the assumptions applied, the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit based on value in use calculations was
approximately RMB857,587,000 (equivalent to HK$1,029,207,000)
which is below the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating
unit. Accordingly, management of the Group has determined that
impairment loss of HK$100,634,000 and HK$34,000,000 (note
16) has been recognised in investment properties and prepaid land
lease payments respectively.

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group’s investment properties:

15. REWZE (&)

RETRENAE XR2REFTE
SEBUEEGEMEAFNGENR
BRRDAFELZFE-

BEMERBZBR BeELEN
ZAkElcEBEFREETGED
B AR ¥857,587,000 (HAER
1,029,207,000% 7t ) * BIE R 48
ReEABENZEABE Al A%
EEEEEECREEWEREN
THHEERERZREBEN A
100,634,000/ Jt 534,000,000
JC (M sE16) ©

TRFINAKEBRENEZR
E'tDT%

T

2016 2015
—NE —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FExT T
Recurring fair value measurement for: T3EE 2B A ETE:
Significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) EZRIAERPGASE (F=E)
Commercial properties [ENi R ES 585,031 1,101,959

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key
input to the valuation of investment properties:

Significant

Valuation technique unobservable input
Commercial
properties

Income capitalisation Estimated rental
approach value

As at 31 March 2016, the valuation of investment properties
were based on the income approach by capitalizing the net rental
incomes receivable from the existing basis used in an open market
and discounted by projected cash flow series associated with the
properties using estimated rental value.

TXBAFTERA 2 B ETTERFEER
EMECEZRARE:

EEFTEER

EER % BARE

/1A WABEARE
IES

& EE

R-B—AE=A=+—A L&Y
S T3 AR IR AR B 2 B 45 1R B2
GESS LR ONE § EN(S
TEE ARG EE Y EY
$EMIEARSRRBETRA -
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16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

17.

—E-AEEH BAFEBRARAF 135

16. At LB E R

2016 2015
—E-AF —T-RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B & FET FHT
Carrying amount at beginning of year R F ¥ 2 BREIE 1,320,339 600,568
Step acquisition from an associate to B S A B B AF 2
a subsidiary 7 W HE 36 - 728,729
Amortised during the year ARG £iS (31,363) (12,793)
Impairment loss recognised RERERZREEE
during the year 15 (34,000) =
Exchange realignment bE 5 & (63,581) 3,835
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—HZEHAEE 1,191,395 1,320,339
Current portion included in STATENFRIE - Ee Rk
prepayments, deposits and B fE W IE 2 BVER 38 5
other receivables 24 (29,905) (36,799)
Non-current portion JEBNHAER & 1,161,490 1,283,540

At 31 March 2016, the Group’s leasehold land with a net carrying
amount of HK$973,515,000 (2015: HK$357,693,000) was pledged
to secure certain bank loans of the Group (note 29).

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

R-ZEBE—XRNE=ZA=+—H XA&HE
8k % {E 5973,515,000/8 ¢ (= &
— A :357,693,000/8 )2 E
THEEALAEERERSE THRITER

ZEHH (MsE29) -

17. REEE N T 2R

2016 2015

—E-NE —E—RE

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

B 5 FET FH&IT

Share of net liabilities EIEBEFHE (13,773) (9,393)
Due from associates FEYHSE & A B IR @) 64,346 60,400
50,573 51,007

Provision for impairment SR (B P (o) (24,959) (24,959)
25,614 26,048
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually

material:

2016 2015
—E-REF —ET—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Aggregate carrying amount of individually %34 Bf 3Rk WA BI T E X
immaterial associates in the consolidated e NR G REE
financial statements 25,614 26,048
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share ~ RNEBE(hZEH 2 A5 2
of those associates’ BETE
Loss from continuing operations REFBEEXEB ZEBE (941) (8,886)
Post-tax profit or loss from RERIEEEHEB 2
discontinued operations Br %112 i £ S5 1B - -
Other comprehensive loss H b2 EE (3,438) 231
Total comprehensive loss ZHEEEER (4,379) (8,655)

Notes:

@

Amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and have no
fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors, these balances
are considered as quasi-equity investments in the associates.

Globe Outlet Town (Jilin) Limited (“Globe Ouitlet”) is principally engaged in
a property development project in Changchun, Jilin Province, the PRC.
At 31 March 2016, the Group had an amount due from Jilin Outlets of
HK$35,996,000 (2015: HK$32,138,000).

Globe Outlet had been making losses and recorded net liabilities at
31 March 2016 and 2015. In view of the impairment made in 2013
and no change noted during the year, the Group has not provided any
impairment loss for the year ended 31 March 2016 (2015: Nil). At 31
March 2016, an aggregate impairment loss on investment in Globe Outlet
of HK$2,725,000 (2015: HK$2,725,000) was recognised.

B aE -

e & N R 2 SRR REER 2B R
EBEEERY -EFAR ZFEHRER
RRBE DR Z EUBELE -

R HEET R R T A R A 7
(HEMBERT ) TERFRERE R
EMREMERREE -R_T—F
“A=t+—B AEEBEREKSHEE
HHTFIA35,996,0008 7T ( —E—hF:
32,138,000/ 7T) °

EMBEHRT—ERIZER YN -F
—NER_Z-—RE=A=1+—H&E
BIEFE - EAR - =FEHRER
FRABEITME L AEBREZE=
E—RNE=ZA=+—HItFEIEFLR
EEEHREE (ZE—RE ) »
—E—RF=ZA=1t—8 BEREER
MR R EES B 42 582,725,000
BT (ZF—HRF 2725000/ 7T) °
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—RNF=ZA=+—H

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes:

()

(continued)
(continued)

Jiangxi Outlets Brand Discount City Company Limited (“Jiangxi Outlets”)
is principally engaged in a property development project in Nanchang,
Jiangxi Province, the PRC (the “Jiangxi Outlets Brand Discount City
Project”). At 31 March 2016, the Group had an amount due from Jiangxi
Quitlets of HK$11,514,000 (2015: HK$10,853,000) and an aggregate
impairment loss on investment in Jiangxi Outlets Brand Discount City
Project of HK$4,817,000 (2015: HK$4,817,000) was recognised.

Huailai Dayi Wineries Company Limited (‘Huailai Dayi”) is principally
engaged in a property development project in Huailai, Hebei Province,
the PRC (the “Huailai Dayi Project”). At 31 March 2016, the Group
had an amount due from Huailai Dayi of HK$16,836,000 (2015:
HK$17,409,000).

At 31 March 2016, an aggregate impairment loss on investment in the
Huailai Dayi Project of HK$17,417,000 (2015: HK$17,417,000) was
recognised.

In the opinion of the directors, there was no material associate as at
31 March 2016.

The Group’s shareholdings in the associates all comprise equity

shares held by the Company.

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of

an associate, Champ Wisdom Limited, because the share of losses
of the associate exceeded the Group’s interest in the associate.

The amounts of the Group’s unrecognised share of losses of this

associate for the current year and cumulatively were HK$64,000
(2015: HK$568,000) and HK$6,461,000 (2015: HK$6,397,000),
respectively.

TE-REFR

wETEZERERAE 137

17. REBEE RN 2R (&)

BisE: (48)
() (&)

IR T2 T AR AR ([T
PRARKE ) T ERNPETIAER S
M EWEERER (LIEWF**Hﬁ
ZEFMWIEE]) - T—NEFE=
A=+—8 m%mguﬁu@;@%
Hr R IE11,514,0008 L (—F — A 4 :
10,853,000/ 70 ) * I B R IR E R IT
TR EH AT AR NMIEBEE 2 REE
E44%84,817,0008 T (= — A F:
4,817,000/ 7T) °

BRA—BEEEEER AR ([MERA
— D EZRPEAIL A ERE E Y E
RIER (MERKR—HB]) - R=F—R
E*H’Jr B AEEA ERIERK

3} 1816,836,000/8 L (=T — R 4F :
17,409,000/&75)
E/\ TE—-—RNF=ZA=+—H B

RILERERA—HE ZREEIE
ﬁ%%ﬁw,mzooo%m(:f fF:
17,417,000/ 7T) °

FERE R E—RE=ZA=+—
ETﬁﬁEKHﬁ*%@E o

AEERBERR ZBEHRARA]
A2 e B fn WAk e

AEEERIEEREMBZS QG TE
ERABZER RABEMGZEE
ANAZEBIEERBBAEEEZHE D
Az Em AFEARERH RERE
HZBERARZEERR DA A
64,000 L (=& — f F : 568,000
B Ir) &6,461,0008 T (=ZF — R
% :6,397,0008 L) °
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AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT

18. A ERE

2016 2015
—E—RE —E—HF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Unlisted equity investment, FE TR IERE -
at cost less impairment AR R E 2,724 =

Unlisted equity investments comprise equity interests in entities which
are engaged in development of trampoline park business in the PRC.
There is no open market for these investments and the directors
consider that the marketability of the Group’s shareholdings in these
investments is low. In light of the non-controlling shareholdings held
by the Group, the probabilities of the range of possible fair values of
these investments cannot be reliably assessed. These investments
are therefore stated at cost less impairment. The Group makes
assessment when there is objective evidence that the available-
for-sale investment is impaired in accordance with the guidelines in
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The
assessment requires the directors to make judgments. In making
these judgments, the Group has assessed various factors, such as
financial operation of the investees, prospect of their operations in
short to medium terms, as well as the prospect of the industries the
investees operate in, and changes in their operating environment.

The above investment consists of investment in equity securities
which were designated as available-for-sale financial asset and has
no fixed maturity date. The Group does not intend to dispose of it in
the near future.

FLEmEBERERRBRETBLEH
RERCEXEBZ2ER 2B AR -
RERBETEARMTE EFR/A
SERZEREZREZERE IR
K- ZBRAKREREZIFTRE %
FREZAERAFESREAJREEE
AR SRR Al ZRFREEKAH
BREIN R AEBEREFB G E
AIF39EeMT A -BEREAAE LR
5l RERXEEBRRATHHIERE
BEREBETHE - EFTHRAM
FETTHE - NIELZFHER A%
BoHBEEREZ ERREHRL
MGEE FRALENR KREHR
PRETEZASREERFEZEL-

R EBREERAHRLESRE
EZRABHFRELYEETERHA
H-AEEESRNEHRANBELE-
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19. GOODWILL 19. B8
2016 2015
—E—RE —E—HF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FEx T T
Cost: BNE
At beginning of the year REH] 125,786 -
Step acquisition from an associate to ¢ aff E/NETEN =N v 36
a subsidiary DU EE - 125,786
Effect of foreign currency INESTE =R B
exchange differences (5,701) -
At end of the year RER 120,085 125,786
Accumulated impairment losses: RETRERSE:
At beginning of the year REH] - -
Impairment loss BEEE - =
At end of the year RER - =
Net carrying amount IR FE 120,085 125,786

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to
the property development cash-generating unit of Qinhuangdao
Outlets project for impairment testing:

Property development cash-generating unit of
Qinhuangdao Outlets Project

The recoverable amount of the property development cash
generating unit of Qinhuangdao Outlets project has been
determined based on value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering project life of a
five-year period approved by board of directors. The discount rate
before tax applied to the cash flow projections is 7.5% (2015:
11.6%). Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using the estimated growth rate of 3%.

BREXBAFBACHEEIKER
ERRFRHNBACYEZRRRAGE
EEA - ETRERR

ZEBRBREERZ
MERRRESELEN
ZESRERMEBCWERRR S
EEBEMzAINEEEDREERIR
enERAFEZEREBEEE M
BEeRhETE ﬁ'JE*E%?&§$A%THZZ
BERAFHAEHUBEEEL - ER
REEREBANZRAFTIRERT.5%
(ZE—HF:11.6%) - BHAFH
CHEREFHIBZ Gt ERH#
& o

Property Property

development development

MERRE MR

2016 2015

ZE-XRE —hEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FHET

Carrying amount of goodwill R REE 120,085 125,786
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GOODWILL (continued)

Property development cash-generating unit (continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of property
development cash-generating unit of Qinhuangdao Outlets project
for 31 March 2016 and 2015. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency improvements, and expected
market development.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on discount rates and

budgeted gross margins are consistent with external information
sources.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

19. & (#)

MERRRESEEEN ()

RZE-—XREFEZZTE-—HAF=H
=+ —B RESREXHEBEE Y
¥RV CEALAENAAEFERER
REARK TXRAEEEREE
HEATRE R B M E IR &2 BORFT
KENSEETERK:

HHRFE-FERBZIFMBEXRBBHRBAL
RBBAEMZEREERR-

BEEMF-RBREEREENEE
B2EE DARBRERMBRFEZA—
FHME2FHAEMNX  AEHHK
K yR T+ e TR H O T 95 B R A 0 o

FRXRBREENETZETEZHRIHBE
19N R B HOR — B e

20. EEWE

2016 2015
—E-XRE —hEF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FTET FHET
Properties under development R 939,848 942,889
Properties under development expected ERYERAERESR
to be completed within normal BAHARTE
operating cycle:
Within one year —FR 691,854 620,057
After one year —F1& 247,994 322,832
939,848 942,889

At 31 March 2016, the Group’s properties under development
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$25,435,000 (2015:
HK$26,741,000) were pledged to secure for certain bank loans of
the Group (note 29).

R—ZE—RE=ZA=+—H A&H
#BETH H 525,435,000 L (=&
— 4 :26,741,0008 ) 2 EE Y
X¥EEAAEBERS TROTERZ
B EE29) °
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21. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALES 21. H/ELHEMNR T YE

2016 2015
—E-KEF —E—HF
HK$’000 HK$000
FExT T T
Completed properties held for sales FEH SRR T Y% 404,729 310,888
At 31 March 2016, the Group’s completed properties held for RZE—RF=ZA=+—H &K
sales with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$43,350,000 (2015: @R M £43,350,0008 T (=%
HK$45,577,000) were pledged to secure for certain bank loans of — A : 45,577,000/ 70 ) Z = 1EH
the Group (note 29). ENERIMECERAEEERE T
RITERZER (M7E29) °
22. INVENTORIES 22. 7E
2016 2015
—E-KEF —E—HF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT T T
Finished goods — fashion wears and BIRK on — R 55 2 B £

accessories - 4,550
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense BREAXVFFAEBEEZFESEY

and included in profit or loss is as follows: M :
2016 2015
—E-RE —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT T T
Carrying amount of inventories sold BEEFEZERAEE 6,670 3,760
Write down of inventories Mo & - 17,967
Reversal of write-down of inventories B EHRTE (2,530) =
4,140 21,727
The reversal of write down of inventories arose due to an increase in FEMRERTERE TEMMGFT
the estimated net realisable value of certain products as a result of BHFEEATMAZHREERTHRA
change in market condition and sales of certain products which had 1E 4F & MO = 7] B 1R)FE 2 7 m i 18

been written down to net realisable value in prior years. DA -
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Annual Report 2016

23. FEWBR FX

2016 2015

—E-XF —FT-hfF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FEx FHET

Rental receivable RS 1,005 =

Rental recognised using the straight-line FRESZEERZES

method 12,410 7,554

Total HEt 13,415 7,554

An aged analysis of the rental receivables as at the end of the RBERRZEBESREZTARAZ
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: RE DT

2016 2015

—E-AF —T-RF

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FExT T

Within one year —FR 1,005 =

The trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and repayable within

the normal operating cycle.

Trade receivables that are not impaired
The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually

fEi& -

3 5% L AEL 2 P W AR 3K
IE{E B e S B URLE 2 FE MR 3K AR e 5 AT

RUERSRERR —REEBHA

nor collectively considered to be impaired are as follows: R
2016 2015
—EB-—AF S S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET T
Neither past due nor impaired 3 4% 260 5 KR (B 179 =
Past due but not impaired ‘I HAE SRR E
Less than 1 month past due BHE DR —E A 14 =
1 to 3 months past due BmEH—Z==EA 4 -
More than 3 months but less than BEEE=EAE
12 months past due PR+ A 808 =
826 -

1,005
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 23. BRERR (&)
Trade receivables that are not impaired (continued) I SRE 2 FEWBR R ()
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a b 45 380 HA R R (B 2 B MUK T B % 47 5 B
wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history of WEEBNGZ SR BT B/ -
default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number BHIBARBE 2 EWHIERE L ZE TR
of independent customers that have a good track record with the FPBE ZEREFPRAEE 2 BENKG
Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no BRI -BEBALSH EEERE A
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances RMEEERWMEANEE - BESRDER
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the AR 2D - SR EAEL A
balances are still considered fully recoverable. B -
PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24. ANFE REREMEYRK
RECEIVABLES b1 |
2016 2015
—E—RE —T—hfF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B E FEx FHTT
Prepayments FEANEEE] 93,762 61,530
Deposits e 2,276 896
Other receivables e U IR 24,638 15,325
Prepaid land lease payments TEAT b T & K 16 29,905 36,799
150,581 114,550
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The T EEMERHENREBE LA EE
financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables BEAMBCHEERTHITEELD

for which there was no recent history of default. REREWRIERA-
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25. RERBEEER
2016 2015
—E—RE —E—HF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cash and bank balances He RIRTTAERR 42,016 45,180
The interest rates on the cash at bank ranged from 0.01% to HRATBEBSZ2FMNEENF0.01%E
0.385% (2015: 0.01% to 0.385%) per annum. 0.385% (Z_ZFE—HF:0.01% %
0.385% ) °
At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of RIFEBR AEBEUARKINEZ
the Group denominated in Renminbi amounted to RMB33,951,000 Re RiR1TH R/ ARE33,951,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$40,745,000) (2015: 7T (8 R #40,745,0008 ) (=
RMB35,295,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$44,561,000)). T—FHF: AR®35,295,000 7t (48
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, BN 444,561,000/ L) ) o AR #E
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations THEERLRAEMEY  BRER
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Wi 2 INE B IR GO R AEE - S
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB ENEEERTE AEEEEEBRE
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign BEENEEB 2 RTHEARE L
exchange business. REME-
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank RiBT 2R BREST BRTHERF X
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy LUZBAR B -RITEBDEHRRES
banks with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the ROF R 3 BRHE R s 8 2 #R17 - 3]
cash and bank balances approximate to their fair values. e RIBITEBR ZREERAL R TFEM
% o
TRADE PAYABLES 26. BN R

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

NBHRZEMAEE BAERAREE
IR ZREDITMT -

2016 2015

—E—-RE —ET—h%F

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FEx FH&T

Within one year —FR 242,418 315,365

One to two years —EWE 1,580 =

Over two years BN F 20,178 21,203

264,176 336,568

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and repayable within ENERAERERR —REERABHA
the normal operating cycle. B&-
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27. RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE, OTHER PAYABLES

28.

TE2-REFR METHEBRERLA 145

27. FEWFE - HbET R IBE R FE

AND ACCRUALS TE A
2016 2015
—E—REF —ZET—AHF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
=g FET T
Receipts in advance TEWRIE @) 185,539 164,302
Deposits received Bl e @) 143,892 136,522
Other payables L FE S FRIE (b) 758,648 694,275
Accruals JEZT & A 8,103 8,392
1,096,182 1,003,491

Notes: B 5

(@ As at 31 March 2016, the Group received deposits from the pre-sale of
properties of HK$324,828,000 (2015: HK$295,848,000).

(o) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled
within one year. Included in other payables, HK$447,281,000 (2015:
HK$468,517,000) represents a fund received from Finance Bureau of
Changli County, Qinhuangdao, Hebei Province related to an infrastructure

construction of Qinhuangdao project.

@ M-ZZE—ARE=A=+—H K~£EK
B 2R B T8 & ¥) % 2 3% ©324,828,0007%8
7T (= ZF —F 4 : 295,848,000/ 7T ) °

b) HiEMREARE BEAR—F
REE WA TItEREEERE
VBB EBRESHEERTIREY
& $447,281,0008 0 (Z T — R F:
468,517,000/ 7T ) B 5+ A H 1th JE {7 3

=)
AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 28. E{YBBE 7 FIE
2016 2015
—E-XRE —E—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FEx FHET
JeShing Real Estate Group Company CREERESEERR (@),(0),(e)

Limited (“JeShing”) pal([EREH]) 486,843 211,702
TLERERIM BB R A A LERERIM BB R A A (b) 14,761 =
MRE—EETRR MRE—EREIRR (b)

EEBRAA SHEERAA 21,243 =
LEREETREERN (B BRAR LEREEERER(LE) ©)

BRAA 2,521 -
Green Element Holdings Limited Green Element Holdings (d)
(“Green Element”) Limited
([ Green Element | ) - 7,711
Total =X 525,368 219,413
Current portion BNER B 75 (299,550) (13,935)
Non-current portion FEBNEREL 225,818 205,478
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28. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES (continued)

(@)

On 22 April 2014, JeShing entered into a loan agreement
with the Group, pursuant to which JeShing granted a loan
facility of RMB300,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$360,030,000). During the year, RMB201,879,000
(2015: RMB195,750,000) (equivalent to approximately
HK$242,209,000 (2015: HK$247,134,000)) was utilised by
the Group. Mr. Wang Hua, a substantial shareholder of the
Group, is also the substantial shareholder of JeShing.

The balance is unsecured, contracted interest at 5% per
annum and payable no later than 21 August 2017.

During the year, an entrusted loan agreement was entered
into among ST &2 #6421 G B A Al (as the entrusting party),
SRV E X EEE AR AR (as the entrusting party), IR E —
EHETIREE AR A Al(as the entrusting party), the Lending
Bank (as the entrusted party and the lender) and the Group
(as the borrower). Pursuant to the entrusted loan agreement,
a loan of RMB232,742,000 (equivalent to HK$279,318,000)
was provided to the Group for a period of 12 months. Mr.
Wang Hua, a substantial shareholder of the Group, is also the
substantial shareholder of the entrusting parties.

The balance is secured by the Group’s prepaid land lease
payments in Qinhuangdao, contracted interest at 6.6% per
annum and payable within 1 year.

Mr. Wang Hua, a substantial shareholder of the Group, is also
the key management personnel of 4Bl & &I X ( -F)
BRARA.

The balance is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

28. EREESHFE (&)

(a)

RZZE—WMFRA=Z+=H %
BREFEAEBETLER B
Bt eREXEELERBEA
E #300,000,0007T (& R4
360,030,000/87C) cFW -+ &
SEEHHARE201,879,000
T(ZZFE—RAF: AR
195,750,000t) (MEER L
242,209,000t (=& — A
247,134,000/ 70) ) o A&
EXrZRRTELETASEE
EMEERR-

BHEREERM SOFHNXRZ
5%t ERAR-_FT—EFN\A
—+t—HAEER-

FA IHEMMEFRRQ A
(EBZRF) REBXRE
EEAERAR (EAZTH) -
MRE—RETREBEAERA
A (fERZRTH) BERERTT (1E
EXETXARERA)ELAE
(EBERAFLZTER
E-REEZTER R —F
AR #232 742,000 (HHE R
279,318,000 70 ) 2 B 3 #5 1%
HYIAREB A28 - A&
ErErBERRITELAENASZT
FZEERR-

EHRASAREERRERB 2R
NP EMKER GHFEHN
R1£6.6%tERAR—FAE

AEBZIERRIEXRLTR
LEREEEEA(LB)AR
NEIZEEEE AR

ERREER REREEXRE
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28. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES (continued)

(d)  On 20 October 2014, Green Element, entered into a loan (d)
agreement with the Group, pursuant to which Green Element
provided a loan of US$1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$7,780,000). Mr. Wang Hua, a substantial shareholder
of the Group, is also the substantial shareholder of Green

29.

Element.

28. EREEHFIE (&)

HWHYHABRERLAA 147

The balance was unsecured, contracted interest at 5% per

annum and fully settled during the year.

(6) Included in the amount due to JeShing of HK$1,320,000 is (e)
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

RZE—WmFE+H=+A8-
Green Elementf2 R E BV &
AW #E U Green Element
2 #£1,000,000% Tt (HER L
7,780,000 L) B 3K o AN &£ B
FERE T EKLE T AGreen
Elementt) =X BRI -

BHEREERE SOFERN R
5% EMNERFATHER -

s A E & B FIE 21,320,000
ABTRELER 22 RRERE
5%0

a 4= 4
INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 29. ;T ERITRHEMER
BORROWINGS
2016 2015
- SN —Z-1%
Contractual Contractual
interest rate Maturity HK$'000 interest rate Maturity HK$'000
RFE HEA Thx RHHE L] Tir
Current 001
Bank loans - secured RTER-HER 5.2%-12.0% May 2016- 1,207,330 12.0% Jul 2015 - 441875
Dec 2016 Dec 2015
—E-5F —Z-1%
A% thAZE
—E-NE “T-1f
e +ZA
Bank loans - unsecured RITER-BER 6.6% June 2016 21,602 - - -
) ZE-RERA
Other loans - unsecured HER-EER 5.5%-6.4% On demand 3,360 5.0% - 6.1% On demand - 204,743
RER Aug 2015
—2-1§N\A
1,322,292 646,618
Non-current FHH
Bank loans - secured RITER-FER - - - 6.6% - 12.0% May 2016 - 1,175,388
Dec 2016
—E-7F
TAZE
ZERE
+24
- 1,822,006
Analysed into: BRI
Bank loans repayable: REBROEN:
Within one year —f 1,318,932 441,875
In the second year F-F - 1,175,388
1,318,932 1,617,263
Other loans repayable: ARBEMEN:
Within one year —FR 3,360 204,743
1,322,292 1,822,006
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Certain bank loans of the Group are secured by certain assets of

29.

HERGREMER &

AEFBETROTEFRAAEERE TR

the Group with net carrying amounts as listed below: HAFENT EEHRRT:
2016 2015
ZB-ARF —T—hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FEx FHET
Investment properties "EME 15 109,688 115,324
Prepaid land lease payments TEfT LA &K 16 973,515 357,693
Properties under development EEME 20 25,435 26,741
Completed properties held for sales FHEHER R T Y= 21 43,350 45,677
1,151,988 545,335

Notes: B 5

The Group’s banking facilities amounting to HK$360,036,000 (2015:
HK$378,750,000), of which HK$157,216,000 (2015: HK$165,387,000)
had been utilised as at 31 March 2016, are secured by the pledge
of certain of the Group’s investment properties, prepaid land lease
payments, properties under development and completed properties held
for sales.

As at 31 March 2016, a bank loan of HK$1,140,114,000 (2015:
HK$1,451,875,000) is secured by the Group’s entire equity interest in
Hunan Richly Field. It is guaranteed by Leung Ho Hing (“Mr. Leung”), a
former substantial shareholder and now an independent third party. In
connection thereto, the Company provided a counter-guarantee to Mr.
Leung.

On 21 December 2014, Mr. Leung and a related company, JeShing
entered the Supplemental Agreement 2 to provide a guarantee to the
bank loan. Mr. Wang Hua (“Mr. Wang”), a substantial shareholder of the
Group, is also the substantial shareholder of JeShing.

On 8 August 2014, He Dazhao (“Mr. He”) entered into a loan
agreement with the Group, pursuant to which Mr. He provided a loan of
HK$200,000,000. Mr. He was a former shareholder of the Group.

The balance was guaranteed by Mr. Wang, a substantial shareholder of
the Group, interest-bearing at 5% per annum. During the year, the Group
has settled HK$70,000,000 and the remaining balance was settled by way
of convertible notes (note 30).

7K £ B $8 17 3% B 360,036,0007% 7T (=
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(d)  As at 31 March 2016, the Group’s banking facilities amounting to
RMB18,000,000 (equivalent to HK$21,602,000) (31 March 2015: Nil) had
been utilised, it is guaranteed by Mr. Wang, a substantial shareholder of
the Group and FA R & 2% B[R R E M5 L EIR AR A 7, a company
which Mr. Wang is a substantial shareholder.

e All of the Group’s bank and other loans are denominated in RMB and
Hong Kong dollars.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE

On 30 October 2015, the Company, Mr. He (the “Subscriber”)
and Mr. Wang (a substantial shareholder of the Company) (the
“Guarantor”) entered into the agreement in relation to the issue of
the convertible note in the principal amount of HK$130,000,000.
The whole or part of the convertible note shall be redeemed by
the Company in stages with a final maturity date on 30 April 2016
(or such other date as the Company and the Subscriber agree in
writing).
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE (continued)

The whole or part of the Convertible Note shall be redeemed by the
Company at the time scheduled below:

Relevant redemption date

FEETDAH

30. ENARERER (&)
2HR D AR RRIG A D AR
TEFRIRAEE

Amount to be paid

BXNE8R

On or before 30 December 2015

R-E—RFE+-A=+H=KZA

On or before 31 January 2016

R-B-—RFE-A=1+—HzZH

On or before 29 February 2016

RZE—RFE-_A=-t+AHEZH

On or before the maturity date
(i.e. 30 April 2016)

REIEA (A= —"FMm A
=+ R)HZA

HK$30,000,000 (which consists of payment of all accrued interest up to the
relevant redemption date, and the balance for partial redemption of the principal
amount of the convertible note)

30,000,000 T (BIEEZARE R HE 2 FrA BT A BT ARE S EE
AR RIBE AR R 8R5H )

HK$35,000,000 (which consists of payment of all accrued interest up to the
relevant redemption date, and the balance for partial redemption of the principal
amount of the convertible note)

35,000,000 7T (BEEZFBEER B 2 AT A B A SRR LA RIS EE
MR RERNSRZHRE)

HK$35,000,000 (which consists of payment of all accrued interest up to the
relevant redemption date, and the balance for partial redemption of the principal
amount of the convertible note)

35,000,000 7T (BEEZFBEER B2 A A B A SRR LA KRE S EE
MR RERNSRZHE)

The remaining principal amount outstanding together with all accrued and unpaid
interest

REBNSRERBER A BT BRI FE

In the event that the Company defaults in redemption on the
relevant redemption date or events of default occurs, the
Subscriber will have the right to convert the whole or part of the
principal amount of the convertible note into conversion shares up
to a maximum of 1,300,000,000 shares (subject to adjustment) with
a final maturity date on 30 April 2016, and any remaining balance of
the convertible note will be redeemed by the Company.

All the conditions precedent under the agreement have been fulfilled
and the completion of the subscription of the convertible note took
place on 13 November 2015. Accordingly, the convertible note
in the principal amount of HK$130,000,000 was issued by the
Company to the Subscriber on 13 November 2015.

fill AR B R BB A6 R FE (2] B A 8 @0 = fsd
HIRE X F 1 RBEEA M A R A AR
SR AFIACRERRZE
1,300,000,000/% # i i 7 (AT T3 %) -
REIPEA-_FT-ARFHA=TH"
B Rz 2 ERSBBES A AR FE
[B] o

WEIE N 2 28R IGHEEERK LA
BREBEARBER=_Z—RAF+—A
T=AxK At - ARER=ZF—H
F+—A+=BRRBABRTASESR
130,000,000/ 7T 2 A] A AR =45 ©
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE (continued)

The Company has breached the terms of the convertible note
by failing to pay the first redemption amount in accordance
with the redemption schedule under the convertible note. As a
result, pursuant to the terms of the convertible note, Mr. He will
have the right to (i) notify the Company to declare that all the
outstanding principal amounts and interest under the convertible
note becomes immediately due and payable and/or (i) to convert
the whole or part of the principal amount of the convertible note
together with accrued and unpaid interest into up to a maximum
of 1,300,000,000 new shares, and any remaining balance of the
convertible note shall be redeemed by the Company.

The movement of the carrying amount of the convertible notes for
the year ended 31 March 2016 was set out below:
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30. ENTHRERERE (@)

ARREERERBEATLBREZREBETNZ
ERRERINEEBELEEmME XA
R RIE 2 (58 o ALt - IRIBE AR IR E IR
ZIEH MR ERBEGBARNATEE
MR EEE N AR AREEARSE
K F) B ST BN B HA % A Ko sk i) 75 BT
BREEZZ2HKNBLASTEERET &
R A F B 8 iR & 5% %1,300,000,000%
FRD - M Al AR = R 2 (R SRR e AN

NG eI

BE_T—RF=A=+—HILFEZ
ABREREREEZSEHIINT

Liability Derivative
component component Total
&EHD fTES @st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TR
As at 1 April 2015 RZZE—RFMA—H = = =
Issued during the year FREET 130,000 - 130,000
Effective interest charged during the year S RUER 2 B F & 2,710 = 2,710
As at 31 March 2016 R-ZE-—AF=HA=+—-H 132,710 - 132,710

The fair value of the liability component of the convertible notes
is calculated using cash flows discounted at a rate based on
the interest rate of 7%. Upon initial recognition, the fair value
of liability and derivative component of the convertible notes is
HK$130,000,000 and HKS$NIl respectively, and attributing to the
equity component the residual amount of HK$NIl.

AR EEREEHRS 2 AFEDFERR
BRERT%INIA2REREFTE - VIR FE
Rk ABMREBRBERITESS ZA
& 5 Bl A130,000,000/8 7T R BB TT
FMEGERE D BB RT BT
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31. PROVISION 31. &1
2016 2015
—E-RE —ZE—FHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAET
At 1 April R A—A 6,193 1,691
Additional provisions made BEH 2 BBINE 3,225 4,727
Provisions utilised BB A E#E (148) =
Exchange realignment EH AR (384) (225)
At 31 March R=A=+—8 8,886 6,193

1

From 2011 and 2012, the Group entered into a number of
lease agreements (the “Tenancy Agreements”) with its tenants
in relation to the lease of certain shop premises developed
under the Changsha Project. Pursuant to certain Tenancy
Agreements, the shop premises shall be ready for lease
during the period from August 2011 to May 2012.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the PRC government
launched a series of adjustment measures and policies
to control the property market. These regulatory control
measures and policies caused the slowdown in the pre-
sale of the properties under development of the Changsha
Project, which in turn added pressure on the Group’s capital
requirement and further resulted in the slowdown in the
construction progress of the Changsha Project. As the results
of the pre-sale of the properties under development of the
Changsha Project were below the expectation of the Group,
during the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group made
certain adjustments to the original design of the Changsha
Project, which included among others, adjustments to
the floor design of a certain residential portion, and the
allocation of the floor area among the residential portion,
the commercial portion and the facilities, to meet the local
demand. These adjustments, which required the approval
from the relevant local government authorities, also affected
the construction progress of the Changsha Project. As the
construction of the Changsha Project was behind the original
schedule, during the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group
was not able to deliver the shop premises to a number of
tenants according to the agreed timetable set out in the
Tenancy Agreements. Pursuant to the Tenancy Agreements,
the tenants could terminate the agreements and/or claim
against the Group for the delay in the delivery of the shop
premises on the basis of loss incurred or the number of days
delayed.

BEZE——FRkZTFE—ZF K
SEHEMEFPREPEBEEAETE
BERzETHUZMAETYL2E
HERZ([HEHRZ]) - BRE
ETHERH BABSULARS
T——FENAE-_T—Z_FHA
BRI E -

RNEE-_ZTE——F=A=1+—H
WEFE FEBRMFHELT —R3
B9 38 B 4 e K BUSR DA 6l 5 =
M5 o bt E B 18 i R BUR &K
ROPIEEEREMECTBENE -
BAEBE B RIERNE NI
—FSEHRDPEENIEEEN
E-AREVPEHBEEEYEZE
ERERNAEEEL REE
—E-——_HF=ZA=+—HIt#F
B AEBHEHELPBEEZRS
RETEHE THAE EhaiE-
FAEAETEEMI>HPL R EZETIA
NEES - -AmEHD K& M
EHEENEE WIEEiE
K- BHEARTEEMEEABT
WM E FEIRAPEENT
BEE-HRERPEBIRER
REFTREER REE=_Z—=
FZA=+—HLEFE X5E
ErAREEREERERMTELZ
BREXRAZZHERTHA R
BEHEmZ AL
AR IEHER S RIEEEZ
BRFEHZ AHAAERR
RE-



Notes to Financial Statements
B 53R = M5

31 March 2016
—T-REF=ZA=+—H

31. PROVISION (continued)

(1)

(continued)

The Group has been in discussions with the tenants regarding
the delay in the delivery of the shop premises. Some of
the tenants have terminated the Tenancy Agreements
with the Group with the initial deposits being refunded by
the Group. For those tenants who are wiling to continue
their leases, the Group has been in discussions with them
regarding the revised terms of agreements by offering them
certain discounts on the leasing fees or a rent-free period
as compensation for the delay. As at the date of these
financial statements, the Group has not received any claims
for compensation from its tenants against the Group, and
no estimation can be made on the amount of this potential
compensation. With respect to the terms of the Tenancy
Agreements, no provision (2015: Nil) was recognised for such
compensation as at 31 March 2016.

During 2013 and 2014, the Group has signed pre-sale
agreements regarding the sale of residential properties
with buyers. However, the residential properties were failed
to deliver according to the pre-sale agreements. As at
the date of these financial statements, the Group has not
received any claims for compensation for the delay. With
respect of the terms of the pre-sales agreement, provision of
RMB2,619,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,225,000)
(2015: RMBS3,746,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,727,000)) was recognised during the year ended 31
March 2016.

32. DEFERRED TAX

—E-NEFHR
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31. 8%\ @

(1)

(&)
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ETEN Mo APL D RILER
EEAERZE MAEBITE
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EHHEAEBRBEEME S
ZIEFETEN  RE—TCHAE
s e MEIERITH 2 85 (E -
RZEVERRBY REHT
EWANEHEFREEEERLAE
BiIRH AR BEIHZBERE
BEeRBEL G- EHE

BERMs YER-_ZT—XRE=
A=+ BB EERER
(ZE—FHF &) -

RZE—=FR_ZF—@OF-
REBEREETEMERE
FEBERZ -AM EEY
ERERBERERIN -REFE
HEREBEY AEETERT
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FEZERME RBEE_ZT—X
F=A=1+—RHILtEE BERE
#H AR #2619,0007T (MER
#3,225,0008 L) (ZE—H
F£: AR¥3,746,0007T (HZE
R44,727,000&7T) ) °

32. IEREH IR

The movements in deferred tax liability during the year are as FA-REEHREEE2ZEHUOT
follows:
Fair value adjustment
arising on acquisition
WEEEEZ AT ERAR
2016 2015
=E-RF —T—RF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
=g FET FHET
At 1 April REA—H 8,991 -
Step acquisition from an associate to HEENRENB AR Z
a subsidiary 5 R - 8,952
Exchange realignment ME W, S 36 (445) 39
At 31 March R=A=+—H 8,546 8,991
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33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. &
Shares &)
2016 2015
—E-RE “T-hF
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
A EE &% ignE ! Eia-
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER AT
Authorised: BE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each SREE0.05B T
LiEk
At 1 April and 31 March REA—B K
=R=+—H 20,000,000,000 1,000,000 20,000,000,000 1,000,000
2016 2015
—E-XE —T-hfF
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
RAEE kx| W& E %
HK$’000 HK$'000
TAEL AT
Issued and fully paid: BERTRBR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each BREBE0.058 T2
At 1 April RMA—H 8,914,964,303 445,748  8,914,964,303 445,748
Shares issued under open offer AREEBETZE
(note () BElRG (MitE@)  2,971,654,767 148,583 = =
At 31 March R=A=+—H 11,886,619,070 594,331  8,914,964,303 445,748
Note: B 5

(@ During the period, the Company allotted and issued 2,971,654,767 offer
shares under the open offer fully underwritten by the underwriter on the
basis of one offer share for every three existing shares held on the record
date (“Open Offer”). Details of the results of Open Offer were set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 21 July 2015 and 10 August 2015,
respectively.

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note
34 to the financial statements.

@@ RER ARRRBZN S A TR
BE-RBEBERNOEE —REBEERGD 2 E
EHEHEEZHEHEZAREE ([2Q
FEE]) - B &E172,971,654,767
BBEERD AHABRELERZHERED
AHERARABAPAE-—_T—FHELA
—+—BAR—_Z—RENATHZA

o

B IR
AArRIBERENE 2 FBHAMBR
F M 5E34 ©
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include any
directors, including independent non-executive directors, and other
employees of the Company, any subsidiary or any invested entity
which the Group holds any equity interest. The Scheme became
effective on 2 November 2009 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent,
upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
All options are settled by physical delivery of shares.

Share options granted to a director or chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general mesting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 20
business days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the directors, and
commences after a vesting period of one to three years and ends
on a date which is not later than the expiry date of the Scheme.

ZE-AEEHR BAFEBRARXE 155
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 34, BRESTSE (®)

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the
share options; (i) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of offer; and (i) the nominal value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme
during the year:

BREZOTEERESTEE EAA
EROARBBRONE L BRERS
EREBXMMABZIKTE: (VAR
ABRORNERREBRERZE BA
hER % BEBZXMAERFAET
B R)BEOHEEBEZRSE -

BB 2 15 7 A8 0 TR AR 8. 3 R
RAE LRS-

RAFEE %8l A HERITENER
=R

2016 2015
“B-RE “T-hf
Weighted Weighted

average Number average Number
exercise price of options exercise price of options
ik B! BRiE N9 R
THE £ 1@ A
per share ’000 per share '000
(=1 TR Bk T
At beginning of year RREA] 0.428 7,550 0.428 38,950
Forfeited during the year AEFEREL - - 0.428 (11,925)
Lapsed during the year REE KM 0.428 (7,550) 0.428 (19,475)
At the end of the year REXR - - 0.428 7,550
Exercisable at the end of the year RERAITHE - - 0.428 7,550
No share options were exercised during the years ended 31 March RBEE_ZT—R"EFER_ZT—RHF=
2016 and 2015. A=+—BLFE HEBRERET
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Number of options Exercise price*
BREHE TREE"

’000 HK$ per share

T BRAE T

ZE-AEFH BEAFEBRARXF 157

34. BRESTE (&)
RIBEEFR RITEEREZTERE
RATEBHMT :

Exercise period

TES

2015 —ZE—FEF

7,550 0.428 3 July 2011 to 21 December 2015
T ——FtAZHAE-FTE-RAF+ZA=+—H
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the * FEARE 2 1T (R B A AR AT AR B 1T 3k

case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s
share capital.

No share option was granted during the years ended 31 March
2016 and 2015.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share
option outstanding under the Scheme (2015: 7,550,000).

ARAIRAZ E M RPN E 1R -

—E-AER-FE-AEZ S
I Lk 4 [ 54 58 1 A

[ %

BHE
+7

FBRBEZFETE(ZZT—RF:
7,550,0001p ) °



158

35.

Richly Field China Development Limited Annual Report 2016

Notes to Financial Statements
B 53R X Md 5

31 March 2016
—ET-RF=ZA=+—H

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 68.

The share premium reserve represents the difference between the
nominal amount of share capital and amounts received on issue of
shares.

The contributed surplus represents the surplus arising on reduction
of paid-up capital during the year ended 31 March 2004.

The reorganisation reserve represents the carrying amount of net
liabilities of subsidiaries, net of expenses, being disposed of under
the schemes of arrangement under section 166 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
section 99 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended
time to time). Both schemes of arrangement were sanctioned by
the High Court of Hong Kong and the Supreme Court of Bermuda
on 27 May 2008 and 13 June 2008, respectively.

The statutory reserve funds represents 10% of the profit after tax
of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries appropriate to the reserve
as stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for certain
subsidiaries in the PRC, until such reserve reaches 50% of the
registered capital and thereafter any further appropriation is
optional.

Exchange translation reserve represents all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2.3(y).

Share option reserve represents the portion of fair value of
unexercised share options granted to eligible participants of
the Company that has been recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for share-based payments in note 2.3(t).

Other reserve represents (i) the difference between the
consideration paid to obtain additional non-controlling interests and
its carrying amount of the net assets on the date of the acquisition.
The excess of the fair value of the consideration over the carrying
amount of the net assets acquired has been debited directly to
equity and (i) the deemed contributions from shareholders that
arisen from the difference between the initial fair value and cash
receipts on the loans from related parties.
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35. RESERVES (continued)

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to
ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital
ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is debts
divided by equity attributable to owners of the Company. Debts
include interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and convertible
notes payable. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting
periods were as follows:
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35. f@fE (@

AEBEAERZTEZRARRMERE
HRERFRERREARLLRRZME U
XEEEBREERSBRREE

AEEZREEMRRZ E BN EIE
HEAGRBRYFLAR - AKEAH
BERRRZKSRBERBEITHRND
NHBAHEEAER -RBEE_T
—RERE-RAF=A=+—HL
FERN UTEBHEAEEZBERE K
REEFIELES-

AEBANAEEABLERERES
BIEBHRAARRBHEE AEHEEE -
EBERASRTREMEEARE
NARERE- RBEERARZEER
B EMT :

2016 2015
—E-AF —T-RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTET FHE 7T

Debts (£ 1,455,002 1,822,006
Equity attributable to owners of the Company N2 &l# A A JE(h#EZ 24,913 128,200
Gearing ratio BEAENLE 5,840.3% 1,421.2%
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BUSINESS COMBINATION

Pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement entered into between
the Company and the other shareholders of Rueyyuan Holding
Company Limited (the “First Vendor”) and Ever Dynamic Limited
(the “Second Vendor”) (collectively, “the Vendors”) on 22 April
2014, the remaining 60% issued share capital of King Future
Limited (“King Future”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands, a then associate of the Company, was acquired by the
Group from the Vendors (the “Acquisition”). King Future is engaged
in investment holding. The Acquisition was made as part of the
Group’s strategy to expand the property development business in
PRC.

The consideration of the Acquisition made by the Group
was a cash consideration of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$25,142,000).

Upon the completion of the above transaction, King Future, the
former 40% associate of the Company became the wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

The Acquisition was completed on 1 September 2014 (the
“Completion Date”). In accordance with HKFRSs, the Group
continued to share the results of King Future and its subsidiaries
under the equity method of accounting during the period from 1
April 2014 to the Completion Date.

36. EHK SO

BREAQF GG TERBERAR ([F
— BN DERBBRERARA(IE &

Fl) (BB IZEER]) WEMRE
R-E—NFEFNA -+ -_HIYWE
EmamoHsE8RAR([Hx] —
MREBREZESFEMKILAF
KABERFEERNA)BRTE0%E
BORABAEERZEE S RE
(M) HEREREZER A&
BEEHIBEARTRNOMEERER
ROSRBS - MU B Tt SRS A — 3R -

AEBXNHOKEREAEAR 2R
B ARK20,000,000T (HE R
25,142,000/ 7T ) °

RERRHEMAR HF (AQAEIR
HA0% R 2B E AR KRR R A
2EMBAA-

WER—ZF-—NEALA—H (/KA
H) ek - IRBEF M B HmEER
AEBEEREDRSTEABREHRR
EMBAAE —ZT-—NFONA—BE
ExXKAMIEMEZEE-
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36. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

King Future Limited — Step acquisition from an

associate to a subsidiary (continued)

Upon completion of the Acquisition, the Company has recognised a

goodwill of HK$125,786,000.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the

Completion Date were as follows:

TE2-XEFR MEATEBRERLA 161

36. ¥ &6t (2)

HEERLAT - REBEELATDEMN
BAR DL WE (&)
RUWBEBZTKEB AAAEERRA
125,786,000/ JT °

I

BEXKBEHRZABNEERAER
FEWT:

Notes HK$’000

B 5 T T
Prepaid land lease payments TEfS L HE R 16 728,729
Properties under development e 126,099
Property, plant and equipment M WE K& 14 150
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TETRIE 12 S R H b fE IR 5,862
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFHED 90
Other payables and accruals HEa A RIE M ERTE A (468,700)
Amounts due to group companies AN NCIE (364,363)
Tax payable FEAS R IR (119,559)
Deferred tax liability EEHIEAE 32 (8,952)
Total identifiable net liabilities at fair value BRATEFEZAHENFEER (100,644)
Goodwill BES 19 125,786
Total consideration BRAE 25142
Satisfied by: BATHNEEZ
Cash & 25,142
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36. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

King Future Limited — Step acquisition from an
associate to a subsidiary (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the Acquisition is as

EBES6t )

HEBRAF —REE QT EMH
BBz L WE (&)
KEERNRSRESMMT

follows:
HK$’'000
FH& T
Cash consideration paid EXHRENRE (25,142)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FriiEmIRe RIS EEM 90
(25,052)

Since the Acquisition, King Future and its subsidiaries have
not contributed any to the Group’s turnover and a loss of
HK$11,787,000 was included in the consolidated statement of
profit and loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended
31 March 2015.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the period,
the revenue of the Group and the loss of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2015 would have been HK$54,096,000 and
HK$208,445,000, respectively.

There is no transaction cost for this acquisition borne by the Group.

BUWELR e RENB AR MK
HAEBEEBELETANER M
11,787,000 T2 BEE I ABZE
—E-RAE=A=+—BIFEZLK
AEEREMEEKRERE -

WEFRBATET BIRASBREE
—E-RAF=A=+t—HLEFEZK
= K BB D Bl A54,096,000 T &
208,445,000/ 7T °

LA R BN N S ETES

E o

=



Notes to Financial Statements
B 53R = M5

31 March 2016
—R"EZA=1+—H

— &
—=

37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has entered into two State-owned Construction Land
Use Rights Sale Contracts (the “Land Use Rights Sale Contracts”)
with the Wangcheng Land Bureau in relation to the acquisitions of
the land with site areas of 406,887 square metres and 651,666
square meters (the “Land”) on 28 October 2009 and 19 January
2010, respectively.

Pursuant to the Land Use Rights Sale Contracts, the construction
works for the Land (the “Changsha Outlets Projects”) shall be
completed on or before 20 August 2012 and 31 December 2012,
respectively and subject to a daily penalty of 0.1%, payable to
the Wangcheng Land Bureau, calculated based on the purchase
consideration of the Land in respect of delay in completion of the
construction (the “Penalty”).

On 15 March 2014, the Company agreed with the Hunan
Wangcheng Economic Development Zone Management Committee
(AR EMEEREREZE) and the Changsha Municipal Land
and Resources Economic Development Zone of Wangcheng
Bureau Land and Resources Centre (Y™ Z2H & + &R
B#EFIE B+ EJRP O FT) (collectively referred to the “relevant
PRC authorities”), which are responsible for the supervision of
the Changsha Outlets Projects and supervision of the Land,
respectively, that if the occupancy rate of Phase | of Changsha
Outlets Projects reached 75% by the end of June 2014 and
the construction of Phase Il of Changsha Outlets Projects has
commenced by the end of December 2014, the relevant PRC
authorities shall not request the Company to pay the Penalty.

As of 31 March 2015, as the aforesaid conditions were met, there
will be no penalty payable to local government.
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RIB([EPREREEB])AD
IR—F——FENA-tTEBR=-F
——HF T A=t —HHZATK "
MAMREE K EETERAEME LT
BXf01% 28 BEAR (HREZ LT
WO BERETE) ([85K]) -

RZE—NE=A+HB AAQaHE
HMEERKEREREZEREDT
ZHEEITERREARBELERT
DR (A TR B ERATEFT] -
SRHBEEERDPRSHGTIAR Rz
TH)HBE MR _ZE—HFESNAK

EPBRSHGELE — B HBXRE
TSR EEE_FT—NF+_AREKED
BEREIEE —BHrERTIEHT
BIAERE R BT I T g ERAR
A AT E K e

W-F-HEF=A=+—A Ltk
R BRI E BT 28



164 Richly Field China Development Limited  Annual Report 2016

Notes to Financial Statements
B 53R X M5

31 March 2016
—E-RE=ZA=1—H

38. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(@ As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties under operating
lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging
from six months to twenty years.

At 31 March 2016, certain of the Group’s existing operating
lease arrangements are with terms of contingent lease
payments and are calculated based on a percentage of
relevant performance of the tenants, ranging from 5% to
10%, pursuant to the rental agreements.

At 31 March 2016, the Group had total future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its
tenants falling due as follows:

ne =

(@)

8. KEMHERH

EREHEA

AEERBLEHERHELER
BREYHE KEHELHZEENK
Zfﬂﬁﬂﬂ?/\{.ﬂi_+¢°

)\E/Q\:z /\E A= + H - $
ETHBELEHE LT
?%i%ﬁ“ﬂ,%f RIE - WARR A B #
BREMEPZMHEBEEAS L (N
T5%E10% )5t H& -

RZFE—R"E=ZA=+—H &
SETAHHEEEHERTRK
REEERUREREF M
B8

2016 2015

—NE —T—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

AR T

Within one year —FR 10,720 10,148
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EZERF

(BERMEBRBERN) 37,793 39,504

After five years hFE 56,812 =

105,325 49,652
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38. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

(b) As lessee

As at 31 March 2016, the Group leases certain of its
office properties and staff quarters under operating lease
arrangements. The leases for the office properties and staff
quarters are negotiated for terms of one to three years.

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling
due as follows:
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8. BEMERH (1)

(b)

EREME A
RZE—ARF=ZA=+—H 'K
EERERKEHERHHEBHES
THAEMEREIBER WA
EMEREIEEHELHZZE
Mz AE—Z=E=F-

RZE—ARF=ZA=+—H 'K
SERENTIHEE R T
B EHERARAS T &

KELE:mOT :
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE&T FET
Within one year —FR 1,773 =
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_HFEERF (BREREERT) 2,759 =
4,532 -

39. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following commitments in respect of property

39. AiE

RBERR AEBEUATEBAYME

development expenditures at the end of the reporting period: BREMAS 2 AE:
2016 2015
—E-NE —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHExT FHET
Contracted, but not provided for EEFEES T 482,925 498,250

482,925 498,250
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. BELXRZ

SRAMBEREEMHEOIREZIRS
S REBRFERNEATEKRBE

In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in the
financial statements, the Group had the following materiel

transactions with related parties during the year. FR5:
2016 2015
—E-KRF —TRF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FExT T T
Interest income from a loan to RERESRBFH
Qinhuangdao Outlets BERz B WA 6 (a) - 4,337
Related parties: RAETT -
Interest expense to JeShing NTeBREFLZ
MEF X @) 34,519 5,932
Interest expense to L ER 2L B A R
LR R R B BR A F) BRARZHERAX (o) 350 -
Interest expense to F R 28 — 2 NTERE —BE
ETREEBRAF TEREEERAAZ
MER () 503 -
Interest expense to Green Element {5 ¥ Green Element 2
FERX © 142 361
Interest expense to He Dazhao T RRR 2 ) &
i3 (d), () - 231

These transactions were conducted on terms and conditions
mutually agreed between the parties.

Notes:

@ Included in the balances of imputed interest are HK$17,392,000
(2015: HK$2,388,000).

(o) Interest was accrued at 6.6% per annum on the outstanding
balance.

(© Included in the balances of imputed interest are nil (2015:
HK$192,000).

(d) Included in the balances of imputed interest are nil (2015:
HK$121,000).

e He Dazhao had ceased to be a shareholder since 26 August
2014,

ZERGHETHER B Z HR
RARIEAHETT

sFAGE R B &8 517,392,000
—Z— R4 2,388,000 7T) °

NI & 4 R 126.6% < F M B 5T
Fie

FABEREAHAT (ZE—H
££:192,000/87T) ©

FAGENEEBRAT (T
— R 121,000 7T) ©

BE_ZT—NFNA=Z+/ B
MABENBARE-
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

Balances with related parties

(i) Details of the Group’s balances with its associates as at
the end of the reporting period are included in note 17
to the financial statements.

(i)  Details of the Group’s balances with related parties as
at the end of the reporting period are included in note
28 to the financial statements.

Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group
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40. BEFRH (&)

(b)

(©)

BAE R 2 &8k

() 5B R8BS B 2
DR 2 B 1S B B TS
BEM T -

iy NEERKEHRZ2EBE
T K2 FE B R B R
=M FE28R o

FEEFEEEAEZHE

2016 2015

—E-AF i

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FHxT T T

Short term employee benefits WMEEE R A 4,073 3,632
Post employment benefits BEE 1218 A 45 48
4,118 3,680

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note
9 to the financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, 24E1% & B3R & (L&)
ER DA (“44E”) committed to make the future minimum
lease payments in respect of premises under non-cancellable
operating leases receivables within 1 year of HK$1,542,000
and after 1 year but within 5 years of HK$2,827,000 (2015:
Nil). Mr. Wang Hua, a substantial shareholder of the Group is
also the key management personnel of (& .

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

EEHFME S HBENU B R
F M9 o

RBEMR LEREEEREN
(EB)BRAR ([4E]) A7
R—FAR—FREZFAZAT
AL HERKFIRETY
EoRIER R RKEMEE K
1,542,000/ 7T 52,827,000/
T(ZF—01%F &) AKHZE
ERRIERLETREB TR
EEAS-

M. BERED2EBMT A

2016 2015
—E-REF —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHxT FHET
Financial assets EREE
Loans and receivables B M GRIE
(including cash and cash equivalents)  (BIER& MRS ESER) 80,069 68,059
Available-for-sale investment AEHERE 2,724 =
Financial liabilities THRAE
Amortised cost BEEHACA 2,565,237 2,597,031
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group has exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk arising from financial instruments. The policies on how to %
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective

(@)

Interest rate risk

manner.

FE

Vi3
BERREEZERAR  UEERKE

42. ciEREEREMIAEZA

AEEEHGERITIAELEZEER

CREBEEE R KA R E R -0
LZERBRZBRHINMAT - B HE

B R EUE E 156 o

(a)

The Group’s exposure to changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s cash and bank balances and
bank loans with floating interest rates. The Group has not
used any interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risk,
and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should

the need arise.

() Interest rate profile

R

2 Bz

ARBEFAYZTSHEEDE
BEBRAEERSRBTLEHS

RIRZ R ERT

ERBER-A

£ B 3 B ME PR AR ) 2R 4 B IA
HEAXER YERERER
EEHAERZHERER -

The following table details the interest rate profile of th () RH5R
G s O’;)Vt;l(la go a'nes aett?lhz enedI ofetﬁ:, ea srtpno Ieeo'od'e Paardlasasbd el
oS BOrTowing reporing pero EHRZFEMR
2016 2015
ZE-RF —T-hE
Range of Range of
effective effective
interest rates interest rates
ERN=EE ERFIZEE
% ’000 % '000
Fr Tr
Fixed rate borrowings: EEFIRER:
Interest-bearing bank and FTERITREMER
other borrowings 6.63%-12% 1,161,716 5%-12% 1,653,083
Due to related parties e REE 7 708 5%-6.6% 524,048 5% 219,413
Convertible notes payble R AR EE 7% 132,710 = =
1,818,474 1,872,496
Variable rate borrowings: FHARER:
Interest-bearing bank and STERITREMER
other borrowings 5.23%-6.4% 160,576 6.1%-7.04% 168,923
Total borrowings fE A 1,979,050 2,041,419
Fixed rate borrowings as EEF R EREER
a percentage of total BEZANN
borrowings 91.89% 91.73%
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(@)

(b)

Interest rate risk (continued)

(i)  Sensitivity analysis
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to
a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
loss before tax (through the impact on floating rate
borrowings). There is no material impact on other
components of the Group’s equity.
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42. cRiEREEREMIAEZA
NAERE D)

()

FZE B (5)

iy BRBREDW
TRBERMNESIEA G F
B (MAEHEMEHERT
SPOHANEERBIAIEE
BRE (FERZEHFEMER
ZRE) HAKEEER Z
HEMAAKE W |E KT

.
Increase/(decrease)
in loss before tax
MRBI AT B
#hn, Ord)
HK$’000
T
2016 —E-XRE
Increase of 100 basis points N1 001E 25 1,606
Decrease of 100 basis points A A1 00 1E 2 24 (1,606)
2015 —ET—hF
Increase of 100 basis points 3 HN1001E & 24 1,689
Decrease of 100 basis points R A1 001E 2 B4 (1,689)
Foreign currency risk (b) HME5 = B

The Group’s property development and investment business
mainly operates in Mainland China and all transactions and all
major cost items are denominated in RMB and the Group has
no transactional currency exposure. The RMB is not a freely
convertible currency. The PRC Government imposes controls
on the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies and in
certain cases the remittance of currency out of Mainland
China.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors the foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

AEBEZMEERIBRERD
T2RFEAMEE  MAAR
SEMBEZERARBBUA
REFE AAKBAERHE
KR A\RETDTEER LK
ZEW - REBFENARERL
BBINEZ A AT RETE
SN IR A B B A
b o

7R 4R B3R B 30 A NS R O
AM EEEBERINBENR
B UBEEFTERERUESE
RIS OE 35 B e 77 S o
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(i)

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial
loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy
of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as
a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from
defaults.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
and other receivables. In order to minimise the credit
risk, the management has a credit policy in place and
the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on
an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations of its debtors’
financial position and condition are performed on each
and every major debtor periodically. These evaluations
focus on the debtor’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the debtor as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
debtor operates. No credit terms are granted to the
debtors of the Group’s property development business.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from its
debtors.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are set
out in note 23.

42. ciEREEREMIAEZA
SRENE D)

(i)

(i)

EERRERRSZHF T
BTEAHNEEMERAN
SEAZHMBEREREZR
R AKECDRM —EK
R AETEEEFERFZR
FHFETRS  ERED
REQMMAEM B EER
Bz -

rAEEEERREERE
KB 5 & E g W KRIEA -
REEERBERERE &
BEECREEERER  UH
BERZSEERR K&
BEBHZTEBBALZ
MBRARBERETEER
Al e ZEF T RHEE
A BT 2 B8 R AL 8%
NERMXMNEESN XEEE
BAZHEEEMREBA
LEMERBERRZAH
B o A5 B 3 L) 2 5
BXBREBARLEER
Hle—KME AKETH
P WA o

HRARSHFRHEBERE
EFERERTSEEN
MZBIT BRBEERZIE
ERBEER -

ERAEBEREREREEZE
ERER 2 E— S 205 ERHNH
23 e
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover expected cash demands, subject to the parent
company’s board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants to ensure that it maintains
sufficient amount of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

Management of the Group aims to maintain sufficient
cash and bank balances and available funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet the
Group’s construction commitments and other business
operations.
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42. cRiEREEREMIAEZA
NAERE D)

(d)

RBE & E s

AEBARENEEERAEHER
TEREFEE BRASAEHBZE
HREMEEERENEYRS

FREAFERATNEZTSHE
FAEE - AKBZERRREBR

EERKMEAHRPESTRE
BTERIS BRETENE
EERTECRBBERFTHAN
AEBER NENEEH MK

AEBEEBEEATEN IR
ERBTESK ABEBREAE
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42. SR EMESERSBMITAE A

Y& (@)

d REBESRERR (&)
TERIFAEEZ S REBEAR
EHRZHBRTALEE XX
AHKRBEBELRE (BERS
KR ST S Bl E
HAR BRI R 8 2 F B R)
RAEMATL RS A

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

The following tables set out the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay.

On demand
or less than
1 year 1 to 2 years 3to 5 years Total
—F2ZR —EWF =EAf @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL THT THL
2016 ZE-AF
Trade payables RE 264,176 - - 264,176
Financial liabilities included ATATRMIR - B ot 311,805 - - 311,805
in receipts in advance, FE {9 5008 K JE &t
other payables and BRvSRAEE
accruals
Due to related parties JE B 5 3R 301,488 13,436 279,656 594,580
Convertible notes payable BRI E 5 132,710 - - 132,710
Interest-bearing bank and RSB ITREMER 1,407,814 - - 1,407,814
other borrowings
2,417,993 13,436 279,656 2,711,085
2015 —T-hfF
Trade payables FE1TER 3R 336,568 - - 336,568
Financial liabilities included ATATRIREIR - Bt 212,851 - - 212,851
in receipts in advance, JERFUR R IERT
other payables and BRAZERAE
accruals
Due to related parties eI BB E TR 20,372 12,357 256,225 288,954
Interest-bearing bank and FERTREMER 808,871 1,257,083 = 2,065,954
other borrowings
1,378,662 1,269,440 256,225 2,904,327




Notes to Financial Statements
B 53R = M5

31 March 2016

—=

—=

RE=ZA=+—H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined
in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

o levell Fair value measured using only
valuations: Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date
e |evel?2 Fair value measured using Level 2
valuations:  inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for
which market data are not available
e |level3 Fair value measured using
valuations:  significant unobservable inputs

TE-REFR
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(f)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments, other than

42. ciEREEREMIAEZA

FAE (&)
H 2FERE

TREINAKEESRTAZRYF
EfEREB (ZFHREERAQYF

those with carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to BEEEBEHEERINM) :
fair value:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£-% E=® E=® @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT THT THT
At 31 March 2016 RZB-—RF
ZA=+-H
Liabilities af
Due to related parties [ E S A - 505,021 505,021
Interest-bearing bank and FTERITREMER
other borrowings - 1,267,000 1,267,000
At 31 March 2015 R-B-1F
ZA=t-8H
Liabilities af
Due to related parties FER R 5RIR - 219,121 219,121
Interest-bearing bank and STERITREMER
other borrowings - 1,756,902 1,756,902

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and due to related parties have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, loan to
associate, financial liabilities included in trade payables and
receipts in advance, other payables and accruals approximate
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

AHERITREMER R BN E
TREZAFEREARAEER
Ez - EEH EERR & F
HREHN T ANBRTHNRIFTEE
HARRERETE -

EEECDHRBREeAASEE
o MR R At AR ROE
RehHEMORKRFENERE
E-MBERRZER AR
B R e TR R IR - E At FE A R
AREFERNERABZAYF
EREKEEMEE TEHARZK
FETADREHAZH-
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 42. cREREEREMIAZA
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) YE (@)

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the chief
financial officer and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the finance department analyses the movements in
the values of financial instruments and determines the major
inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee twice a
year for interim and annual financial reporting.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

AREBE RSP R B 2
RE REETERMTIANAYF
BFfFENHRREF - WHLE
ERAMBRERBEZZREER
F-RBEHEAH MBS
TemTEAEENEHAIETH
BEFRBZEEGARE -HE
TR BREERN ML - AE
BRMGERTIBEZZEGIT
HRFEFERBRS — F5H M

S
IN°

ERAE=ZAXFEFEZEH

Valuation Significant
techniques unobservable inputs Rate
EERE BERAIEEABE R E)=E
Convertible notes payables — convertible Option pricing model Expected volatility 40%
option embedded in convertible notes (2015: Nil)
JEA AT #R AR R 4% — AT 4R HEEBERERN & AR iR 40%
IR SRR Y 7 2 MR A (Z%—1
FE)

The fair value of convertible notes payables is determined
using the option pricing model and expected volatility. It is
prepared by independent valuers, and are reviewed and
approved by the management of Group. Discussion of the
valuation process and results are made to coincide with the
reporting dates.

BB RE 2 A FETERE
EEEARBHKEEE YHBY
fMEMRREIAEEEEERZ LI
e BRMGERRF AR ZE W ER
SERZABEERN-
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

43. ZRBAHBRRREEEB R

Information about the statement of financial position of the AR RFEBER 2T BARAKER
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: wms
2016 2015
—E-XREF —E—hF
Note HKS’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI B Mk 258 23
Investments in subsidiaries NGNS s 179,260 247,445
Investments in associates REEERNR 218 E 28,640 28,546
Available-for-sale investment Al ERE 2,724 =
Total non-current assets ERBEERT 210,882 276,014
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other TEAFROA - T;z‘i\&
receivables Hh e Wk IR 2,271 789
Cash and cash equivalents RekRE —rﬁ A0 160 106
Total current assets MENE E M 2,431 895
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables and accruals H b IE R ERT & A 19,019 18,521
Due to subsidiaries FEAT B B A Bl 3RI8 8,304 15,864
Due to a related party A F&ﬁ@ﬁ%’&lﬁ 1,320 7,711
Receipts in advance FEURFRIB 28,000 =
Interest-bearing other borrowings H e H SR - 201,208
Convertible notes payable FEAT AT R Hxﬂdﬂf 132,710 =
Total current liabilities mE A ERE 189,353 243,304
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAEFE (186,922) (242,409)
Net assets EEFE 23,960 33,605
EQUITY e
Issued capital B EITRA 33 594,331 445,748
Deficit 718 (570,371) (412,143)
Total equity HEm AR 23,960 33,605
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on BEE2ERE—~"FAZTMA
24 June 2016. B REERE-
Xin Songtao Li Yi Feng
(=R =
Director Director
EF EF



Notes to Financial Statements

Hrh 55 #R R B 5

31 March 2016

—E-RF=ZA=1T—H

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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43. ARAMBARAR K FEEEB R

AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE (48)
COMPANY (continued)
ANEIRE N
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARAFELIBRENT :
Capital Share
Share  Contributed redemption option Reorganisation Other  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
RA%EE HABE HAEERE BRERE EARE ARt 2itER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL T TALT i TAT AL FiEm AL
At 1 April 2014 RZE-MEMA-R 414,063 69,476 109 8,921 287,004 - (940,855) (161,292)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for TEEFERZAFELE
the year - - - - - - (262,839 (262,839)
Transfer of share option RERERZNAER
reserve upon the forfeiture LERBRERE
or expiry of share options - - - (7,534) - - 7,534 -
Deemed contributions from RARRTE
shareholders - - - - - 11,988 - 11,988
At 31 March 2015 and 1 Apri 2015 WZE-RF=A=1-AkK
“Z-h%NA-R 414,053 69,476 109 1,387 287,004 11,988 (1,196,160) (412,143)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for TFEEERZEFBLE
the year - - - - - - (246,113) (246,113)
Transfer of share option reserve REREERR
upon the expiry of share options BRERERE - - - (1,387) - - 1,387 -
Issue of shares upon open offer RARBEREIRA 98,064 - - - - - - 98,064
Transaction costs attribute to issue of FAREERTRA
shares on open offer R ARE (5,047) - - - - - - (5,047)
Deemed contributions to shareholders BERRTE - - - - - (5,132 - (5,132
At 31 March 2016 RZE-A"E=A=1+-H 507,070 69,476 109 - 287,004 6,856 (1,440,886) (670,371)
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44. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 4. RBE-ZE-—XRF=ZA=+—

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED HIEFEEEEMEMEKRERZ
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR 5] - FHRT BRI R BEAEE
ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 EEE
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA BEEZEVBRERTNERSR &5e5
has issued a few amendments and new standards which are not MASERMREBEE_T—X~E=A
yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2016 and which have =S+ HBEFERRERBENERZSE
not been adopted in these financial statements. These include the IS mERP RN 2 B TSR] R 2R -
following which may be relevant to the Group. BB iEA N ge AR E ARG 2 (85T
KETET2ER -
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments’ ERUBRSE FHITA
KR FE5H
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with ERUBRSE EFEA Kz
Customers' EAIE15%
HKFRS 16 Leases* ERUBRSE HE"
ERF165%
Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of ERUBREER UBERAEEXRBZERZ
Interests in Joint Operations? F115R 2B B
Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 ERMBMEEN REEBMBREENE
“Revenue from Contracts with F165 2 EFT 15% [BRA M ]
Customers”’
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative? ARG ER #E 3
F1H 2 BT
Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable Methods ENORE ] BEUEN TERE
and HKAS 38 of Depreciation and Amortisation? F16H KRB B Vil
@ 4RI 5385
ZIEFT
Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants? ENORE ] BR EEHEY
and HKAS 41 F16R R BB
2 ERIE415
ZIEFT
Amendments to HKFRS 10,  /nvestment Entities: Applying the EENBREED KREFE EAGEAK
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 Consolidation Exception? F105 - BBRB  ZHIENR?
WEERE125%
REB G EA
F285 2 B3]
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets EANBREED KEZHABZL AR
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its F105REBE ERAZEZEELE
Associate or Joint Venture® SHERE28Y A4 E
ZIEFT
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs BERUBREER BEYFHLEN=F
2012-2014 Cycle? 2B ——FE-F-FH

B2 FRXE
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POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 24 June 2016.

44,

45.
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2 E ()

I ORZE—N\E—A—BRZER
th 7 4 B 4 K
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#h 7 4 HAR 4
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hFIFRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from

the published audited financial statements is set out below.

MTRABEENRZRERYBRR A
SEBRERIEMBEEZXENREE A
REJFIER RS E -

RESULTS E
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1—HLEFE
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
ZE-XE —ZT-1F —E-QNFE —T-=F —T-——F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT THT THT FHT
Turnover EER 95,867 54,096 157,667 27,943 50,843
Loss attributable to: MTALEGER:
- Owners of the Company —RRAEEA (340,209)  (207,565)  (199,648) (96,901) (91,907)
- Non-controlling interests — IR - - - (5,157) (20,934)
(340,209)  (207,565)  (199,648)  (102,058)  (112,841)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 March
R=A=+—-H
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
ZE-XE —ZT-1F —E-QNF —T-—=F —T——F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT THT THT FHT
Total assets BEE 3,516,399 3,654,464 2428107 1883347 1,596,688
Total liabilities BEfE 3,491,486  (3,526,264) (2,147,496)  (1,413,420) (746,393)
24,913 128,200 280,611 469,927 850,295
Equity attributable to: M ATEGEE:
— Owners of the Company —AKRREAA 24,913 128,200 280,611 469,927 562,069
— Non-controlling interests — R ER - - - - 288,226

24,913

128,200 280,611 469,927 850,295
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